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Following a thorough and competitive recruitment process 
resulting in an excellent shortlist, we were delighted to offer 
the Chief Executive position to Julie Smith. Julie recently joined 
us at the Trust and has been spending time with colleagues, 
partners and patients. The Board and I are looking forward to 
working with and supporting Julie in her new role. 

Between Suzanne leaving and Julie joining the Trust, our 
Medical Director Dr David Fluck stepped in as Acting Chief 
Executive and I would like to extend my thanks and appreciation 
to David for leading the organisation so capably during this time, and 
to Shashi Irukulla who stepped in for David as Interim Medical Director 
and did a outstanding job leading the medical teams.

Thank you also to the two Board members Keith Malcouronne and 
Neil Hayward, whose second terms as Non-Executive Directors came 
to an end in June and I wish to extend a warm welcome to Non-
Executive Director, Chris Kane, who joined the Trust in August 2021 
and John Machin who joined as Non-Executive Designate in January 
2022.

I am delighted to welcome several new Governors, who bring a wealth 
of experience and knowledge, to the Trust:

• Mark Adams (Appointed Governor – Runnymede Borough Council)

• Frances Ansell (Public Governor – Elmbridge)

•  Sue Bell (Public Governor – Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor and 
Maidenhead)

•  Emma Gilmore (Public Governor – Spelthorne)

•  Andy Brown (Staff Governor – Volunteers)

•  Mohamed Imam (Staff Governor – Medical and Dental)

•  Aidan Parsons (Staff Governor – Ancillary, Admin, Clerical and 
Managerial)

•  Denise Saliagopoulos (Appointed Governor – Spelthorne Borough 
Council)

•  Shirley Holmes  (Public Governor – Woking and Guildford) was also 
appointed as Lead Governor in Dec 2021

•  Sylvia Whyte (Public Governor – Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor 
and Maidenhead) 
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Some highlights from the year include:

•  We have transformed our Urgent Care services by opening 
and operating our new ambulatory and assessment 
service for emergency patients. This building ensures 
we have the modern facilities and capacity to deliver the 
highest standards of care;

•  We completed the build and mobilisation of several new 
theatres on the Ashford Hospital site where we have 
created a dedicated elective site; ultimately this will help 
alleviate post COVID demand and ensure the continuation 
of elective surgery during forthcoming periods of 
increased winter pressures; 

•  We completed the much anticipated Wellbeing Hub at 
St Peter’s with free rest and relaxation facilities including 
a gym, new showers, toilets and lockers – creating an 
innovative way to thank and recognise our staff for their 
dedication and contribution during the pandemic and 
importantly to support their emotional wellbeing and 
health. We are about to open another hub to serve staff at 
our Ashford Hospital site;

•  We have created a high quality and sustainable catering 
model that has become an NHS exemplar site for staff 
dining, commended by Dame Prue Leith; this forms a key 
part of our Wellbeing and Employee Benefits strategy;

•  We were excited to launch our first inter-disciplinary, 
cross organisational Home First Community facing front 
door team for the NWS Health and Care Alliance; this will 
enable us to improve the care of our frail patients in the 
community.

In January, Suzanne Rankin our Chief Executive left the Trust 
after being part of the leadership team for over a decade, 
four of these spent as Chief Nurse. We are grateful for her 
inspirational leadership and support helping to establish 
Ashford and St Peter’s as a leading highly collaborative 
Trust within the Surrey Heartlands system and as a tangible 
functioning Anchor Organisation within our local community.

Welcome to our Annual Report which covers the financial 
period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022.  Looking back, 
we have had yet another busy and demanding year as we 
continued to face the challenges brought by the COVID 
pandemic, as well as implementing our journey of recovery 
and ensuring at every step that we were delivering the best 
care for our patients and looking after our team.

We have learnt an incredible amount from COVID and 
this has helped transform both how we work and deliver 
healthcare as a Trust and, together with our system 
partners, how we work better across health and social care. 
I could not be prouder of the way in which Team ASPH and 
partners have come together and risen to these challenges, 
going well above and beyond what is expected in order to 
care for our patients, community and each other in an ever 
changing NHS landscape. 

To honour their work, we awarded all of those who 
contributed to this outstanding effort a COVID Star medal 
and a special edition yearbook which detailed some of the 
excellent achievements of colleagues during this period and 
also remembered those colleagues who sadly lost their lives 
to COVID.

During 2021/22, the team have worked both innovatively 
and at great pace to maintain important services whilst 
rapidly creating and providing additional capacity to keep 
up with patient demand. We continued to operate focusing 
closely on our North Star Objective to prevent hospital 
acquired infection and I am proud to say we have had the 
14th lowest rate of hospital acquired COVID out of the 
145 Trusts in England. We also accelerated our work with 
the Surrey Heartlands Integrated Care System and the NW 
Surrey Integrated Care Partnership, as well as with other 
acute providers and this collaborative approach remains the 
corner stone of our strategy and vision going forward. 

Despite these challenges and new ways of working, the 
team have continued to make significant progress against 
the delivery of large-scale transformational projects 
with a phenomenal amount of work being completed in 
preparation for the roll out of a new electronic patient 
record system in partnership with the Royal Surrey Hospital.

‘We have learnt an 
incredible amount 
from COVID and this 
has helped transform 
both how we work and 
deliver healthcare as a 
Trust’
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I wish to acknowledge and thank the contribution made by those Governors that came to 
the end of their maximum three terms or stood down in 2021: 

• Chris Marks, Public Governor for Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor and Maidenhead

• Danny Sparkes, Public Governor for Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor and Maidenhead

• Neal Adolphus, Public Governor for Spelthorne

• Rose Chandler, Appointed Governor for Spelthorne Borough Council

• Sinead Mooney, Appointed Governor for Surrey County Council

• Julian Ruse, Staff Governor for Administrative and Clerical, Managerial and Ancillary 

• Óscar Garcia-Casas, Staff Governor for Medical and Dental

In November 2021, Danny Sparkes stepped down as Lead Governor and I would like to take 
this opportunity to extend our thanks to Danny, who has been a Governor at ASPH for seven 
years, and Lead Governor for three and a half years. She remains with the Trust as head of 
our Patient Panel.

Finally, I would like to express my personal gratitude and that of the Board to each and 
every one of Team ASPH for everything you have done and continue to do. I am extremely 
proud to be part of this truly amazing organisation. 

Andy Field 
Chairman
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About us
Established in 1998 from the merger of Ashford and St Peter’s 
Hospitals, the Trust has been on a long journey of development 
and improvement to its current position as the largest provider 
of acute hospital services to Surrey residents. It became a 
Foundation Trust in December 2010.

Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust serves a population of more 
than 410,000 people living in the boroughs of Runnymede, Spelthorne, Woking and 
parts of Elmbridge, Hounslow, Surrey Heath and beyond. The Trust employs around 
4,400 individual members of staff. Our turnover was £425 million in 2021/22.

The Trust provides a whole range of services across its hospital sites. The majority 
of planned care, like day case and orthopaedic surgery and rehabilitation services, 
is provided at Ashford Hospital, with more complex medical and surgical care and 
emergency services at St Peter’s Hospital.

Guildford
Dorking

Leatherhead

Epsom

Ewell

Sutton

Kingston upon Thames

Hounslow

Feltham

Sunbury

Weybridge

Chertsey

Ashford Hospital

St Peter’s 
Hospital

Egham
Staines

Woking
Frimley

Camberley

Bracknell

Maidenhead

Windsor

Slough
West 
Drayton

Hillingdon

Walton-
on-Thames

Southall

Our catchment area

We’ve been busy

During the year we have:

TREATED 

32,846
EMERGENCY 
ADMISSIONS

ADMITTED

42,685
PEOPLE FOR PLANNED 
INPATIENT AND DAY  
CASE TREATMENT

SEEN

80,662
PEOPLE IN OUR A&E 
DEPARTMENT

TREATED 

532,859
PATIENTS IN OUR 
OUTPATIENT CLINICS

HELPED DELIVER

3,349
BABIES

HAD A TURNOVER OF

£425.0m

149,331
SEEN 

PATIENTS SEEN IN  
VIRTUAL OUTPATIENT  
CLINICS
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Our services

We provide the following hospital and community based  
health services to our catchment population:

• Admitted patient care for planned surgery and emergency medicine and surgery

• Accident and emergency services

• Critical care

• Outpatient services, both in the hospitals and across a  
number of community settings

• Community midwifery services

Services are split across our three main hospital sites  
and various community sites as follows:

Day-case surgery 

Surrey Heartlands Elective Centre

Ophthalmology

Outpatients (including paediatrics) 
and diagnostics; X ray,  
ultrasound, and MRI scans

Inpatient Rehabilitation

Outpatient Midwifery hub

Ashford Hospital

Inpatient Neuro-rehabilitation 
services

Outpatient Services

Physiotherapy

Woking Community 
Hospital

Accident and emergency  
services

Intensive care

Emergency surgical and  
medical care

Elective and day-case surgery

Orthopaedics  
(Rowley Bristow unit)

Maternity care

Paediatric services  
(children’s services)

Neonatal intensive care unit  
which provides care for  
acutely ill babies 

Outpatients and diagnostics; X ray, 
ultrasound, CT scans, endoscopy 
(using cameras to look inside the 
body) and MRI scans

Pathology services (provided through 
the Surrey and Berkshire Pathology 
Service)

St Peter’s Hospital

Cobham Community Hospital

West Byfleet Centre

Heart of Hounslow Centre for Health

Teddington Memorial Hospital

Runnymede and Woking 
Physiotherapy clinics

Early Supported Discharge Teams (for 
stroke) based at Ashford and Milford 
hospitals (providing services across 
much of West Surrey)

Dermatology services are provided 
from Royal Surrey County Hospital, 
Haslemere Hospital and Cranleigh 
Health Centre.

Specialist clinics within 
the community

13ANNUAL REPORT and ACCOUNTS | 1 April 2021 to 31 March 20221. INTRODUCTION
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Our vision and strategy

Our Trust Strategy: ‘Together We Care’ was launched in May 
2018 and was developed within the national and local context 
of there being a clear need for collaboration and partnership 
working in order to ensure strong foundations for creating and 
benefiting from strategic opportunities. It is consistent with the 
local strategies and the Surrey Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
and, despite being published before publication of the NHS 
Long Term Plan in January 2019, there is a significant degree of 
alignment between the national priorities set out in the Plan and 
our own strategy and vision.

‘ I was treated with 
compassion’

‘ I was involved 
in a plan for my 
care which was 
understood and 
followed’

‘ I was treated in a 
safe way, without 
delay’

‘ And every 
member of our 
team to feel able 
to give their best 
and feel valued 
for doing so’

By achieving our aims, we want every patient to be able to say:

Quality of care – 
creating a learning 
organisation and 
culture of continuous 
improvement to 
reduce repeated 
harms and improve 
patient experience

People – being a 
great place to work 
and to be a patient, 
where we listen, 
empower and value 
everyone

Modern healthcare 
– delivering the 
most effective and 
efficient treatment 
and care through 
standardisation in the 
delivery and outcome 
of clinical services

Digital – using 
digital technology 
and innovations 
to improve clinical 
pathways, safety 
and efficiency and 
empower patients

Collaborate – 
working with our 
partners in health 
and care to ensure 
the provision of 
a high quality 
sustainable NHS to 
the communities we 
serve

Our strategic objectives

We continue to play a key role within the Surrey Heartlands Integrated Care System and the North West Surrey Integrated Care 
Partnership, which is an alliance of health and care organisations across North West Surrey and partners including borough 
councils and the voluntary sector to ensure delivery of care at local level (see more overleaf).

Our vision

‘ To provide an outstanding 
experience and best outcomes 
for patients and the team and  
is supported by our values’ 

Our mission

‘ To ensure the provision of high 
quality, sustainable healthcare 
services to the communities we 
serve’

1. INTRODUCTION



Local context: 

North West Surrey Health and Care Alliance 

North West Surrey Health and Care Alliance (NWS Alliance) 
is one of four Alliances that sit within the Surrey Heartlands 
Integrated Care System (ICS) and is one of the largest public 
sector Alliances in the UK. It is taking a different approach to 
improving the health and wellbeing of the 370,000 people 
living across Elmbridge, Runnymede, Spelthorne and Woking. 

The partnership brings together local health and care 
organisations, local governments and community, offering a 
wealth of expertise, and together, the Alliance will work to a 
single, shared set of goals to deliver excellent outcomes for 
local people, with a delegated budget and decision making to 
reduce duplication of effort and resources. 

The individual organisations that form the Alliance are:

•  Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

• Surrey County Council 

•  Spelthorne, Woking, Elmbridge and Runnymede Borough 
Councils 

• Surrey Heartlands ICS

• CSH Surrey 

• Woking and Sam Beare Hospice 

• North West Surrey Integrated Care Services 

• Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

• GP Practices and Primary Care Networks

Together, the NWS Alliance will seek to tackle some of the 
most significant health and care challenges facing local 
people, and will transform how services operate, so that 
they are able to meet the challenges posed to a 21st century 
health system. It is committed to joining up health and care 

services and considering all of a person’s health, wellbeing 
and social care needs, by looking at the wider determinants of 
health such as housing, education and the environment. 

The NWS Alliance priorities going forward include: 

•  Creating healthy places: working as equal partners with 
our communities to build healthy places that allow people 
to stay well and independent.

•   Empowering access and navigation: providing local 
people with the tools and knowledge to enable them 
to access our services when they need them and make 
informed decisions about their care. 

•  Supporting our team: building our workforce and support 
the health, wellbeing and happiness of our team.

•  System delivery - urgent care: providing excellent 
services which support people’s health and wellbeing 
when they need them.

•  System delivery - planned care and infrastructure: 
building a resilient partnership that is able to anticipate, 
absorb and respond to current demands.

Surrey Heartlands Integrated Care  
System (ICS)

Surrey Heartlands is one of 42 Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) 
working to improve health and care services for the local 
population. Surrey Heartlands brings together four Integrated 
Care Partnerships covering the areas of Surrey Downs, North 
West Surrey, Guildford and Waverley and East Surrey. It 
was the second ICS in England behind Greater Manchester 
to achieve devolution, giving more local control on health 
spending and access to further transformational funding. 

The Surrey Heartlands Integrated Care System aims to 
improve services and health outcomes for local people; tackle 
inequalities in outcomes, experience and access; enhance 
productivity and value for money; and help the NHS support 
broader social and economic development. System partners 
take collective responsibility for improving health outcomes, 
managing resources and ensuring high quality services. More 
information on Surrey Heartlands ICS is available at:  
www.surreyheartlands.org
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“The North West Surrey Health and Care Alliance has been working together 
as a partnership for almost three years, and is made up of health and 
care providers, local government and 
voluntary sector organisations across 
North West Surrey. Working together 
our teams have already delivered some 
amazing things and transformed services 
in a way that will positively impact 
people’s lives.  Ashford and St Peter’s 
continue to be a leading partner of the 
Alliance, and has been vital in supporting 
the joined up approach to tackle the 
challenges faced by the health and care 
sector following the COVID pandemic. 
The Trust’s ongoing drive and willingness 
to share expertise and resources has 
shaped the Alliance and will make a 
real difference to the residents of North 
West Surrey.”

National policy: 

In July 2021, the government published the Health and Care 
Bill which proposed a new legislation that would support the 
development of system approaches to planning and delivery, 
and enable greater collaboration between the NHS, local 
government and other partners at a place level. This Bill, now 
known as the Health and Care Act (2022), came into effect 
nationally in July 2022, which created formal health and care 
partnerships that are known as Integrated Care Systems (ICS).

Jack Wagstaff 
North West Surrey Alliance Chief Officer

The Trust has been working in partnership at both a local 
as a partner organisation of the NWS Alliance and Surrey 
Heartlands level to achieve a sustained recovery from the 
COVID pandemic and to respond to the changes in legislation. 



Perform
ance Report

2
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Performance Report - Overview

Statement by the Chief Executive

I have received a comprehensive handover of the Trust’s 
performance with Dr David Fluck who undertook the role of 
Acting Chief Executive and Accounting Officer between January 
2022 and my commencement in post at the beginning of May 
2022.

The last year has continued to bring unprecedented challenges to the Trust 
requiring Team ASPH to yet again swiftly and radically adapt the ways in which 
we provide services, alongside delivering the Trust’s elective surgery and routine 
outpatient recovery programme. However, the Trust retained focus on delivery 
of the current Together We Care Strategy and its strategic objectives (see the 
strategic objectives section from page 35 for more detailed analysis).

Financially, we ended the year with a surplus of £6.8m. Due to the continuing 
COVID pandemic our turnover increased substantially to £425m from £387.3m  
in 2020/21.

Our continued stable financial position meant we continued to invest 
substantially in the much needed capital schemes, including our new Urgent and 
Emergency Care Centre, new theatres and wards at Ashford and the Surrey Safe 
Care programme, our electronic patient records system. Improving facilities for 
the team and for patients. 

This performance overview reveals some of the challenges of balancing the 
requirement to meet unparalleled demand for services as well as deliver our 
recovery and restoration plans. Continuing to strive towards the delivery of our 
strategy and towards outstanding experience and the best outcomes for patients 
and the team.

The impact of the COVID pandemic during 2021/22 created fluctuating 
attendances and considerable pressure on our emergency care pathways. 
Challenges regarding inpatient flow continued to dominate and exacerbate our 
Emergency Department (ED). 

The Trust secured substantial capital investment during 2021/22 increasing ED 
capacity, by means of creating a Combined Assessment Unit (CAU), the provision 
of dedicated assessment capacity and short stay facilities. However, surges in 
attendances, the requirement to run separate areas for infection protection 
control and the challenges maintaining hospital inpatient flow (like most providers) 
resulted in an increase in ambulance transfer delays over the winter months. 

Despite these challenges the Trust’s overall annual performance of 81.4% remained 
above the average England performance of 76.7% for the year.

The Trust received over 21,000 urgent cancer referrals during the year, an overall 
23.3% increase compared to the previous year.  The Trust provided full referral, 
diagnostic and treatment facilities for clinically urgent, risk assessed procedures 
for cancer patients during the COVID pandemic and continues to work with 
our commissioners at Surrey Heartlands CCG to support delivery of compliant 
performance.

The Trust missed the annual compliance target for cancer 
patients referred urgently by General Practitioners with 
annual performance recorded at 81.4%. An improved level 
of performance was recorded for patients referred by NHS 
screening services at 86.1% compared to the previous year. 

The Trust’s performance compares extremely well against 
the England national average performance for treatment 
within 62 days and we will continue to seek ways to improve 
further. Furthermore, despite a considerable increase in 
cancer referrals throughout the year, the Trust was able 
to record annual compliance for the new Faster Diagnosis 
Standard at 76.8% (compared to the England national average 
of 72.9%) and reduce the number of patients waiting longer 
than 62 days on the cancer waiting list from a high of 281 in 
October to 104 in March.

The impact of COVID and the risk of contagion created 
significant disruption for elective surgery and routine 
outpatients throughout the year. However, the Trust made 
significant headway in reducing the number of Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) long waiting patients by halving the number 
of patients waiting over 52 weeks and resolving nearly all 
patients waiting over 78 weeks. 

The Trust’s annual RTT position was recorded at an average 
79.9%. This level of performance, whilst falling lower than the 
national target of 92%, remains favourable against the average 
England performance of 65.7% for the year. The Trust has 
plans to improve RTT performance during 2022/23 ensuring 
patients are treated in clinical priority and chronological order.

Staffing has been challenging for us like other Trusts due 
to high levels of COVID within the local community causing 
staff sickness, and therefore a loss of productivity. The Trust 
however created additional capacity to meet the demand 
and recovery including additional weekend and evening work 
and both internal and outsourcing solutions, which provided 
greater resilience. 

We continue to work closely with clinical commissioners, 
in particular Surrey Heartlands CCG who commissions the 
majority of our services (representing over 81.2% of our NHS 
clinical income).

We also have good relationships with other commissioners, 
including NHS North West London CCG (representing c.3.6% of 
our NHS clinical income) and NHS Frimley CCG (who represent 
c.2.6%). We continue to work well with NHS England who 
commissions the specialist services we provide including 
cardiovascular and neonatal services (representing c.11.6% of 
our NHS clinical income).

During the course of the year we have continued to deliver 
against our transformation programme in addition to 

delivering our strategic objectives encompassed within our 
Together We Care Strategy. To reflect that the pandemic has 
brought a different focus to the next two-five years for ASPH 
we have been refreshing our Together We Care strategy 
after a thorough period of engagement with our teams and 
communities. This will be published later this year and includes 
the Trust’s North Star Objective and operating model to 
prevent the spread of hospital acquired infection                 . 

The physical and mental health, well-being and resilience 
of the team has clearly been, and continues to be, a very 
real concern and we have deployed a range of well-being 
strategies and interventions to support Team ASPH in taking 
time to rest and recover following the first and second 
waves of the pandemic. This included opening a Health 
and Wellbeing Hub at St Peter’s with one open at Ashford 
Hospital too. These hubs include free rest, relaxation, and 
recreation facilities - including a gym at St Peter’s - and 
comfortable seating area surrounded by calming ‘green’ 
wall art. 

I was delighted to be appointed as the new Chief Executive 
of Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals at the beginning of 2022 
joining the Trust later that year in May 2022. I received the 
warmest of welcomes and have spent my first few weeks 
in post getting to know Team ASPH visiting all departments 
and wards across our sites. I already have a measure of 
how dedicated and high performing colleagues at the Trust 
are and everyone should feel incredibly proud of how they 
continued to provide outstanding care for their community 
in the face of the enduring challenges the pandemic has 
brought. 

 

Julie Smith 
Chief Executive

29 September 2022
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Key issues and risks
Taking into account both external and internal factors and uncertainties, as part of our board 
assurance framework process, we have identified the following key risks to our strategic 
objectives:

Strategic objective: Digital
3.1  There is a risk that the anticipated outcomes to improve quality and safety integral to the Trust 

strategy may be compromised if the Surrey Safe Care programme is subject to undue delay or if the 
initial go-live scope is significantly reduced.

3.1a  There is a risk that the Surrey Safe Care programme may be subject to further implementation issues 
which would impact the agreed deployment timeline and accompanying financials

3.2  Critical systems maintenance and replacement: Failure of key IT systems could lead to issues of 
patient safety, experience or quality risks, or process delays.

3.3  Known cyber security and data protection breaches could threaten the provision of IT systems, 
leading to issues of patient safety, experience or quality risks, or process delays.

3.3a  Unknown cyber security and data protection breaches could threaten the provision of IT systems, 
leading to issues of patient safety, experience or quality risks, or process delays.

Strategic objective: Quality of care
1.1   Inability to deliver against key Quality Improvement Priorities and thereby reduce the incidence of 

repeated and/or avoidable harm to patients from medication errors, episodes of poor care, and 
avoidable mortality, due to insufficient capacity and capability.

1.1a   Inability to achieve the North Star Objective to end health and care acquired infections (and 
associated harm) for the team, patients, and the community, due to insufficient capacity and 
capability.

1.2   Inability to improve and achieve outstanding patient experience, through an inability to harness and 
optimise learning from patient and family feedback, due to insufficient capacity and capability.

Strategic objective: Modern healthcare 
2.1  Inability to live within the new financial framework envelopes (when announced) due to the likely 

requirements to run elective work during winter, undertake or outsource additional catch-up activity, 
whilst reconfiguring / expanding bed, diagnostic and outpatient capacity, and given existing staffing 
constraints.    

2.2  A failure to maintain the Trust’s physical environment and clinical infrastructure, may lead to clinical 
pathway difficulties, deteriorating patient and staff experience, patient safety, and health and safety 
risks.

2.3  A failure to deliver constitutional and operational targets leading to increased patient delay, 
poor patient experience, increased patient safety risks, increased outsourcing or activity and 
corresponding loss in productivity / efficiency.

2.4  The myriad of changes to operational arrangements, supply/demand, social distancing requirements 
and increased staff absence from COVID may have substantial impacts on our previous productivity / 
efficiency and financial standing.

2.5  Potential external impacts from the Surrey Heartlands ICS overall financial, activity level, and waiting 
list positions as well as requirements for mutual aid.   

Strategic objective: Collaborate 
5.1  Internal strategic risk: There is a risk that the benefits of the Trust strategy are not delivered. This is caused 

by a lack of capacity and/or oversight and would result in the desired effect and intended benefits of the 
strategy not being achieved or that sustainability of patient care becomes significantly challenged.

5.2  External strategic risk: There is a risk to delivery of the Trust current strategy. This is caused by ineffective 
or insufficient focus on stakeholder management or by external factors such as decisions taken by national, 
Integrated Care System (ICS), Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) which may not correspond or may adversely 
impact delivery our objectives or undermine our service sustainability.

Strategic objective: People
4.1  Inability to accurately model workforce requirements, may result in failure to align workforce supply, to meet 

current and future acuity and demand, resulting in a misalignment with both the service requirement and/or 
the financial plan.

4.2 Unable to staff to current and future demand resulting in a negative staff and patient experience.

4.3  Individuals and teams do not feel listened to, empowered and valued resulting in a negative impact on staff 
and patient experience.

4.4  Individuals and teams are emotionally and physically affected as a result of the pandemic which may result in 
inability to deliver operational demand and impact on patient care and patient experience.

For more detail on how we manage and respond to risk see our Annual Governance Statement on page 108.

Going concern disclosure
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable 
expectation that Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, we continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the accounts.

2. PERFORMANCE REPORT



24  25ANNUAL REPORT and ACCOUNTS | 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022

Detailed activity review
Performance analysis

2. PERFORMANCE REPORT

80,662

A&E Attendances
The Trust saw a reduc�on (9%) in A&E 
a�endances during the second year of 
the COVID pandemic.

149,331

Virtual
We saw a reduc�on in the number of virtual 
appointments (27%) taking place, as the easing 
of COVID restric�ons meant that we were able 
to hold more face-to-face appointments.

COVID Patients
Since the 1 April 2021, up un�l 31 March 2022, 
the Trust cared for and discharged over 
800 COVID pa�ents.

32,846

Emergency admissions
Emergency admissions increased 
slightly (4%) during the second 
year of the COVID pandemic.

42,685

Planned Inpa�ent and Day Case
Treatment
Planned inpa�ent and day case treatment ac�vity 
increased (51%) to aid elec�ve recovery and 
restora�on during the 
second year of the 
COVID pandemic.

N O R T H  S T A R
O B J E C T I V E

F O C U S  O N  T H E

GOGGLES

VISOR

APRON

HAND 
WASHING

MASK & 
GLOVES SOCIAL 

DISTANCING

LATERAL 
FLOW

FOCUS ON THE
NORTH STAR

OBJECTIVE

No matter where you are or your job role within the organisation,
we all need to work together, stay on course and learn from

practice across the organisation and beyond.

(-27%)
(+51%)

(-9%)

(+4%)
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Key performance metrics

The following table describes how we have performed against key national targets and minimum standards, giving overall 
performance against target for the year, performance by quarter as well as how this year compares to previous years.

National Targets 
and Minimum 
Standards

Target Target 
(2020/21)

2020/21 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Infection Control

Number of clostridium difficile cases 25 24 7 4 4 9 18 27 14

Number of MRSA blood stream 
infection cases 0  0 0 0 0 0 2 2 1

Access to Cancer 
Services

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 31 days from diagnosis 
to first definitive treatment

96% 98.4% 97.6% 97.9% 98.8% 99.4% 97.5% 97.1% 97.9%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 31 days for subsequent 
treatment (anti-cancer drugs)

98% 99.3% 100% 100% 96.7% 100% 98.2% 99.3% 100%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 31 days for subsequent 
treatment (surgery)

94% 96% 92.3% 97.6% 97.4% 96.9% 92.4% 78.0% 94.8%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 2 months from urgent 
GP referral to treatment

85% 81.4% 76.7% 80.1% 83.9% 84.4% 88% 84.1% 85.8%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 2 months from the 
consultant screening service referral 
to treatment

90% 86.1% 83.3% 91.7% 88.9% 66.7% 85.7% 90% 92.1%

% of cancer patients waiting a 
maximum of 2 weeks from urgent  
GP referral to date first seen

93% 91.3% 91.1% 90.8% 90.9% 92.4% 95.5% 93.7% 92.4%

% of symptomatic breast patients 
(cancer not initially suspected) 
waiting a maximum of 2 weeks from 
urgent GP referral to date first seen

93% 91% 90.4% 91.1% 90.8% 91.5% 96.7% 97.4% 97.2%

Access to 
Treatment

18 weeks Referral to Treatment - 
patients on an incomplete pathway 92% 79.9% 77.7% 80.5% 81.3% 80.2% 77.1% 92% 91.2%

Access to A&E 
(SPH)

% of patients waiting a maximum 
of 4 hours in A&E from arrival to 
admission, transfer or discharge  
(St Peter’s site only) 

95% 71.4% 65.2% 67.1% 72.4% 80.2% 81.4% 76.4% 79%

Access to A&E 
(NHSI)

% of patients waiting a maximum 
of 4 hours in A&E from arrival to 
admission, transfer or discharge  
NHSI: including Woking and Ashford

95% 81.4% 77.1% 79.3% 81.8% 86.8% 87.4% 86.1% 88.4%

Access for 
patients with a 
learning disability

The Trust provides self-certification 
that it meets the requirements to 
provide access to healthcare for 
patients with a learning disability

n/a Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Our performance explained

Infection control – hospital acquired 
infections

There were 24 cases of Trust-apportioned clostridium 
difficile infection recorded during 2021/22. This is a 33% 
increase from the previous year although within the contract 
threshold. 

There have been zero Trust-apportioned MRSA bacteraemias 
infection during 2021/2022. Learning from previous years has 
created a robust Trust MRSA policy which has been updated 
to reflect this requirement.

Access to cancer treatment

The Trust received over 21,000 urgent cancer referrals 
during the year, an overall 23.3% increase compared to 
the previous year. The Trust has provided full referral, 
diagnostic and treatment facilities for clinically urgent, risk 
assessed procedures for cancer patients during the COVID 
pandemic and continues to work with our commissioners 
at Surrey Heartlands CCG to support delivery of compliant 
performance.

The Trust missed the annual compliance target for cancer 
patients referred urgently by General Practitioners with 
annual performance recorded at 81.4%. An improved level 
of performance was recorded for patients referred by NHS 
screening services at 86.1% compared to the previous year. 

The Trust’s performance compares extremely well against the 
England national average performance for treatment within 
62 days although we continue to introduce ways to improve 
further. 

Furthermore, despite a considerable increase in cancer 
referrals throughout the year, the Trust was able to record 
annual compliance for the new Faster Diagnosis Standard at 
76.8% (compared to the England national average of 72.9%) 
and reduce the number of patients waiting longer than 62 
days on the cancer waiting list from a high of 281 in October 
to 104 in March. 

Improving cancer waiting times is a continued area of focus 
and work is being undertaken with primary care in patient 
engagement, and ensuring the Trust, partner and tertiary 
providers have sufficient ongoing capacity to meet current 
and future demand to maintain and improve compliance.

The Trust undertakes multiple weekly PTL (Patient Tracker List)
meetings to track and prioritise patients on cancer pathways 
to ensure patients diagnosis and treatments are expedited. In 
terms of monitoring performance, a weekly cancer oversight 
meeting is held (chaired by the Deputy Chief Operating 
Officer) which specifically monitors cancer performance and 
progression of our cancer improvement plans, with regular 
reviews also held with the Trust’s commissioners.

Referral to treatment (18 week target)

During 2021/22, NHS England set recovery ambitions 
requiring providers to reduce longest waiting patients and 
especially those waiting over 104, 78 and 52 weeks for 
treatment. 

The Trust made significant headway in reducing the number 
of RTT long waiting patients by halving the number of patients 
waiting over 52 weeks and resolving nearly all patients waiting 
over 78 weeks. Of those waiting over these timeframes, 
almost half required surgery (the majority with a date for this 
confirmed), whilst others required their booked diagnostic 
and/or an outpatient appointment to occur to conclude their 
treatment.

However, the impact of the winter Omicron COVID wave 
resulted in most elective surgery being paused with theatre 
staff and surgical beds redeployed to support the demands of 
emergency care.

The Trust’s annual RTT position was recorded at an average 
79.9%. This level of performance, whilst falling lower than the 
national target of 92%, remains favourable against the average 
England performance of 65.7% for the year.

Furthermore, the Trust’s performance as we emerge from 
the COVID pandemic, has placed a number of the Trust’s 
specialties within the top 10 for RTT performance across 
England (with 10,000+ patients on their waiting list) including 
a comparatively low number of patients waiting over 52 
weeks for treatment.
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 The Trust has plans to improve RTT performance during 
2022/23 ensuring patients are treated in clinical priority and 
chronological order.

In terms of monitoring performance, specialty level ‘patient list’ 
meetings are held weekly. The aim of these meetings, chaired 
by the relevant service managers, is to identify key delays along 
the pathway in particular with the assessment and admission 
process. Our aim is to keep the number of cancelled operations 
and other treatments to an absolute minimum at all times, 
and to ensure surgery and treatments are rebooked as soon as 
possible if a cancellation is necessary.

This forum also oversees the correct application of rules, and 
plans and manages patient pathways within the specialty 
ensuring patients are dated by clinical priority. Issues requiring 
escalation are resolved where possible within the divisional 
management team as part of business as usual processes. A 
summary of performance along with the identification of risks is 
presented to the Trust Performance Committee (chaired by the 
Chief Operating Officer or Associate Director of Performance) 
on a weekly basis.

A&E four hour waiting target

The impact of the COVID pandemic during 2021/22 created 
fluctuating attendances and considerable pressure on our 
emergency care pathways. Challenges regarding inpatient 
flow continued to dominate and exacerbate our emergency 
department with exit block (when patients are unable to be 
moved from A&E).

The Trust secured substantial capital investment during 2021/22 
increasing Emergency Department (ED) capacity, through 
creating a Combined Assessment Unit (CAU), the provision of a 
dedicated assessment capacity and short stay facilities. 

However, surges in attendances, the requirement to run 
separate areas for infection prevention control and the 
challenges maintaining hospital inpatient flow (like most 
providers) created an increase in ambulance transfer delays 
over the winter months. Despite these challenges the Trust’s 
overall annual performance at 81.4% remained above the 
average England performance of 76.7% for the year.

A&E performance is monitored on multiple occasions during 
each day at regular Capacity Action Team (CAT) meetings with 
key hospital operational staff, and weekly Trust wide operational 
and breach review meetings to seek and implement 
improvement opportunities.

Equality of service delivery

Our overarching ambitions are to continually ensure the 
health needs of our diverse communities are better met 
and that health inequalities are reduced year on year, 
demonstrating an improvement in patients’ experiences 
of accessing and receiving care and services that take into 
account individual needs and preferences. 

We have developed comprehensive plans in conjunction 
with our commissioners and system providers within Surrey 
Heartlands ICS.

Trust wide assurance and governance

From the commencement of the COVID pandemic, the Trust 
implemented the NHS Emergency Preparedness Resilience 
and Response Command structure ensuring a command and 
control structure was in place for the overall management of 
the event, formulating a strategy to respond to the incident 
and permitting staff to escalate concerns and seek advice and 
support.

Trust wide performance is reviewed within the bi-monthly 
Quality of Care Committee and Modern Healthcare 
Committee before being presented to the Trust Board for 
further scrutiny.

The Trust also provided weekly and monthly performance 
updates to Surrey Heartlands ICS and meetings where 
appropriate to review all aspects of Trust performance, 
included recovery and future planning capacity during the 
pandemic and recovery planning phases to support the return 
to compliance. 
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Financial performance 
2021/22 was another year where we faced a 
major upheaval to our financial and operating 
environment caused by the COVID pandemic. 

We faced sustained operational, workforce and financial 
pressures, with further waves of COVID combined with 
increased activity levels putting significant pressure on all 
our workforce and internal processes. Similar pressures also 
affected all our wider system partners leading to the need to 
coordinate our service provision at both a local system and 
regional level.

Restoring elective services was a major aim for us although 
this was impacted by the various COVID waves.  We continued 
our focus on preventing infection, further developed the 

2021/22 2020/21

Actual £m Actual £m

Income

Clinical Income 394.9 336.6

Non-Clinical Income 29.6 49.0

Total Income 424.5 385.6

Expenses 

Pay Costs -261.1 -240.7

Non-Pay Costs -138.8 -129.4

Total Expenses -399.9 -370.1

EBITDA 24.6 15..5

Depreciation & Amortisation -10.5 -9.7

Impairments, net of reversals -1.3 -5.3

Charitable and granted contributions 0.5 1.7

Interest (net) -0.2 -0.3

Dividend on PDC -6.4 -5.6

Other gains 0.1 -

Reported net surplus/(deficit) 6.8 -3.7

Items excluded from our performance against 
the regulatory control total:

Less capital donations / donated asset 
depreciation

-0.1 -1.4

Add back net impairment costs 1.3 5.3

Less net impact of donated consumables 0.1 -0.2

Adjusted financial performance surplus 8.1 0.0

partnership with the Royal Surrey Hospital – this went live in 
May 2022.

An analysis of our results is set out in the table that follows 
– this is in the format reported to NHS Improvement for the 
Finance and Use of Resources theme which forms part of 
the NHS System Oversight Framework 2021/22 - as such this 
differs slightly from the Annual Accounts analysis.

2. PERFORMANCE REPORT

split of our elective pathways in Ashford from the non-
elective pathways at St Peter’s and delivered virtual care 
pathways wherever possible. The consequences of this on 
our expenditure was significant with turnover increasing 
substantially to £425.0m in 2021/22 from £387.3m in 
2020/21.

We continued with a number of significant new investments 
intended to fundamentally redesign our offering to both 
the public and staff. We completed the new ward block at 
St Peter’s and invested heavily in medical equipment and 
information technology. We continued to lease temporary 
modular theatres and endoscopy units across both sites 
to accelerate our elective recovery trajectories. We also 
continued with our Surrey Safe Care programme to roll out 
the Cerner electronic patient record in a single instance in 
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Key movements year on year are set out below:

•  Total income increased by £38.9m (10.1%) year on year. 
This was a result of our income being rolled over by the 
NHS from 2020/21 together with a range of additional 
allocations to negate the impact of COVID and increase 
elective and outpatient activity to start to address 
backlogs.

•  Pay costs were £20.4m (8.5%) higher than 2020/21, 
once again driven by COVID and annual leave impacts. 
The Trust also saw an increase in its emergency and 
elective recovery and increased its bed numbers to 
match.

•  Non-pay costs were £9.4m (7.3%) higher than 2020/21. 
Material drivers of this included additional drugs £3.6m 
expenditure, increased expenditure on the purchase of 
healthcare £3.6m and Clinical Negligence Scheme for 
Trusts increased recharges of £1.2m.

The Trust’s health service income exceeded income from 
the provision of other services, which form only a small 
part of our total income. Income from other services is 
used to support health services at the Trust. Further details 
on income can be found in notes 3 and 4 of the Annual 
Accounts which follow later in this Annual Report. 

Following 2020/21 when the Trust was not required to 
deliver a cost improvement programme (CIP) due to the 
COVID pandemic, this requirement was reinstated for 
2021/22 albeit at a lower target level. A total of £3.8m of 
CIPs were delivered during 2021/22.

The main elements of the 2021/22 capital programme of 
£28m included:

•  £9.5m of investment into the Surrey Safe Care 
programme to roll out the Cerner electronic patient 
record;

•  The finalisation of a new 62 bedded Priority Admission 
Unit £4.3m;

•  £2m of investments to improve the electrical resilience 
throughout the Trust;

•  £1.3m investment to commence the replacement of the 
Trust’s Picture Archive and Communication System used 
to securely store and digitally transmit electronic images; 
and

• £3.9m on medical equipment.

The majority of the capital programme was funded from 
internally generated resources; however in addition the Trust 
(i) increased borrowings in the form of finance leases on 
our Imaging Managed Equipment Service, and (ii) received 
Public Dividend Capital allocations totalling £12.5m, of which 
£10.6m supported the projects listed above.

Cash balances improved during the year due to the surplus 
position as well as £6.9m received in respect of the West 
site land sale. The Trust ended the financial year with an 
increased cash balance of £84.1m.

The finance score measurement by NHS Improvement forms 
part of the Finance and Use of Resources theme in the NHS 
Oversight Framework, and is scored between 1 and 4, where 
1 is ‘low risk’. As a result of the impact of the pandemic on 
NHS finances, NHS improvement temporarily suspended 
monitoring Trusts financial performance in terms of an 
overall finance score.  As a result there is no finance score for 
2021/22 or 2020/21.

2022/23 Plan

The NHS financial regimen had changed slightly for 2022/23 
and local systems, in the Trust’s case this is Surrey Heartlands, 
are expected to break even as a whole. The Trust will see a 
significant reduction in its income for 2022/23 and as a result 
has set itself a challenging CIP target of £17.3m. Despite that 
CIP target the Trust has set a plan that would deliver a deficit 
of £12.1m for 2022/23 on an NHSE/I performance measure 
basis. Our capital programme continues with significant 
investments in Surrey Safe Care, Theatres at Ashford Hospital, 
Abbey Wing at St Peter’s Hospital and on electrical resilience 
works.

Julie Smith 
Chief Executive

29 September 2022
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Progress against our strategic objectives 
The following section describes our progress against each of our five strategic objectives: 

• Quality of care

• People

• Modern healthcare

• Digital

• Collaborate

Strategic objective 5: Collaborate: working with our partners in 
health and care to ensure provision of a high quality sustainable 
NHS to the communities we serve

Strategic objective 1: Quality of care: creating a learning organisation 
and culture of continuous improvement to reduce repeated harms and 
improve patient experience

Strategic objective 2: People: being a great place to work and be a 
patient, where we listen, empower and value everyone

Strategic objective 3: Modern healthcare: delivering the most effective 
and efficient treatment and care through standardisation in the delivery 
and outcome of clinical services

Strategic objective 4: Digital: using digital technology and 
innovations to improve clinical pathways, safety and efficiency and 
empower patients
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Strategic objective 1:  
Quality of care 

Our key achievements over the last year are:

Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) keeping patients and team safe 

Keeping ourselves, loved ones and our community safe has been the main priority for the Trust 
during the pandemic.

We implemented a robust Infection Prevention and Control strategy which, centred on the 
prevention of COVID transmission in our hospitals, and our North Star Objective to “stop 
transmission of all infections”.

We have had high levels of infection control compliance throughout the organisation and are 
proud that the Trust has had the 14th lowest rate of hospital acquired COVID out of 145 Trusts 
across England. Our nosocomial COVID rates continue to be some of the lowest nationally 
through our stringent measures which included enhanced cleaning, visitor restrictions, IPC 
safety and digital temperature checks for anyone entering the hospital.

Creating a learning organisation and culture of continuous
improvement to reduce repeated harms and improve
patient experience

Embedded harm-free care reduces falls  
and pressure ulcers  

The Harms Free Care Team continue to roll out a robust 
Harms Free Care strategy to reduce hospital associated 
harms. One of the projects involved reducing pressure 
damage caused by Neck Collars and supporting wards with 
pressure ulcer prevention. The Tissue Viability Team continue 
to highlight and celebrate those wards that achieve 100 days 
and above free from ulcers. Trolley mattress overlays were 
also purchased for the Emergency Department to provide 
enhanced pressure relief for patients at high risk of pressure 
damage.  

In June a new experienced Falls Lead, Lorraine Potter, 
(pictured below, standing) was appointed who is providing 
mandatory training on fall prevention and working with 
the Dementia Team to advise and support the ward in 
the management of complex patients with dementia and 
promote the “this is me” passport.

Nutrition and hydration is now firmly embedded with a 
‘But First a Drink’ campaign introduced to help patients 
in the community self-identify malnutrition risks. The 
quality improvement work has evolved to include a wide 
multidisciplinary group including catering and ward food 
assistant staff, consultant, nursing staff, speech and language 
therapy and dietetics.

ANNUAL REPORT and ACCOUNTS | 1 April 2021 to 31 March 202236 2. PERFORMANCE REPORT



3938

Healing Arts 

Our work continues to embed the Healing Arts programme 
into our Trust Strategy, to help guide us in the way in which 
we deliver patient care. As part of this, we have implemented 
some meaningful initiatives to improve patient healing and 
experience, as well as have a positive impact on the wellbeing 
of our staff and patients.

transformed into a calming, private outdoor space with a 
garden room, which is large enough for two hospital beds  
and loved ones to sit and spend time together.

Another example was the introduction of Nature Works 
for Health light-emitting nature displays which have been 
installed in the Ambulatory Emergency Care Unit at St Peter’s, 
and help to bring the beauty of the natural world into the 

One exciting project that the team have been working on is 
the Eternal Garden, which will provide a dedicated space for 
our end-of-life patients and their families and friends to spend 
precious moments together, surrounded by nature.

We broke ground on the transformation of the Eternal Garden 
at St Peter’s Hospital in February 2022, with work set to 
be completed towards the end of April. The garden will be 

clinical environment. These nature displays offer a sense of 
calm and visual serenity to patients, relatives and staff. We are 
planning to install more light-emitting nature displays across 
the Trust throughout 2022.

Our Healing Arts programme is financed by fundraising capital 
and does not use public funds.

“ We believe and evidence 
suggests that the presence 
of nature and landscapes in 
healthcare settings can bring 
a number of benefits and can 
aid recovery, help to reduce the 
length of stay for patients and 
have a positive impact on the 
wellbeing for staff, patients and 
visitors”Marcine Waterman, Deputy Chairman and 
Non-Executive Lead for the Healing Arts

“ We believe and evidence 
suggests that the presence 
of nature and landscapes in 
healthcare settings can bring 
a number of benefits and can 
aid recovery, help to reduce the 
length of stay for patients and 
have a positive impact on the 
wellbeing for staff, patients and 
visitors”Marcine Waterman, Deputy Chairman and 
Non-Executive Lead for the Healing Arts
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Patient experience 

Patient experience is fundamental in shaping the care we 
provide for our patients alongside their clinical care. All 
interactions and encounters have an impact on the overall 
patient experience. 

We introduced Viewpoint in 2020, a method of gathering real 
time patient feedback, which has enabled us to continuously 
review and make improvements to care in real time. The 
Trust ran a joint venture earlier this year with the Patient 
Experience and Quality Improvement Teams with the aim 

to streamline the data gathered from Viewpoint, enabling 
divisions to see relevant patient feedback. Awareness days 
and ward visits were held so that staff could familiarise 
themselves with Viewpoint and understand how to best 
maximise the capabilities of the system. 

The Patient Panel, led by former Governor Danny Sparkes, is 
a further bridge between the Trust and our patients ensuring 
we provide the best possible patient care. This direct feedback 
puts the patient at the centre of everything we do and allows 
us to understand where we can make improvements to 
ensure all patients receive outstanding care.

Green element
Plants for texture, form, canopy, 
flower and seasonal interest

EEtteerrnnaall  
GGaarrddeenn

Rae Wilkinson Design

Bringing the benefit of natural 

green space to patients, 

their loved ones and their carers

A space to be outside 

surrounded by nature

Space to retreat and reflect

Space to escape

Space to have a moment

Space to be together

EEtteerrnnaall  GGaarrddeenn  LLaayyoouutt  PPllaann

Garden room
With green 
roof panels

Patio

Water bowls

Pleached trees

Seat

Seat

Pergola

Rae Wilkinson Design

We have a commitment to tackle health inequalities to ensure 
all our patients have equitable access to services and care, 
and health outcomes are improved across all patient socio-
economic groups as a consequence. This involves working 
with all our system partners to achieve this effectively. Aligned 
with this is a focus to work more with our carer community, in 
how they can help shape our carer strategy and also improve 
our services and touch points for both them and their loved 
ones, as they provide valuable insight and support.

In November we launched an initiative to bridge the 
healthcare gap for people with disabilities to encourage 
healthcare and non-clinical staff to learn a new skill 

Accessible healthcare

and language. The Signs4Life scheme helps people to 
communicate and engage with vulnerable service users, 
patients, and colleagues, who may be hard of hearing. 

As part of the Accessible Information Standards (AIS) 
Programme, we have added the Recite me web accessibility 
and language toolbar to our website to make the content 
accessible and inclusive for as many people as possible. 
Innovative technology has made our site more accessible on a 
range of devices, which now helps one in five people in the UK 
with a sight loss or dyslexia. It also enables one in ten people 
for whom English is not their first language, to access our 
website in the way that suits them best.

Another Healing Arts initiative is the 
Make your Ward Healing Perfect, where 
they work with a ward each year to 
improve the environment for patients 
and team including; mobile TVs, puzzles 
and games, furnishing and décor.

The Healing Arts Committee has also 
been working with a local Ashford 
historian; Nick Pollard who has recorded 
a fascinating talk on the history of 
Ashford Hospital.
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Being a great place to work and to be a patient,  
where we listen, empower and value everyone

Our key achievements over  
the last year are: 

Health and Wellbeing at ASPH 

Looking after the wellbeing of Team ASPH remains 
a priority. Due to the challenges last year, we looked 
for innovative ways to thank, reward and recognise 
our staff for their dedication and contribution and to 
support their emotional wellbeing and health during 
and beyond the pandemic.

One of these initiatives was the launch of the Health 
and Wellbeing Hub, which is at the centre of our 
Health and Wellbeing strategy to make ASPH a great 
place to work. 

We opened the Hub in St Peter’s in November where 
colleagues can make use of free rest, relaxation, and 

recreation facilities, 
including a gym, and 
comfortable seating area 
surrounded by calming ‘green’ 
wall art. New showers, toilets and lockers have 
also been provided for colleagues.  

A similar space will be opened imminently at 
Ashford for colleagues to enjoy. 

Co-designed with busy colleagues in mind and 
funded by charitable donations from individuals 
and the NHS Charities Together, the Wellbeing 
Hubs are a huge asset for the organisation 
and offer great benefits to staff. The Hubs 
complements our overall Health and Wellbeing 
offering, which includes an all-year round 
outdoor dining space with retractable roof, and 
sustainable dining at St Peter’s, with similar plans 
at Ashford now underway.

Staff Achievement Awards – 
recognising Team ASPH 

In September we were delighted to be able to 
come together after a challenging 18 months and 
celebrate one of the most important events in 
our calendar – the Team ASPH Staff Achievement 
Awards, whilst safely adhering to national 
Infection Prevention and Control guidance in 
place at the time. The much-anticipated awards 
were held at the historic Weybridge Oatlands 
Park Hotel, where we recognised and celebrated 
some of the incredible work that has been 
undertaken during the pandemic. 

Staff catering awarded exemplar status 

This year the much-anticipated new Edu-
Kitchen restaurant officially opened at 
St Peter’s after significant refurbishment 
of the kitchen, menu, supply chain and 
introduction of a sustainable catering 
strategy.  

During the pandemic, the Trust was 
committed to supporting the health and 
wellbeing of colleagues following the 
decision to bring catering inhouse. The 
service and quality have been transformed 
into the equivalent of a corporate 
restaurant and has since become an NHS 
catering exemplar site, commended by 
Dame Prue Leith.

The vision of Head Chef, Raouf Mansour, 
was to challenge the traditional hospital 
catering model and create high-quality 
sustainable restaurant food. This has been 
achieved with seasonal menus, re-modelled 
dining areas where colleagues eat and 
socialise, and reduction of carbon emissions 
through education, sourcing, and growing 
of local produce.

The catering service is a key part of 
the Trust’s Wellbeing and Employee 
Benefits strategy and is fully supported 
by the Executive team, who recognise the 
importance of good food on productivity, 
morale and reduced sick days. Our plans to 

expand our local chef training programme is a key feature of our anchor organisation ambitions to improve the skills and provide 
future employment opportunities in the local community.

A former patient and Tennis Captain of 
Wentworth club, David Rennie, hosted 
the ceremony and presented colleagues 
with their well-deserved awards. The 
awards recognised those who have gone 
above and beyond with categories ranging 
from “Patients First”, “Pride in our team”, 
“Partnership Working” through to “Team 
Member of the Year” and “Inspiring 
Leader”. Two new exciting categories were 
added - “Wellbeing Engagement Champion” 
and “Infection Prevention Control and 
Safety Champion”, which have been pivotal 
roles during the pandemic.
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Strategic objective 2:  
People 



The COVID Star medal

The Executive and Board Team wanted to 
commemorate the outstanding response of Team 
ASPH during the pandemic and decided that a 
fitting way to do this would be by giving each 
colleague a COVID Star medal and yearbook. The 
special edition yearbook include some of the 
incredible achievements of colleagues during this 
period and remember those colleagues who sadly 
lost their lives to COVID.

Designed by nationally recognised sculptor, Harry 
Gray, each medal was made and hand-painted 
in the Birmingham jewellery quarter by local 
apprentices. The COVID Star medal was born 
following a stay in hospital where Harry had 
seen the strain etched on the faces of doctors 
and nurses. Inspired to create a medal for health 
workers, Harry designed a contemporary version of 
the Florence Nightingale medal for NHS workers to 
wear in recognition of their service throughout the 
COVID crisis. These beautiful lifetime medals were 
made from durable glass and enamel by jewellery 

specialists, Thomas Fattorini Ltd, and previously furloughed apprentices 
were brought back to work on the piece.  

 The Board, Governors and the Executive Team handed out the medals 
across all hospital sites and personally thanked as many colleagues as 
possible for their contribution during the pandemic.

The COVID Star medal was financed by fundraising capital.

16%
of Trust vacancies 

offer flexible working 
at advertisement 

•  Improved work life balance 
•  Increased motivation and
•  productivity 
•  Reduce turnover 
•  Attract new employees 
•  Empowering staff to have
•  control over their working
•  patterns

Outcomes and benefits 
from this programme:

57%
of staff reported 

satisfaction with the 
current flexible 

working opportunities

 of Trust employees 
say they are satisfied 

with their work life 
balance

53%

21%
21% total staff 
work part time

11%
 of leavers cite 

‘work life balance’ 
and/or ‘flexibility’ as 

reason for leaving

Agile and flexible working isn’t 
just for administrative staff!

 We are looking at ways to offer flexible
working opportunities more widely

 across the Trust

Agile working

There has been a huge transformation 
in the way that we work as a result of 
the pandemic, leading to a far greater 
emphasis on agile and hybrid working 
models, as well as our approach to 
flexible working, allowing an improved 
work life balance and aiding retention. 

We want to capitalise on these 
advances and adopt an Agile and 
Flexible Working strategy to enable 
services to maximise efficiency and 
allow for flexible working opportunities 
for all staff. 

The implementation of the new 
eRostering system will act as a key 
enabler for offering more flexibility but 
also allow for better ability and agility  
     of moving staff across  
        locations and departments,     
            improving forward planning.
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Strategic objective 3:  
Modern healthcare 

Delivering the most effective and efficient treatment and 
care through standardisation in the delivery and outcome 
of clinical services

Our key achievements 
over the last year are:

Exciting developments to 
urgent care services at  
St Peter’s Hospital

We’ve made transformational changes 
to our urgent care services and our new 
Urgent and Emergency Care Centre is 
now open.

The facility provides ambulatory care 
and assessment for emergency patients 
attending the hospital who need more 
specialist input than can be provided at 
our Urgent Treatment Centre or A&E.  
The AECU (Ambulatory Emergency Care 
Unit) is an ambulatory assessment area 
which offers emergency care to patients 
at the hospital. This means that patients 
are assessed, diagnosed, treated and 
are able to go home the same day, 
without being admitted into hospital 
overnight. The CAU (Clinical Assessment 
Unit) is a rapid patient assessment and 
treatment unit for a range of specialities 
including Trauma and Orthopaedics, 
Medicine, Surgery, and Gynaecology. 

Co-designed by our Urgent and 
Emergency Care teams, patients, and 
healthcare partners, this enhanced and 
purpose-built department supports 
the Trust’s collaborative objectives and 
ensures patients are treated in the right 
place, at the right time.

Elective and diagnostic services 

During this year we have focused on increasing our elective 
activity to help us meet the demand following COVID. To 
help do this we have reorganised where some of our services 
are provided and have opened extra theatres and wards at 
Ashford, including Eliot ward, our new ring fenced elective 
inpatient surgical ward.

We are also working to maximise use of our outpatients and 
operating theatre capacity, as well as utilising commercial 

partnerships, to help with our elective recovery following the 
pandemic.

The majority of our diagnostic services will continue to be 
provided at St Peter’s Hospital to support the emergency 
services which operate there with some elective diagnostic 
services operating from Ashford.

We are also developing diagnostic services in Woking,  
as part of the national policy to create Community 
Diagnostic Hubs.

Rehabilitation in the 
community (physio)

We are committed to providing 
holistic patient care closer to 
patients in the community to 
help promote and support 
healthy lifestyles and positive 
self-management of conditions.  

Last year we formed 
partnerships with gyms and 
leisure centres in the community 
to provide a hybrid offering of 
face-to-face and virtual services. 

We embarked on a new 
partnership with Egham Orbit 
for hosting our musculoskeletal 
(MSK) physiotherapy services 
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for tailored exercise and 
education rehabilitation 
classes using state of the art 
facilities.

In July, we formed a second 
partnership with Woking 
Leisure following a year 
of planning with Woking 
Council. We now have five 
brand new clinic rooms to 
assess and treat our patients, 
along with the studios and 
state of the art gym for a 
variety of rehabilitation 
classes.

Green plan

In early 2022 we set out our 
vision and priorities for carbon 
reduction and sustainable 
development in line with the 
NHS commitment to delivering a 
net zero national health system. 
Despite the huge pressures staff 
have faced due to the pandemic, 
ASPH has continued to consider 
ways to reduce waste and energy 
consumption, improve our green 
spaces and bring social value to 
how we conduct business. 

Our focus is to demonstrate 
impacts in five priority areas:

•  Reducing emissions towards net zero carbon

• Reduce total amount of waste we produce

•  Increase the proportion of our waste that is 
recycled

• Reduce plastic waste

•  Develop calming outside spaces with tree 
planting to improve air quality and wellbeing

In December 2021, a team of volunteers planted 
tree saplings along with daffodils on the St 
Peter’s site. 

The trees were given to us by NHS Forests, an organisation that 
funds tree planting on NHS property. This will bring nature to 
our sites, provide spaces for staff and visitors to relax and help 
clean our air. 

As part of our commitment to transform catering, the team 
have focused on sustainability at the Trust and maintained  
0.15% food wastage versus 0.6% nationally. 

This has been achieved through training, sourcing local 
suppliers, a herb garden, use of china and metal crockery, 
compostable take-away food trays, delivery trucks fuelled by 
biofuel, induction cookers, sustainable water fountain, and 
sourcing a green plant net zero cleaning product.
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Strategic objective 4: Digital 

Using digital technology and innovations to improve clinical 
pathways, safety and efficiency, and empower patients

Our key achievements  
over the past year are:

Surrey Safe Care

Surrey Safe Care is the collaborative organisational 
transformation programme, which will introduce our new 
electronic patient record across Ashford and St Peter’s 
Hospitals and Royal Surrey NHS Foundation Trusts. This system 
is designed to transform the way in which we deliver care, 
enabling an exceptional healthcare experience for patients and 
teams that is regionally integrated and personally delivered. 

The deployment of the fully integrated system involves a major 
digitally enabled transformational change programme, that 
will engage and touch every part of both Trusts, impacting and 
engaging with colleagues at all level.

The implementation of Surrey Safe Care will give us 
the capability to share patient records, resources, and 
skillsets between our two organisations and enable us to 
collaboratively redesign pathways to deliver the highest 
possible quality of care for our patients.

Preparing for this has required a phenomenal amount of work 
from colleagues from both Trusts over the past two years and 
we are really excited to launch the new system in May. 

Virtual wards and digital clinics 

Since the pandemic and the success of virtual and digital clinics, 
we have seen a number of benefits from the shift to video 
and telephone consultations. Some of these benefits include 
reducing travel mileage and costs for patients, improved patient 
care and experience, along with the efficiency and capacity 
of our outpatient services. ASPH aims to maintain 20% of 
outpatient appointments taking place virtually.

In January this year we encouraged clinicians to complete the 
NHS England and Health Education England (HEE) eLearning 
programme. This supports the NHS ambition to increase 
the number of virtual wards by helping clinicians gain an 
understanding of implementing and running a virtual ward 
enabled by technology in line with an organisation’s local 
policies.
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Robotic processing automation (RPA) 

ASPH have explored the latest advances in technology and 
analysed ways that Robotic Processing Automation (RPA) 
can be used within the organisation to improve productivity 
and patient outcomes. One solution is the use of RPA to help 
manage patient appointments more effectively and therefore 
speed up the recovery of appointment backlogs created by 
the COVID pandemic.

In 2021 we embarked on an RPA project which focused on 
reducing delays and improving the appointment tracking 
of cancer patients. Our RPA platform has successfully 
demonstrated it can interact with our radiology system and 
our cancer register to track patient appointments throughout 

cancer pathways and update results on the patient timeline 
on SCR (Somerset Cancer Register). Co-designed with cancer 
pathway specialists, this new technology truly supports our 
specialists and ultimately gives a better patient experience.  

Providing a safe and rapid solution, the product is ready to be 
scaled within the organisation and we expect to refine this 
innovation as we go forward with our digital strategy. Benefits 
are wide ranging; it will eliminate inevitable human error that 
occurs when tasks are completed manually, time savings will 
be realised by allowing staff to concentrate on other areas, 
and productivity is increased as the bots work faster and run 
constantly.



Strategic objective 5:  
Collaborate

Working with our partners in health and care to ensure provision of  
high quality, sustainable NHS services to the communities we serve 

The North West Surrey Health and Care Alliance is 
one of the largest public sector Alliances in the UK 
and is taking a different approach to improving the 

health and wellbeing 
of the 370,000 people 
living across Elmbridge, 
Runnymede, Spelthorne, 
and Woking. The NWS 
Alliance, of which ASPH is 
part of, works with local 

health and care organisations to improve the way 
public money is spent, ensuring big decisions are 
taken for the benefit of local community. 

The NWS Alliance has been working together as a 
partnership for almost three years and our teams 

have already delivered amazing transformation 
to services in a way that makes a real difference 
to people’s lives.

One example of this collaboration is the Home 
First Community team who are one of the first 
interdisciplinary, cross organisational single teams 
for the NWS Alliance. This was formulated to 
improve the care of our frail patients and provide 
robust support in the community linking in with 
District and Borough Council community hubs to 
prevent re-admission to hospital.  This will help 
those residents with additional needs that can 
be supported by borough services in NW Surrey 
(Woking, Runnymede, Spelthorne, and West 
Elmbridge).

Strategy refresh 

Since we launched our Strategy in 2018, the COVID 
pandemic led us to fast-paced transformation 
in how we deliver healthcare. At the same time 
a major change in the structure of the NHS was 
taking place, and our strategy needed to take these 
and other new factors into account.Our key achievements over the last year are:

North West Surrey Health and Care Alliance
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Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC)

Our collaborative urgent care model between primary and 
secondary care (NICS and ASPH) continued into its second 
year. Over 67,000 patients went through the service with 
over 46,000 being discharged without onward referral 
into the Emergency Department or elsewhere in the Trust. 
This is a huge success following the difficult first year of 
the partnership, when the COVID response altered all the 
working practices of the emergency services, in turn the UTC 
partnership bedded in and is now working very effectively 
with a higher proportion of patients being discharged without 
onward referral to the Emergency Department than our 
previous models of care improving patients experience and 
outcomes. The service was moved into our new emergency 
facilities in 2021 which has provided modern amenities for 
our patients too.

NHS Charities Together Award

In 2021 NHS Charities Together made a grant award to 
the three acute hospital charities in Surrey to work with 
local organisations to support recovery from COVID. The 
three charities worked with our partners at the ICB and 
Surrey County Council to operate a bidding process from 
local charities that support programmes in the community. 
Projects were selected across the Surrey community for 
grants. Locally the Jigsaw charity in Woking was selected 
where they welcome parents and children to provide 
support and signposting and help when needed particularly 
from newly incoming families such as refugees. This work 
aligns to our anchor organisation ambitions as a Trust.

Following the pandemic we embarked on a mid-term strategy refresh 
and invited community, partners, members, and colleagues to contribute 
ensuring we had the widest possible range of views. 

We held 15 engagement sessions and ran a survey to capture additional 
feedback. We are planning to publish the refreshed Trust Strategy later 
this year.
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ASPH vaccination hub

The Surrey Heartlands vaccination programme was 
instrumental in helping to protect the local community during 
the pandemic. 

To further support, we helped with the local and national main 
effort of the accelerated booster vaccination programme and 

opened our vaccination hub again in December 2021. 

This was an incredible effort involving more than 110 
colleagues all of whom were swift to respond, flexible, 
innovative and committed to the mission to get Team ASPH 
their third dose of the COVID booster vaccine and seasonal flu 
vaccine helping keep the community safe. 

ASPH chosen as Wentworth Captain’s charity

We were delighted to be chosen as one of the charities that  
the world-famous Wentworth Golf Club supported during 
2021.  

Former ASPH patient David Rennie, Captain of the Wentworth  
Tennis Club, chose ASPH as the Captains’ charity for 2021 as  
a testament to the compassionate care he received. David 
was keen that Wentworth supported ASPH as an organisation 
that had not only helped him, but many other club members 
throughout different stages of their lives. 

David kindly joined us to host the Staff Achievement Awards in 
September 2021 and has raised funds following a charity walk 
around the beautiful grounds of Wentworth. 

David Rennie said, ‘Nothing is a problem for the nurses, and 
nothing phases them, even at the end of a long shift. They 
have an energy that wills you to become healthy again and 
return to your family and friends.’
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their 
report for the financial year 
1 April 2021 to 31 March 
2022, which incorporates 
a summary of our overall 
performance against our 
corporate objectives.

Our Executive Team 

Our Executive Team over the last year has comprised:

• Suzanne Rankin, Chief Executive (left the Trust end of January 2022)

•  David Fluck, Medical Director (Acting Chief Executive from Feb 2022 – April 2022)

• Andrea Lewis, Chief Nurse

• Shashi Irukulla, Acting Medical Director (Feb 2022- April 2022)

• Simon Marshall, Director of Finance and Information

• Louise McKenzie, Director of Workforce Transformation

• Tom Smerdon, Director of Strategy and Sustainability

• James Thomas, Chief Operating Officer

Non-Executive Directors 

During the year our Non-Executive Directors have been:

• Andy Field, Chairman

• Dami Adedayo, (maternity leave October 2021 – March 2022)

• Jane Dale

• Fran Davies, (maternity cover October 2021 – March 2022)

• Chris Kane, (joined August 2021)

• Chris Ketley

• Neil Hayward, (left end June 2021)

• John Machin, Non-Executive Director Designate (joined March 2022)

• Keith Malcouronne, (left end June 2021)

•  Arun Thiyagarajan, (joined June 2021; previously Associate Non-Executive 
Director)

• Meyrick Vevers

• Marcine Waterman, Deputy Chairman

More details on our directors are given from p.80-88  of this report. 

Director disclosures

For each individual director currently in post 
at the time of approval of this report, so far as 
each director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which our auditor is unaware.

Each director has taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as a director in order to be 
aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that our auditor is aware of that 
information. Each director has also made such 
enquiries of their fellow directors and of the Trust’s 
auditor for that purpose and taken such other 
steps required by his/her duty as a director of the 
Foundation Trust to exercise reasonable care, skill 
and diligence.

Directors have taken the necessary responsibilities 
in preparing this Annual Report and Accounts, 
which have been prepared on a group basis. 
They consider that the Annual Report and 
Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced 
and understandable and provide the information 
necessary for patients, regulators and other 
stakeholders to assess the Trust’s performance, 
business model and strategy.
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Remuneration Report

Remuneration and Appraisals 
Committee and Policy on Remuneration 
of Senior Managers 

The Remuneration Committee consists of three Non-Executive 
Directors chaired by the Senior Independent Director. The 
Committee met four times in 2021/22 and attendance is set 
out on p94.

The Committee sets the policy, and the level of remuneration 
and terms and conditions of the Executive Directors of the 
Trust. The Committee receives an annual report on the 
performance of Executive Directors in the context of strategic 
objectives which feeds into decisions about remuneration 
levels. Mindful of its duties in managing public funds, in 
particular as one or more senior managers are paid in 
excess of £150,000 (the amount set out in guidance issued 
by the Cabinet Office), its policy is set to balance the need 
to appoint and retain Executive Directors within the Trust, 
whilst reflecting a pay range that acknowledges that the 
organisation is performing well financially. This year the 
Committee confirmed the remuneration of the substantive 
Chief Executive, and for the period of the Chief Executive 
acting up; the remuneration for the Acting Medical Director. 
The Committee received a report regarding flexibilities of 
the pension scheme, including a request to recycle employer 
pension contribution for staff who had opted out of the 
scheme because of issues with the annual and lifetime 
allowance caps.  The Committee did not approve the pension 
recycling proposal. The pay award for Executive Directors for 
2021/22 was reviewed and an exceptional decision was made 
to award Executive Directors with a one off, non-consolidated, 
non-pensionable bonus for their exceptional efforts during 
2021/22. 

All Executive Directors contracts were open-ended with notice 
periods for six months. There were no contracts containing a 
provision for compensation over and above legal entitlement 
for early termination. In 2021/22 all Executive Directors were 
paid through the Trust’s payroll.

Fair Pay Disclosures

NHS foundation trusts are required to disclose the relationship 
between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their 
organisation and the lower quartile, median and upper quartile 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in 
the organisation in the financial year 2021/22 was £257,500 
(2020/21 - £232,500). This is a change between years of 10.8% 
(2020/21 – decrease of 6.1%). This increase reflects the full 
year impact of the highest-paid Director moving onto the 
Very Senior Manager pay arrangements during the previous 
financial year, as well as the sale of some of their annual leave 
allowance during 2021/22. 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated 
performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance 
payments. It does not include employer pension contributions 
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

For employees of the Trust as a whole, the range of 
remuneration in 2021/22 was from £14,382 to £258,981 
(2020/21 £14,350 to £234,525). The percentage change 
in average employee remuneration (based on total for 
all employees on an annualised basis divided by full time 
equivalent number of employees) between years is 3.8%. One 
employee received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
director in 2021/22. 

The remuneration of the employee at the 25th percentile, 
median and 75th percentile is set out below. The pay ratio 
shows the relationship between the total pay and benefits 
of the highest paid director (excluding pension benefits) and 
each point in the remuneration range for the organisation’s 
workforce.
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The Nominations and Executive Appointments Committee 
consists of three Non-Executive Directors (and the Chief 
Executive is in attendance when matters pertain to Executive 
Directors) and is chaired by the Trust Chairman.  The 
Committee met on three occasions to appoint a new Chief 
Executive following the departure of the previous postholder.  
The Committee also approved the appointment of an Acting 
Medical Director to enable the substantive Medical Director to 
act up as Chief Executive during the intervening period.

Remuneration of Chairman and  
Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive 
Directors is agreed by the Council of Governors following 
review by its Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. The 
Committee decided to implement the local discretion as 
set out in NHS England/Improvement guidance to award 
the supplementary payments in recognition of extra 
responsibilities and to distribute this across all Non-Executive 
Directors, remaining with the maximum recommended 
financial value for the Trust.  This was in recognition that all 
Non-Executive Directors chair a sub-committee of the Board. 
Details of this Committee are set out on p98.

Expenses 

In 2021/22 the Trust paid out a total of £nil (2020/21 - £470) 
in expense payments to nil (2020/21 - 1) Trust Board members 
and Senior Managers with significant financial responsibility. 
Further analysis of these expenses by Trust Board member 
is available on the Trust website at www.ashfordstpeters.
nhs.uk/board-member-expenses. The role of Governor of 
a Foundation Trust is voluntary but the NHS Act and the 
Constitution states that the Trust ‘may pay travelling and 
other expenses to members of the Council of Governors at 
rates decided by the Trust’. The Trust has a policy on such 
reimbursement and this was last approved in November 2019. 
In 2021/22 a total of £nil (2020/21 - £58) was paid out in such 
expenses to nil (2020/21 – 1) Governors.

2021/22 25th 
Percentile

Median 75th 
Percentile

Remuneration 22,866 33,111 41,902

Highest paid director to 
Remuneration ratio

11.3 7.8 6.1

2020/21 25th 
Percentile

Median 75th 
Percentile

Remuneration 22,199 29,655 40,681

Highest paid director to 
Remuneration ratio

10.5 7.8 5.7

Salary and pension entitlements of 
senior managers for the year to 31 
March 2022

The tables on the next page set out remuneration and 
pension benefit details for the reporting period.

Notes:

As the Trust does not maintain the level of 
detail required to calculate the remuneration of 
each temporary employee, the ‘Remuneration’ 
calculation only includes employees that have 
been employed on a permanent contract of 
employment. Staff employed on a bank contract 
/ agency contract have been excluded from the 
calculation. 

The reported annual salary for each whole 
time equivalent has been calculated using the 
appropriate spine point on the contractual pay 
scale or actual annual salary as at 31 March 
2022 where no pay scale is used.



2021-22 2020-21

Name and Title

Salary  
(bands of 

£5,000)

Benefits in 
Kind (Rounded 
to the nearest 

£100)

All pension- 
related 

benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500)

Total  
(bands of 

£5,000)

Salary  
(bands of 

£5,000)

Benefits in 
Kind (Rounded 
to the nearest 

£100)

All pension- 
related 

benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500)

Total  
(bands of 

£5,000)

Executive Team £000 £00 £000  £000 £000 £00 £000 £000

Suzanne Rankin, Chief Executive (Seconded to NHS Test and Trace  
from 1 June 2020 to 30 September 2020; left 31 January 2022)

165-170 34 - 170-175 140-145 36 - 145-150

Dr David Fluck, Medical Director (Acting Chief Executive from  
1 June 2020 to 30 September 2020 and then from 1 February 2022)

255-260 3 - 255-260 225-230 57 - 230-235

Simon Marshall, Director of Finance and Information 145-150 27 32.5-35.0 180-185 140-145 55 35.0-37.5 180-185

Louise McKenzie, Director of Workforce Transformation 135-140 7 30.0-32.5 165-170 130-135 85 35.0-37.5 175-180

Tom Smerdon, Director of Strategy and Sustainability 125-130 4 27.5-30.0 155-160 115-120 80 25.0-27.5 150-155

James Thomas, Chief Operating Officer 125-130 32 257.5-260.0 390-395 125-130 56 - 130-135

Andrea Lewis, Chief Nurse 125-130 - - 125-130 120-125 - - 120-125

Faris Zakaria, Acting Medical Director (from 1 June 2020 to 30 September 2020) - - - - 45-50 - 10.0-12.5 55-60

Shashi Irukulla, Acting Medical Director (from 1 February 2022) 20-25 - 5.0-7.5 30-35 - - - -

Chairman and Non-Executives

Andy Field, Chairman 45-50 - - 45-50 45-50 - - 45-50

Meyrick Vevers, Non-Executive Director 10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 - - 10-15

Neil Hayward, Non-Executive Director (to 30 June 2021) 0-5 - - 0-5 10-15 - - 10-15

Prof. Mike Baxter, Non-Executive Director (to 31 October 2020) - - - - 5-10 - - 5-10

Keith Malcouronne, Non-Executive Director (to 30 June 2021) 0-5 - - 0-5 10-15 - - 10-15

Chris Ketley, Non-Executive Director 10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 - - 10-15

Marcine Waterman, Non-Executive Director 10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 - - 10-15

Jane Dale, Non-Executive Director 10-15 - - 10-15 10-15 - - 10-15

Dami Adedayo, Non-Executive Director  
(from 1 November 2020; maternity leave October 2021 to March 2022)

5-10 - - 5-10 5-10 - - 5-10

Arun Thiyagarajan, Non-Executive Director (from 1 June 2021) 10-15 - - 10-15 - - - -

Chris Kane, Non-Executive Director (from 1 August 2021) 5-10 - - 5-10 - - - -

Fran Davies, Non-Executive Director  
(maternity cover October 2021 to March 2022)

0-5 - - 0-5 - - - -

A) Remuneration

a)  Page 61 sets out the reasons for the increase in the salary of the highest 
paid Director, the Trust’s Medical Director.  

b)  Benefits in kind relate to benefits for lease cars (please note that  
these costs are shown in £ hundreds and not £ thousands in line  
with NHSI guidance).

c) There were no annual performance-related bonuses paid. 

d) There were no long-term performance-related bonuses paid.

e) There were no payments for compensation for loss of office.

f)  The allowance for chairing a sub-Committee of the Trust Board has been 
distributed across all Non-Executive Directors.

g)  No other remuneration was waived by directors, no allowances were 
paid in lieu and there were no payments in respect of golden hellos.

The ‘All pension-related benefits’ value derived does not represent an 
amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is 
intended to provide an estimation of the benefit being a member of the 
pension scheme could provide

The pension benefit table that follows provides further information on the 
pension benefits accruing to the individual.
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Name and Title

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age  

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase 
in pension 

lump sum at 
pension age 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age at 

31 March 2022

(bands of 
£5,000)

Lump sum 
at pension 

age related 
to accrued 
pension at 

31 March 2022

(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at

1 April 2021

Real Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

in Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 

31 March 2022

Employer’s 
Contribution 

to Stakeholder 
Pension

(to nearest 
£100)

Executive Team £000 £00 £000  £000 £000 £00 £000 £000

Suzanne Rankin, Chief Executive n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a -

Dr David Fluck, Medical Director n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a -

Simon Marshall, Director of Finance and Information 2.5-5.0 - 40-45 65-70 664 29 717 -

Louise McKenzie, Director of Workforce Transformation 0-2.5 - 45-50 85-90 754 28 804 -

Tom Smerdon, Director of Strategy and Sustainability 0-2.5 - 25-30 45-50 459 23 502 -

James Thomas, Chief Operating Officer 12.0-12.5 27.5-30.0 35-40 70-75 353 175 548 -

Andrea Lewis Chief Nurse (from 13 December 2019) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a -

Shashi Irukulla, Acting Medical Director (from 1 February 2022) 0.0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 45-50 536 6 592 -

B) Pension Benefits

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially 
assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued 
by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued 
are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent 
spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable 
from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension 
scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another 
pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves 
a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in 
their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of 
their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies. The 
CETV figures and other pension details include the value of any 
pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. 
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to 
the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of 
pension service in the scheme at their own cost. 

Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the 
employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another 
pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market 
valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

 
 

Julie Smith 
Accounting Officer

29 September 2022

Notes:

a) Suzanne Rankin, David Fluck and Andrea Lewis opted out of the NHS 
Pension scheme in previous financial years.

b) James Thomas opted out of the NHS Pension scheme during 2020 and 
rejoined on 1 April 2021. This has led to a larger increase in figures for 
pension, lump sum and CETV.

c) As Non-Executive Directors do not receive pensionable remuneration, 
there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive 
Directors.

*CETVs do not allow for a potential future adjustment arising from the McCloud judgement
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Staff Report
Analysis of staff costs 

An analysis of staff costs is set out in the table below:

2021/22 2020/21

Total

£’000

Permanently 
Employed

£’000

Other

£’000

Total

£’000

Permanently 
Employed

£’000

Other

£’000

Salaries and wages 201,700 175,259 26,441 188,112 166,440 21,672

Social security costs 20,210 17,724 2,486 18,511 16,413 2,098

Apprenticeship levy 976 856 120 891 790 101

 Employer contributions to  
NHS Pension scheme

31,889 27,966 3,923 29,281 25,962 3,319

 Employer contributions to National 
Employment Savings Scheme (NEST)

36 32 4 32 28 4

Termination benefits - - - - - -

Agency/contract staff 17,182 - 17,182 13,266 - 13,266

Total gross staff costs 271,993 221,837 50,156 250,093 209,633 40,460

Recoveries from other organisations (10,403) (9,745) (658) (8,655) (8,153) (502)

Staff costs capitalised (516) (516) - (697) (697) -

Total staff costs 261,074 211,576 49,498 240,741 200,783 39,958

Other staff are those engaged on the objectives of the entity that do not have a permanent 
employment contract with the Trust. This includes employees on short-term contracts of 
employment, agency/temporary staff and inward secondments from other entities.

Employer contributions to the NHS Pension scheme in 2021/22 include £9,681,000 (2020/21 
£8,870,000) paid directly by NHS England on the Trust’s behalf. This follows an increase  in the 
contribution rate for employers of 6.3%.

Staff costs 2021/22

Salaries and wages 75.22% 

Social security costs 7.40% 

Apprenticeship levy 0.36% 

Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 11.71% 

Employer contributions to National Employment Savings Scheme (NEST) 0.01% 

Agency/contract staff 5.30% 

Average staff numbers 

The Trust’s average staff numbers in whole time equivalents (WTEs) during the year is shown 
below:

2021/22 2020/21

Total

No.

Permanently 
Employed

No.

Other

No.

Total

No.

Permanently 
Employed

No.

Other

No.

Medical and dental 634 634 - 608 608 -

Administration and estates 876 876 - 847 847 -

 Healthcare assistants and  
other support staff

1,029 1,029 - 920 920 -

 Nursing, midwifery and  
health visiting staff

1,045 1,045 - 1,007 1,007 -

Scientific, therapeutic  
and technical staff

318 318 - 310 310 -

Healthcare science staff 101 101 - 99 99 -

Bank and agency staff 870 - 870 731 - 731

4,873 4,003 870 4,522 3,791 731

The total of 4,873 WTE compares to 4,522 WTE for 2020/21. The largest part of our 
workforce is nursing and midwifery, and medical and dental staff who account for 42% of our 
permanent employees.

Staff in post as at 31 March 2022 

Nursing and Midwifery Registered 26% 

Add Prof Scientific and Technic 2.2% 

Additional Clinical Services 18.7% 

Administrative and Clerical 21.7% 

Allied Health Professionals 7.5% 

Estates and Ancillary 6.3% 

Healthcare Scientists 2.5% 

Medical and Dental 15.1% 
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Gender split 

Breakdown at the year end 
of the number of male and 
female staff in the following 
categories: 

• Directors

• Other senior managers

• All employees

• By pay band

Directors By pay band

Senior managers

All Perm/FTC staff

75%

72.5%

33.3% 66.7%

27.5%25%

Gender as % of 
Total Workforce

Headcount Numbers

Gender Exec Non Exec Total

Female 2 3 5

Male 4 6 10

Total 6 9 15

Pay Band

1 ?% ?%

Band 2 10.7% 4.9%

Band 3 8.7% 2.5%

Band 4 9.6% 1.7%

Band 5 13.9% 2.7%

Band 6 11.9% 2.3%

Band 7 7.4% 1.4%

Band 8 - Range A 3.2% 1.0%

Band 8 - Range B 0.8% 0.4%

Band 8 - Range C 0.4% 0.2%

Band 8 - Range D 0.3% 0.2%

Band 9 0.1% 0.1%

Exec 0.0% 0.1%

Medical & Dental 7.7% 7.4%

Non Exec 0.1% 0.1%

Other 0.1% 0.1%

Grand Total 75.0% 25.0%

Headcount Numbers

Gender Full Time
Part 

Time Total

Female 147 75 222

Male 74 11 85

Total 221 86 307

Headcount Numbers

Gender Full Time
Part 

Time Total

Female 2315 1193 3508

Male 1038 133 1171

Total 3353 1326 4679

Sickness absence data 

NHS sickness absence rates are published by NHS Digital at the following link:  
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates 

Staff turnover data 

NHS turnover data is published by NHS Digital at the following link: 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-workforce-statistics
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Workforce policies and actions applied 
during the financial year 

The Trust has a range of workforce policies which are 
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that they are up to date 
and relevant in line with any legislation and other changes. 
The policies are available and accessible to all staff on the 
internal Trustnet pages. 

All of our policies are subject to an Equality Impact 
Assessment process. This is a practical tool which enables us 
to identify potential discrimination and take appropriate steps 
to remove any potential disadvantage for a particular group. 
It provides a thorough and systematic analysis of a new or 
revised policy by assessing its likely impact on people with 
protected characteristics.

In the last 12 months we have undertaken a general review 
of around 11 policies which have included Conduct, Dignity 
at Work, Grievance, Appeals, Recruitment and Selection and 
Transition at Work (Gender Reassignment) Policy. The revised 
policies are being supplemented with additional written, 
frequently asked questions and presentation. Recruitment 
and Selection bite sized refresher training is being launched 
shortly for managers. 

Raising concerns 

We continue with our commitment to advancing a culture 
where all staff are positively encouraged to raise issues about 
safety, quality, and effectiveness of the service, and supported 
when they do so. The Freedom to Speak Up Guardian (FTSUG) 
is recognised as an independent and impartial source of 
advice and support to staff who want to raise a concern.

Staff can also access advice and support from colleagues in 
the human resources team and line management.  We have 
extended our pool of Freedom to Speak Up Ambassadors 
across the Trust and their role is to Champion Freedom to 
Speak Up principles, ensuring that staff are encouraged to 
speak up, know how to do so and that they understand that 
they will be supported when they do.

OH performance and flu & COVID 
campaign 

The Trust runs an annual flu vaccination programme for staff 
with a dual purpose of protecting our healthcare workers as 
well as protecting our patients and members of the public. 
In 2021 we also had the additional challenge of vaccinating 
our staff in line with the National COVID Vaccine programme, 

which was led jointly by Occupational Health and dedicated 
teams of peer vaccinators from across the Trust.   

In 2021/2022 86% of eligible staff were vaccinated as part of 
the COVID Vaccination programme and 66% of staff as part of 
the flu campaign.  

Countering fraud and corruption 
The Trust is committed to reducing fraud to an absolute 
minimum. This commitment is fully supported by the Trust 
Board and monitored on a regular basis by the Trust’s Audit 
and Risk Committee.

To achieve this, we work in partnership with BDO, a 
professional services firm which provides a dedicated NHS 
accredited counter fraud specialist (CFS) to the Trust. Our CFS 
is responsible for fraud awareness across the Trust and the 
investigation of any suspected or reported fraud activity. This 
work is supported by regular risk assessments and fraud and  
bribery prevention techniques. 

The Trust’s Counter-Fraud Strategy and Annual Work Plan 
aligns with the Government Functional Standard for Counter 
Fraud, which has been introduced to ensure consistency 
of approach across the public sector to protecting services 
against the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption. The 
functional standard replaced the NHS Counter Fraud 
Authority (NHSCFA) Standards for Providers, which the Trust 
was previously measured against.

In line with NHS Protect’s standard for providers, the key aims 
of our counter fraud strategy are as follows:

•  Strategic governance  - We support and direct anti-fraud, 
bribery and corruption work through regular monitoring 
of counter fraud activity at the audit committee, and by 
promoting adherence to the Trust’s fraud policy

•  Inform and involve  - We inform and involve all staff in 
the promotion, prevention and detection of anti–fraud, 
bribery and corruption work, ensuring that all are aware of 
their specific responsibilities in countering fraud, bribery 
and corruption

•  Prevent and deter  - Where appropriate, we publicise 
successful fraud, bribery and corruption cases to deter 
fraud and ‘fraud-proof’ policies and procedures to reduce 
the opportunity to commit fraud in high-risk business 
areas

•  Hold to account  - The Director of Finance and Information 
will authorise investigations of alleged fraud within the 
Trust and where appropriate endorse legal sanctions 
against those who have been found to have defrauded the 
Trust. 

Expenditure on consultancy 
During 2021/22 the Trust spent £1,825,000 on consultancy 
compared to £1,402,000 in 2020/21. The expenditure was 
across a number of different areas and projects with the 
largest spend relating to the Surrey Safe Care transformation 
programme.

Off-payroll engagements 

As a result of the Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector 
appointees published by the Chief Secretary to the Treasury 
in 2012, the Trust is required to disclose the number of off-
payroll engagements at a cost of over £245 per day.

In order to comply with the amended IR35 intermediaries’ 
legislation, and the guidance from NHS Improvement, the 
Trust notified all contractors that payments for engagements 
captured by IR35 would no longer be made gross after 
31 March 2017 and would be subject to deduction of tax 
and PAYE at source. As such there were no reportable off-
payroll engagements in existence during 2021/22 or as at 
31 March 2022 , as all payments are made net of tax and NI 
contributions, either through the Trust payroll or through the 
Trust’s arrangement with Plus Us and supporting employment 
agencies.

Disclosures are set out in the tables below.

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2021, for more 
than £245 per day:

No

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2022 -

For all off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2020 and  
31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day:

No

Number of temporary off-payroll workers engaged between 
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

-

Of which:

Number not subject to off-payroll legislation -

Number subject to off-payroll legislation and  
determined as in-scope of IR35

-

Number subject to off-payroll legislation and  
determined as out of scope of IR35

-

Number of engagements reassessed for compliance 
or assurance purposes during the year

-

In accordance with NHSI guidance the Trust supported 
the review, and implemented the changes, with regard to 
off-payroll appointments. The Trust’s policy on the use of 
off-payroll transactions in relation to highly paid staff, defined 
as those at a cost of over £245 per day, is to ensure that all 
senior level appointments are made through the payroll or 
through the Trust’s arrangement with Plus Us.

In respect of Trust Board members and senior managers with 
significant financial responsibility, details are set out in the 
table below:

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/ 
or, senior officials with significant financial responsibility, 
during the financial year 

-

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘Board 
members and/or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility; during the financial year (which includes both 
off-payroll and on-payroll engagements)

18

Further details on the remuneration of Trust Board members 
and senior managers with significant financial responsibility 
are set out in the Remuneration Report.
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Exit packages 

Details of exit packages agreed during the year to 31 March 2022 are set out in the following 
table:

Exit package cost band Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Total number of 
exit packages by 

cost band

<£10,000 - 4 4

£25,001 – £50,000 - 1 1

Total number of exit packages by type - 5 5

Total resource cost (£’000) - 45 45

In 2020/21 there were seven exit packages at a cost of £55,000 and all were for contractual 
payments in lieu of notice.

In respect of the non-compulsory departures agreed in 2021/22, all five were contractual 
payments in lieu of notice.

None of the exit packages were for Board members or senior managers with significant 
financial responsibility.
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Staff survey 
The National Staff Survey is run on a yearly basis and provides an insight into key areas of the employee experience of working 
at Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals.  The survey commenced in October 2021 with the overall results released in March 2022.   
This year 2,420 members of staff completed the survey, which equates to 56% of eligible staff and was well above the average of 
organisations in the comparison group at 46%. This is the highest response rate since 2017.

a) Key themes
The 2021 Staff Survey changed its focus slightly and aligned its responses to the NHS People Promise themes, and organisations 
were measured against the nine key areas of: 

 Whilst these were new themes, the 
questions were similar from previous 
years and our performance has 
remained consistent, and above average 
on all, but one of the areas. 

The 2021 survey also asked staff 
questions, relating to their experience 
during the COVID pandemic, which also 
aligned to the People Promise areas. 

Overall, the experience from staff was 
above average in all the themes, in 
comparison to other organisations. 

b) Staff engagement

A total of 117 questions are asked in 
the survey, which are split into five 
sections focusing on Your Job; Your 
Health and Well-Being; Your Team; 
Your Organisation and Your Manager.   
Of these areas, certain questions 
form a view on the organisations 
overall engagement of staff gained 
from their motivation at work, how 
they are involved with their work and 
patient care and whether they would 
recommend the organisation as a place 
to work and / or be treated at.
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The staff survey provides a snapshot 
of how staff feel at a point in time.  
However, we are aware that across the 
board the NHS is facing unprecedented 
times, which means as an organisation 
we need to work hard to attract, recruit 
and retain our staff. 

Therefore, our future priorities 
will be aligned to both local and 
national strategies, which focus on 
the recruitment and retention of 
staff.   The Trust currently has several 
transformation programmes relating to 
both infrastructure and workforce and, 
as an Exemplar Site, all interventions 
focusing on the workforce will align to 
the NHS People Promise.  

Key areas of focus will be:

•  Building on the Health and Wellbeing programme: with a focus specifically on 
financial wellbeing, offering staff benefits and rewards which can help them in 
their daily lives.  We will also look at how we can introduce more flexible working 
opportunities across the organisation to help retain staff who may not be able to 
work traditional, full-time hours. 

•  Improving Leadership Practices: with a focus on improving leadership and 
management capability and their visibility across the organisation.

•  Reward and Recognition: with a focus on developing the range of benefits that 
we can offer staff ranging from car lease schemes to on-site and key worker 
accommodation, to training and career development. 

•  Cultural Transformation: focusing on tackling discrimination, bullying and 
harassment. Supporting staff who had been victims of incidents, as well as 
developing internal cultures to allow for caring workplace cultures, with honest 
and restorative conversations.

Equality, diversity and inclusion
Our vision is to build leadership for inclusion at all levels 
inside the organisation and in the communities and networks 
we serve. We will do this by fostering a healthy, inclusive, 
compassionate, and respectful culture, where every member 
of the team feels valued and respected, and the Trust is 
a great place to work and to be a patient irrespective of 
background and we reflect the community we serve, and we 
role model and encourage others in our position as an anchor 
organisation.

Our workforce strategic objectives are linked to our Trust 
strategy. These are translated into deliverables in line with the 
People Plan and our Workforce Transformation programme.    

Our priorities include inclusive recruitment practices, an 
overhaul of our people practice policies to ensure we embed 
best practice approach and early resolution practice when 
dealing with concerns and issues relating to our staff. A focus 
on career development  through mentoring and tailored 
one to one support in helping people to achieve their career 
potential. 

Public sector equality duty (PSED)
We comply with this duty through the workforce race equality 
standard, workforce disability equality standard and gender 
pay gap reporting. 

Recruitment and promotion
We are undertaking a root and branch review of our 
recruitment and promotion practices with a focus on 
inclusion. We are particularly interested in understanding the 
barriers that applicants with protected characteristics may 
face and be able to address these so that our pool of potential 
employees continue to be widened and we become the 
employer of choice for all. We want to ensure that our staff 
are supported to progress and reach their career aspirations.

Education, learning and allyship
We are advancing equality through diversifying our education 
and learning programmes with bite-sized education sessions, 
designed to engage, support, and upskill our workforce.  An 
introduction to equality, diversity, and inclusion at foundation 
level is delivered to all new starters and will form part of our 
mandatory training programme. A comprehensive LGBTQ+ 
allyship programme which is underpinned by Rainbow 
badge initiative has been in place since 2019, with increasing 
membership year on year. Disability equality and race equality 
allyship programmes are being delivered to all our staff across 
the organisation. 

Diverse literature
Our knowledge services have played a key role in establishing 
diverse literature, available on e-platforms and hard copies 
across our libraries at both hospital sites. 

Further details of our equality diversity and inclusion work are 
available in our annual equality report. 

c)  Future priorities and targets



NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance

Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust recognises 
that the capability of the Trust Board of Directors and Council of 
Governors is critical to the success of the hospitals. Our ability to do 
what we do, and to do it well, will help us to serve our patients and 
our community.

The Trust strives to continuously improve its processes, in line with key national guidance, 
to ensure safe, high quality services for our patients, and to provide a clear framework 
within which our staff can thrive.

Each year we review our governance arrangements against the provisions of NHS 
Improvement’s Code of Governance which sets the standard for best practice and the 
following disclosures give a clear and comprehensive picture of the Trust’s governance 
arrangements and how we apply the main principles.

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to confirm that the Trust complies with 
the provisions of the Code of Governance or, where it does not, to provide an explanation 
which justifies departure from the Code in particular circumstances. For the year ending 31 
March 2022 the Trust complied with all the provisions of the Code of Governance published 
by NHS Improvement in 2014.

Board of Directors and the  
Council of Governors

The Board has agreed a Trust Governance Framework which 
describes the roles of the Board and the Council. This confirms 
that the Council will carry out its statutory duties (further 
detail is given in the section on the Council below) and will be 
consulted on the Trust’s forward plans.

The Board has agreed to meet formally and in public at least 
six times per year, and consider items under four broad 
agenda headings:

• Quality and safety

• Performance

• Strategy and planning

• Regulatory

In addition the Board meets in closed session, having 
published a framework setting out the types of matters 
normally dealt with in private. These typically include matters 
relating to individuals or matters of a commercial nature. The 
Board also meets quarterly in the Strategic Change Committee 
the primary purpose of which is to provide horizon scanning 
to inform understanding and assurance on delivery of the 
Trust strategy, to formulate new and evolving strategy, and to 
provide oversight, scrutiny and assurance to the Board on the 
success and impact of the Together We Care Strategy.

The unitary Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring 
the Trust complies with its License, the mandatory guidance 
issued by NHS Improvement, its Constitution and relevant 
statutory requirements and contractual obligations. The 
Board of Directors sets the Trust’s strategic aims, taking into 
consideration the views of the Council of Governors. The 
Board of Directors as a whole is responsible for ensuring the 
quality and safety of healthcare services, education, training 
and research delivered by the Trust.

The Council of Governors represents the interests of the 
local community, both members of the public and staff who 
are Foundation Trust members, and local stakeholders. The 
Council of Governors is not responsible for the day-to-day 
management of the organisation which is the responsibility 
of the Board of Directors, but the Council holds the Board to 
account via the Non-Executive Directors.

The Board has approved a formal Scheme of Delegation of 
Authority and Responsibility and within this Scheme there is 
a Schedule of Matters Reserved for the Board. This Scheme 
forms an important part of the Trust’s system of internal 
controls.

In the event of a dispute between the Board and the Council a 
dispute procedure is described in the Constitution.

Composition of the Board

The Board is made up of the Chairman, seven Non- Executive 
Directors, one Non-Executive Director Designate, and seven 
Executive Directors. The Trust Board Secretary attends all 
Board meetings.

The Council of Governors’ Nominations and Appointments 
Committee met on the following dates and endorsed the 
following recommendations during the year to the Council of 
Governors for ratification:

•  23 June 2021: The Non-Executive Director appointment 
and Associate Non-Executive Director to full NED 
appointment; and followed consideration of the proposed 
Appointment Process.

•  26 August 2021: The proposed process and appointment 
for Non-Executive Director Secondment to Cover 
Maternity Leave 2021.

•  4 October 2021: Proposed appointment process and 
timeline for Non-Executive Director Designate.

•  10 February 2022: The appointment of Non-Executive 
Director Designate.
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Introducing our Board of Directors

Andy Field, Chairman 

Andy Field was appointed as Chairman from September 2017 and was re-appointed 
for a further three year term in September 2020.

Previously a Non-Executive Director at Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust, his career includes 19 years as an Officer in the Royal Corps of 
Signals where he saw active service, followed by a variety of private sector roles, 
including Partner in Deloitte, Business Unit Director at Fujitsu, Chief Operating 
Officer of Tribal Group plc and latterly running his own company focusing on 
business transformation utilising technology innovation.

As well as his role with us, Andy is Chairman of CSH Surrey, an employee owned 
social enterprises delivering a range of community services across Surrey and Think 
Learning, a business that implements Learning Management Systems. 

Dami Adedayo, Non-Executive Director 

Dami obtained her MBBS and BSc Management from Imperial College London. She 
trained at hospitals in Surrey and London before qualifying as a GP and receiving her 
MRGCP. She was Chair of the Barnet Local Medical Committee for five years and a 
Director and Treasurer at London-wide Local Medical Committees and London-wide 
Enterprise Limited supporting and representing general practices across London 
before her appointment as Non-Executive Director in November 2020. In addition 
to working as a sessional GP, Dami is an Associate Medical Director at Hertfordshire 
Community Trust.

Dami chairs the People Committee and is a member of the Quality of Care 
Committee, and Strategic Change Committee.

Jane Dale, Non-Executive Director 

Jane was appointed in January 2020 and has an extensive and diverse background 
working within the NHS after joining in 1982 as a student nurse. After qualifying as a 
registered general nurse and then midwife, Jane worked in a variety of nursing roles 
before moving into management as a clinical governance manager for a primary 
care and community provider and commissioner. After this she was appointed 
Director of Clinical Care, responsible for pharmacy, primary care and community 
services.

Jane has a postgraduate masters in Healthcare Management and in 2009 she joined 
a large integrated Welsh Health Board where she was responsible for overseeing the 
improvement of quality and safety of services. Jane has also chaired national groups 
focused on the duty of candour and improving outcomes following complaints. Jane 
also has a post graduate certificate in Community Healthcare and is a registered 
specialist practitioner.   

Jane’s last post was Clinical Director for Healthcare Inspectorate, Wales; a National 
role covering the whole of the country, focusing on inspection, assurance, and 
improvement across all health service providers in Wales; and has recently co-
authored a national report with the Welsh Audit Office and is undertaking further 
governance review work with the Healthcare Inspectorate Wales.

Jane holds the role of Maternity Safety Champion, is Chair of the Quality of Care 
Committee and a member of the People and Strategic Change Committees.

Arun Thiyagarajan, Non-Executive Director 

Arun qualified from Imperial College London with MBBS (Distinction) and BSc. He 
has also obtained his MRCP (UK), MRCGP (UK) and an MPH from The London School 
of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. Lastly, he is close to completion of his Executive 
MBA from Imperial College Business School.

Arun is currently the Managing Director for BUPA UK’s Health Clinics, having 
previously held the role of Medical Director. He is also the Responsible Officer for 
BUPA UK.

Arun is particularly passionate about digital innovation in patient pathways and 
has previously implemented successful technological step-changes in NHS GP 
practices across London and Oxford. He has held a National Institute for Health 
Research (NIHR) award which has culminated in published research focusing on the 
provision of synchronous video consultations in primary care. He also has multiple 
peer-reviewed publications ranging from sexual health to breast cancer. Previous 
experience outside of medicine and management also includes asset services 
analysis at Morgan Stanley.

Arun was appointed to the role of Associate Non-Executive Director in November 
2020 and was appointed as Non-Executive Director in June 2021.

Arun is the Freedom to Speak-Up Guardian Non-Executive Director lead and is a 
member of the Audit and Risk, Strategic Change and Integrated Digital Committees.
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Neil Hayward, Non-Executive Director 

Appointed in July 2016, Neil has over 25 years’ experience working in large and 
complex businesses in the UK and internationally. He has held a number of executive 
Human Resources (HR) positions in both the private and public sectors, including 
at Post Office Ltd, the Ministry of Justice, Gallaher Group plc, Serco Group plc and 
Booker plc. Neil is also a Non-Executive Director at the National College of Advanced 
Transport and Infrastructure (NCATI) and the National Skills Academy for Rail (NSAR).

Neil was Chair of the Strategic Change Committee and a member of both the 
Modern Healthcare Committee and People Committee. Neil also sat on the 
Executive Directors’ Nomination and Appointments and Remuneration and 
Appraisal Committees.

Neil’s tenure as a Non-Executive Director ended in June 2021.  

Chris Ketley, Non-Executive Director  
 
Chris was appointed for a further three year term in February 2020. He has extensive 
senior executive experience and a proven track record in delivering commercial, 
brand and customer value across a variety of industry sectors, including healthcare, 
media, financial, motoring and energy services, with a particular focus on leadership 
in marketing, customer experience management, digital transformation strategy and 
programme development.

As General Manager of Membership and Marketing at the AA in the 1990s Chris 
led from inception the six-year development of the AA’s acclaimed 4th Emergency 
Service positioning and marketing campaign, the most successful in its history. He 
was an Executive Board member and the first Marketing Director for Amazon.co.uk 
in 1999 and then an Executive Board member for Zenith Media UK, where he was 
the founding Managing Director of its digital media communications agency, Zenith 
Interactive Solutions. He was also Co-Founder and CEO of Active Wellbeing,  
a healthcare brand in rehabilitation and recovery self-help.

Chris has subsequently focused on helping major service corporations with digital 
transformation consultancy including Aviva, HSBC Commercial Banking, Bupa UK, 
Vitality Health, BBC and EDF Energy, evolving their business models and ways of 
working through the development of digital transformation strategies and new change 
solutions.

Chris is Chair of the Integrated Digital Committee, a member of the Quality of Care 
Committee and Strategic Change Committee and sits on the Patient Experience 
Monitoring Group. Chris is co-Chair of the Joint Digital Assurance Committee for the 
Surrey Safe Care ePR Programme for ASPH and Royal Surrey Foundation Trust.

Chris Kane, Non-Executive Director

Chris joined the Trust in August 2021 and is an author, advisor and advocate with 
over 30 years experience in Corporate Real Estate sector having operated as the 
Vice President of International Corporate Real Estate for The Walt Disney Company, 
before acting as Head of Workplace at the BBC, where he was responsible for the 
creation of MediaCityUK in Salford, the redevelopment of Television Centre and 
oversaw the £1bn development of Broadcasting House.

He is a co-founder of Six Ideas a global community of thought leaders focused 
on workplace development and innovation and is interested in place making and 
innovation. Chris has extensive experience as a Non-Executive Director and currently 
serves on the Board of Elstree Film and TV Studios and has served on the boards 
of Laganside (Belfast) Development Corporation, Network Homes, NHS Property 
Services and Reach2 Academy. He also sits on the editorial board of the Corporate 
Real Estate Journal.

Chris chairs the Strategic Change Committee and is a member of the Modern 
Healthcare Committee and People Committee.

John Machin, Non-Executive Director Designate  
 
John joined the Trust in March 2022 as a Non-Executive Director (NED) 
Designate.

John is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
(ICAEW) with a career spanning five decades with KPMG in the UK, 25 years 
as a Financial Sector Advisory Partner where his clients were predominantly 
multinational banking institutions but also included BP and The Bank of England. 
John is passionate about helping values driven organisations, and the individuals 
within them, to realise their full potential through leveraging innovation and 
continuous learning and improvement. John is a Non-Executive Director at 
Central Surrey Health and is also passionate about sport and is Chairman for 
Puttenham Golf Club.

From July 2022 John will chair the Modern Healthcare Committee and the 
Charitable Funds Committee, as well as being a member of Strategic Change 
Committee and Audit and Risk Committee.
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Keith Malcouronne, Non-Executive Director  
 
Appointed in July 2016, Keith has a background in accountancy and consultancy 
with KPMG, specialising in audit and corporate finance internationally. Since 
then, he has developed experience as a Private Sector/NGO Non-Executive 
Director, particularly with World Vision UK as Chairman of its Board Finance, 
Audit and Risk Committee. Keith has completed five years Chairman of TickX 
Limited and continues as an Audit and Corporate Finance Partner at the City firm 
Acuity Professional Partnership LLP.

Alongside his corporate and NGO responsibilities, Keith has board experience 
with several educational and Christian charities, including as a Non-Executive 
Director of the Guildford Diocesan Boards of Finance and Education.

Keith chaired the Audit and Risk Committee, was a member of both the 
Integrated Digital and Charitable Funds Committees and sat on the North West 
Surrey End of Life Care Steering Group. Keith also serves as Non-Executive Lead 
for Freedom to Speak Up and Co-Chairman of the Surrey Safe Care Joint Digital 
Committee.

Keith’s tenure as Non-Executive Director ended in June 2021.

Meyrick Vevers, Non-Executive Director  
 
Appointed in July 2016, Meyrick has a significant CFO and Commercial Director 
background across multiple industries including Telecoms, Professional Services, 
FMCG and Film/TV. Within these industries Meyrick has experience of all aspects 
of commercial, financial, operational and business transformation within large 
international listed companies and smaller PE backed organisations.

Meyrick is a FCA (Fellow of the institute of chartered accountants) and is currently 
Finance Director of Datalec a company operating pan Europe on Data Centre 
Mechanical and Electrical fit outs. Aligned to his professional background Meyrick 
is also an experienced Non-Executive Director in both public and private sectors 
including being Chair of the Audit Committee for National Archives.

Meyrick chairs the Modern Healthcare and Charitable Fund Committees and is a 
member of the Strategic Change Committee. In his position as Senior Independent 
Director chairs the Executive Directors’ Remuneration and Appraisal Committee.

Meyrick is also a member of the Audit and Risk Committee, and Executive Directors’ 
Nomination and Appointment Committee.

Marcine Waterman, Deputy Chairman

Marcine was appointed in April 2018 and brings over 30 years’ experience in public 
finance to the role, and is skilled in helping public sector organisations achieve good 
governance and value for money.

Her early career experience was in American politics, working for the White House 
and Ernst and Young (USA). This was followed by over 20 years at the UK’s Audit 
Commission in a range of high profile roles, culminating in her appointment as 
Controller of Audit (Chief Executive). In this role she oversaw the successful closure of 
the organisation in March 2015, before being appointed as the first Chief Executive 
of the Single Source Regulations Office (the new economic regulator for defence 
procurement).

Marcine chairs the Audit and Risk Committee and is a member of the Modern 
Healthcare, Charitable Fund, and Strategic Change Committees. Marcine is also a 
member of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration and Appraisal and Nomination 
and Appointment Committees.

Marcine is the lead Non-Executive for the Healing Arts.

Suzanne Rankin, Chief Executive 

Suzanne joined Ashford and St Peter’s in December 2010 as the Chief Nurse before 
securing the post of Chief Executive in September 2014.

Prior to joining the Trust, she held the post of Deputy Chief Nurse for NHS South 
Central where she worked across the region in the implementation of the Nursing 
and Midwifery Strategy as well as many clinical quality improvement and assurance 
initiatives.

Prior to that, Suzanne’s nursing and management career was exclusively with the 
Royal Navy and included deployment during the 1990 Gulf War; a spell as Senior 
Nursing Officer at NATO HQ Lisbon and deployment to both Iraq and Afghanistan. 
Her final post with the Royal Navy was within the Surgeon General’s Department at 
the Ministry of Defence.

Since appointment to the role of Chief Executive in 2014 Suzanne has focused on 
creating the “right culture” with Team ASPH enabling the delivery of the highest 
quality care and treatment. Suzanne and her team launched a new strategy for the 
organisation in 2018 the delivery of which is centred on a major transformation 
programme. The transformation of ASPH is orientated around five strategic 
initiatives which will require innovation, digitisation, standardisation and a focus on 
people and collaboration in order to be successful.

Suzanne was interested in the role that Ashford and St Peter’s has as an “anchor 
organisation” a concept first developed in the US, that refers to large, typically 
non-profit, public sector organisations whose long-term sustainability is tied to 
the wellbeing of the populations they serve. Anchors get their name because they 
are unlikely to relocate, given their connection to the local population, and have a 
significant influence on the health and wellbeing of communities. In pursuance of 
this role for the Trust Suzanne worked to develop relationships with a wide range 
of public, private and social entrepreneurial partners in health but also education, 
housing and business.

Suzanne left the Trust end of January 2022.
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Dr David Fluck, Medical Director

David studied medicine at St Bartholomew’s Hospital, qualifying in 1986, 
and continued training as a Physician, and then Cardiologist, in London at St 
Bartholomew’s, Guys, The Hammersmith, St Mary’s and The London Chest. He 
obtained his MRCP(UK) and Medical Doctorate and was appointed jointly between 
St George’s and St Peter’s in 1996. He was instrumental in developing Interventional 
Cardiology, Cardiac Pacing and Complex Echocardiography at St Peter’s during 
the time of the merger between Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals. He also later 
established the Cardiac Institute between Royal Holloway and Ashford and St 
Peter’s.

He is a Fellow of the Royal College of Physician; a Member of The British Cardiac 
Society and the British Cardiac Intervention Society. He held the posts of Honorary 
Clinical Senior Lecturer at Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine 
2001- 2006, Postgraduate Tutor from 2002- 2006 and Clinical Lead on the West 
Surrey Cardiac Network 2005-2008. He became the Clinical Director for Medicine 
in 2006, and was appointed to Deputy Medical Director in 2010, before being 
appointed to his current role of Medical Director in 2012. He continues to practice 
as a Cardiologist and currently holds the roles of Caldicott Guardian, Responsible 
Officer, Director of Infection Prevention and Control and Medical Director. 

David acted as the Interim Chief Executive Officer from end January to beginning of 
May 2022. 

Andrea Lewis, Chief Nurse 

Andrea Lewis was appointed as Chief Nurse in October 2020 having been interim 
Chief Nurse since December 2019.

Andrea has worked in the Trust for over five years, her previous roles prior to 
the Chief Nurse role were as Deputy Chief Nurse-Corporate Services, Associate 
Director of Operations for Emergency Services and Associate Director of Operations 
for Theatres, Anaesthetics, Surgery and Critical Care. In each of these roles she 
has gained a great breadth of knowledge and experience, and formed strong 
relationships with colleagues across the Trust.

Prior to working at the Trust, Andrea spent twenty-one years in the Army within the 
Queen Alexandra’s Royal Army Nursing Corps, where she worked clinically before 
taking on a number of healthcare management roles. She has deployed with Field 
Hospitals to Bosnia and Iraq and latterly was in charge of the UK Military Hospital in 
Camp Bastion, Afghanistan.

Simon Marshall, Director of Finance and Information 

Simon has a degree in Economics and qualified through the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy. Following ten years working with Price Waterhouse 
Coopers on finance assignments across central government, local government, 
health, education and charitable sectors he joined the NHS in 2002. Starting as 
Finance Director for Hounslow Primary Care Trust, Simon moved in 2005 to become 
the Finance Director for the West Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust before 
joining the Trust as Director of Finance and Information in May 2012. Simon is 
responsible for the finance, procurement, information and technology functions.

Simon also is the Senior Responsible Officer for the Surrey Safe Care (Cerner EPR) 
Programme. 

Louise McKenzie, Director of Workforce Transformation 

Louise McKenzie joined the Trust in April 2013. She is a Member of the Chartered 
Institute of Personnel Development and holds a degree in Public Administration. 
Louise has worked in the NHS since 1994, in a number of Associate and Director 
level roles at Guys and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust, Bromley Hospitals and 
South London Healthcare NHS Trust.

In her time at Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals she has worked closely with 
colleagues to improve the Trust resourcing and has a special interest in staff 
experience, morale, psychological safety and workforce wellbeing. Under Louise’s 
leadership the Trust has won national Healthcare People Management Awards for 
two consecutive years in 2017 for Excellence in Employee Engagement, and 2018 
for HR Working Smarter.

Louise is co-chair of the South Region HR Directors network working closely with 
regional and national colleagues from NHS Employers and NHS Improvement. She is 
a member of the Enterprise M3 Skills Advisory Panel, a group made up of chambers 
of commerce, university, higher education and local employment partners across 
Surrey and Hampshire, developing skills and talent to ensure economic growth in 
our local industries and sectors.

Shashi Irukulla, Interim Medical Director

Shashi was appointed Deputy Medical Director in July 2021 and was appointed 
as a Consultant Upper GI and Bariatric Surgeon in August 2011 and led the 
implementation of several Trust services including the Oesophageal Physiology 
Lab and acute gallbladder surgery. He was the lead for higher surgical training 
until January 2018 when he was appointed as Divisional Director for Theatres, 
Anaesthetics and Critical Care Division. During this time, he has also been an interim 
Divisional Director for two other clinical divisions.

In addition to his roles within the Trust, Shashi has overseen various projects to 
improve the patient journey including the Elective Surgery Project at Ashford.

He has also worked on the Bariatric Surgery Expansion Project, a collaborative 
piece of work with Frimley Park, Medway, and Royal Surrey County Hospitals’. More 
recently, Shashi has led the Vascular Transformation Programme, to safely and 
effectively centralise ASPH’s vascular services. The ESAC unit has been developed 
under Shashi’s clinical leadership, enabling more efficient delivery of certain 
procedures for patients.

Shashi was appointed as Interim Medical Director in January 2022, whilst Dr David 
Fluck stepped into the interim CEO role.
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Significant Commitments of the Trust 
Chairman

Andy Field is Non-Executive Chairman of Think Learning, 
Chairman of Central Surrey Health Limited, and Honorary 
President of the North West Surrey Branch of the NHS 
Retirement Fellowship.

Balance of Board Membership and 
Independence

The Board of Directors is satisfied that its balance of 
knowledge, skills and experience is appropriate to the Board 
and its sub-committees. 

The Board has evaluated the circumstances and relationships 
of individual Non-Executive Directors which are relevant to 
the determination of the presumption of independence. The 
Board determines all of its Non-Executive Directors to be 
independent in character and judgement.

All Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman, make 
declarations concerning their independence with the last 
annual review taking place in October 2020.

Performance evaluation

The Board of Directors recognises that a regular evaluation 
of its collective and individual director performance is critical 
to continuous development and high performance. During 
2021/22 we have continued to build on the work previously 
identified in 2020/21 and further examined our development 
needs in order to collectively improve our performance. In 
January 2022 the Board commissioned an external Well Led 
Governance review, which found the Board to be operating at 
a good level; the output of the report will continue to inform 
Board development activity going forward. 

The Board has designed and implemented robust 
performance evaluation processes, structures and systems in 
accordance with the Code of Effective Corporate Governance 
within the public sector and the Guide to statutory duties for 
NHS Foundation Trust Governors (published by NHS Monitor 
(now part of NHS Improvement). The Chairman of the Trust 
undertakes the appraisal of the Chief Executive and the 
Non-executive Directors. The appraisal of the Non-Executive 

Directors is conducted by the Chairman in accordance with 
the process agreed by the Council of Governors. The Chief 
Executive undertakes the appraisal of the Executive Directors.

 Chairman

The Senior Independent Director will conduct the Chairman’s 
appraisal process in accordance with best practice in the code 
of governance, and this will be reported to the Council of 
Governors at their meeting in September 2022.

In addition the performance of members of the Board is 
assessed in terms of the following:

• Attendance at Board and Committee meetings

• Independence of individual directors

•  An effective contribution to the Board and Committees 
through the range and diversity of experience and skills

•  Strategic decision making and delivery of the Trust’s 
forward plan

The Council of Governors holds the Non-Executive Directors 
independently and collectively to account for the performance 
of the Board, and does this through receiving performance 
information and a process of constructive challenge at Council 
of Governor meetings and seminars with the Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors.

Access to the Register of Directors’ 
Interests

Members of the public can gain access to the Register of 
Directors’ Interests on our website or by making a request to 
the Trust secretary, either at St Peter’s Hospital, Guildford Rd, 
Chertsey, KT16 0PZ, or via email: 
asp-tr.board@nhs.net or on 01932 723110.

Tom Smerdon, Director of Strategy and Sustainability 

Tom was appointed Director of Strategy and Sustainability in March 2019 and 
leads on strategy development and implementation, both internally at a Trust 
level and externally. His focus is on developing and transforming our services 
to deliver our strategic objectives in a sustainable way. This includes ensuring 
that ASPH services work effectively in an integrated health and care context and 
have a real impact on population health and wellbeing. Tom also holds executive 
responsibility for Estates and Facilities.

Tom was previously in the role of Director of Operations for Unplanned Care 
and has managed clinical operations in the NHS at a senior level since 2005. This 
experience has included managing elective, emergency and specialist services 
at UCLH and Great Ormond Street Hospital. Tom joined Ashford and St Peter’s in 
2013 as Associate Director of Operations for Medicine and Emergency Services.

He has a degree in Geology and MScs in Environmental Management and 
Healthcare Leadership for Quality Improvement. Prior to joining the NHS Tom held 
management positions in environmental consultancy and research and learning 
and education.

James A Thomas, Chief Operating Officer 

James was appointed Chief Operating Officer in March 2019 having joined the Trust 
in 2015 as Associate Director of Operations for Theatres, Anaesthetics, Surgery 
and Critical Care, and went on to become Director of Operations for Planned Care 
the following year. James cemented his passion for the NHS through working as a 
volunteer at his local hospital, whilst at Sixth Form College.

After working as a hospital porter he then went on to join the NHS graduate 
Management Training Programme working in placements across acute, community, 
mental health and commissioning organisations in NHS Wales. James first joined 
Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals in 2003 as Assistant General Manager for Surgery, 
and then went on to take progressively senior operational management roles 
in general hospitals, specialist hospitals and university teaching hospitals across 
London and the South West, before returning to Ashford and St Peter’s in 2015.

James has a BA (Hon) Degree in Business and Economics, MSc Management of 
Health and Social Care and is a graduate of the Kings Fund Top Leaders Programme.
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Board Sub Committees

The Board of Directors has the following sub committees:

• Audit and Risk Committee

• Modern Healthcare Committee

• Quality of Care Committee (QCC)

• Strategic Change Committee

• Integrated Digital Committee

• Nominations Committee (Executive Directors)

• Remuneration Committee (Executive Directors)

• People Committee

• Charitable Funds Committee

Audit and Risk Committee

Membership and Attendance

The Audit and Risk Committee is chaired by Non-Executive 
Director Marcine Waterman, and includes two other Non- 
Executive Directors. Internal Audit (BDO LLP), External Audit 
KPMG LLP and the Local Counter Fraud Specialist are all 
invited to attend the meetings.

Discharging its responsibilities

The Audit and Risk Committee assures the Trust Board 
that there is an effective system of integrated governance, 
risk management and internal control across the whole of 
the Trust’s activities that supports the achievement of the 
organisation’s objectives. In addition financial reporting and 
counter fraud measures are also reviewed. In doing this 
the Audit and Risk Committee primarily utilises the work of 
internal audit, external audit and other external bodies. The 
Audit and Risk Committee approves the annual work plans 
of internal audit, external audit and the Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist.

At its meeting in June 2022 the Audit and Risk Committee 
reviewed and noted four significant audit opinion risks, in 
terms of their potential impact on our financial statements, 
set out as follows:

•  Land and buildings are required to be held at fair value. 
As hospital buildings are specialised assets and there is 
not an active market for them, they are usually valued 
on the basis of the cost to replace them with a ‘modern  
equivalent asset’. The value of the Trust’s land and 
buildings at 31 March 2022 was £170m. Significant 
additions were made in year through Assets Under 
Construction of £19m, with a further £5m through 
purchase. A full valuation was undertaken as at 31 March 
2019, with an interim valuation performed at 31 March 
2022. Given the total value of land and buildings the 
valuation and related accounting entries are a significant risk;

•  As the Trust is set a control total by NHS Improvement 
for its expected financial performance, there is a risk that 
non-pay expenditure, may be manipulated in order to 
report that the control total has been met. The setting of 
a control total can create an incentive for management 
to overstate the level of non-pay expenditure compared 
to that which has been incurred. The Trust has generated 
a retained surplus for the year of £6.8m, and therefore 
may have an incentive to overstate expenditure in 
2021/22. KPMG consider that this would be most likely 
to occur through overstating accruals and pre- payments, 
to bring forward expenditure from 2022/23 to mitigate 
financial pressures in future years; 

•  Professional standards require KPMG to make a 
rebuttable presumption that the fraud risk from revenue 
recognition is a significant risk. KPMG recognise that the 
incentives in the NHS differ significantly to those in the 
private sector which have driven the requirement to 
make a rebuttable presumption that this is a significant 
risk. These incentives in the NHS include the requirement 
to meet regulatory and financial covenants, rather than 
broader share based management concerns. As the 
Trust is required to meet a control total at the end of 
the year this may create an incentive for revenue to 
be manipulated in order to achieve budgeted financial 
performance. KPMG anticipate that this would occur 
through manipulation of year end income accruals 
or deferred income to decrease the level of income 
reflected in the financial statements. As much of the 
Trust’s income for 2021/22 has been contracted on 
a block basis the risk will be focused on the variable 
elements of NHS income and other income the Trust has 
received during the year; and

•  Professional standards require KPMG to communicate 
the fraud risk from management override of controls 
as significant. Management is in a unique position to 
perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate 
accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial 
statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear 
to be operating effectively. KPMG have not identified any 
specific additional risks of management override relating 
to the audit.

Board meetings

The Board met in open session six times during 2021/22 and in closed session 11 times during 
2021/22 Directors’ attendance was as follows:

End of term of office Open Board 
Meetings 
attended

Closed Board 
Meetings 
attended

Non-Executive Directors
Dami Adedayo* November 2023 3 of 3 5 of 6

Jane Dale January 2023 6 of 6 13 of 15

Fran Davies** February 2022 3 of 3 8 of 9

Andy Field September 2023 6 of 6 15 of 15

Chris Kane August 2024 4 of 4 8 of 10 

Chris Ketley February 2023 6 of 6 11 of 15

Neil Hayward June 2021 1 of 1 2 of 3

Keith Malcouronne June 2021 0 of 1 2 of 3

John Machin*** August 2024 1 of 1 1 of 1

Arun Thiyagarajan**** November 2023 4 of 5 8 of 12

Meyrick Vevers July 2022 5 of 6 14 of 15

Marcine Waterman April 2024 6 of 6 12 of 15

Name End of term of office Open Board 
Meetings 
attended

Closed Board 
Meetings 
attended

Executive Directors

Dr David Fluck***** Medical Director 6 of 6 13 of 15

Shashi Irukulla****** Acting Medical Director 1 of 1 1 of 1

Andrea Lewis # Chief Nurse 4 of 6 9 of 15

Simon Marshall Director of Finance and 
Information

5 of 6 15 of 15

Louise McKenzie Director of Workforce 
Transformation and 
Organisational Development

6 of 6 13 of 15

Suzanne Rankin******* Chief Executive 4 of 4 12 of 12

Tom Smerdon Director of Strategy and 
Sustainability

6 of 6 11 of 15

James A Thomas Chief Operating Officer 4 of 6 9 of 15

1.  * Dami Adedayo was on maternity leave October 21 to March 22

2.  ** Fran Davies covered Dami Adedayo’s period of maternity leave 

3.  ***John Machin was in attendance as Non-Executive Director Designate

4.  **** Arun Thiyagarajan was appointed to full Non-Executive Director end June 2021

5.  ***** David Fluck, Interim Chief Executive end January to beginning of May 2022

6.  ****** Shashi Irukulla, Acting Medical Director Feb-Mar 2022

7.  ******* Suzanne Rankin left the Trust end of January 2022

8.  # Deputy attended in September 2021 and March 2022.
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Strategic Change Committee

The Committee is chaired by Non-Executive Director Chris 
Kane and membership includes all Board members. The 
Committee’s role is to provide strategic leadership to the Trust 
and to provide oversight, scrutiny and assurance to the Board 
on the success and impact of the Together We Care Strategy.

The Committee will also take a longer term view and help to 
formulate the strategy for the organisation including major 
service developments, partnerships, mergers and acquisitions.

Integrated Digital Committee

The Integrated Digital Committee is chaired by Non-Executive 
Director, Chris Ketley and membership comprises the 
Chairman and two other Non-Executive Directors. Other 
members include the Chief Executive, Director Finance and 
Information, Medical Director, Chief Nurse, Chief Operating 
Officer and Director of Strategy and Sustainability. The 
Committee’s role is to provide assurance on the Trust’s digital 
strategy, the prioritisation and development of its digital 
assets, programme of work and partnerships and to provide 
oversight of data quality and information security. It also has a 
role in ensuring staff education in the benefits that technology 
will bring and the changes needed in work practices and 
culture for its effective delivery. The Committee also keeps 
under regular review the strategic risks for which it has 
responsibility.

Charitable Funds Committee

The Committee is chaired by Meyrick Vevers, Non-Executive 
Director, and membership includes the Chairman and two 
other Non-executive Directors, the Chief Nurse and Director 
of Finance and Information and two public governors are in 
attendance.

The Committee is responsible for the overall management 
of the Charitable Funds and provides strategic direction in 
accordance with objects and fulfilment of public benefit; and 
ensures compliance with governing documents, laws and 
obligations imposed by donors.

The Committee is accountable to the Trust Board (as 
corporate Trustee) for the proper use of the charitable funds 
and to the public as a beneficiary of those funds.

Policy for Safeguarding External Auditors’ 
Independence

The Council of Governors approved the appointment of KPMG 
as the Trust’s external auditors in February 2022.

Responsibility for Preparing the Annual 
Accounts

The Chief Executive is the Trust’s designated Accounting 
Officer with the duty to prepare the financial statement for 
each financial period in accordance with the National Health 
Service Act 2006.

Modern Healthcare Committee

The Committee is chaired by Non-Executive Director Meyrick 
Vevers. The Committee includes two other Non- Executive 
Directors, Director of Strategy and Sustainability and the Chief 
Operating Officer, the Director of Finance and Information and 
the Medical Director.

The Modern Healthcare Committee’s role is to review the 
financial and operational performance, position, risks and 
decision-making of the Trust. It gives assurance to the Board 
that this process of review is satisfactory and draws matters of 
importance to their attention.

Nominations Committee (Executive Directors)

The Nominations Committee comprises the Trust Chairman, 
Andy Field, who chairs the Committee, and three other 
Non-Executive Directors. The Committee is responsible 
for appointing Executive Directors including Interim 
appointments. The Committee is also responsible for ensuring 
that there is an appropriate balance of skills, knowledge 
and experience on the Board of Directors, and this includes 
succession planning taking into account the challenges and 
opportunities facing the Trust.

Remuneration Committee (Executive 
Directors)

A description of the work of the Remuneration Committee 
can be found within the Remuneration Report. Attendance 
at meetings by its members is set out in the table below. The 
Committee is chaired by Senior Independent Director, Meyrick 
Vevers, the Chairman and two other Non-Executive Directors 
sit on the committee.

Quality of Care Committee

The Committee is chaired by Non-Executive Director Jane 
Dale, and includes two other Non-executive Directors, the 
Chief Executive, Medical Director, Chief Nurse, Director 
of Strategy and Sustainability and Chief Operating Officer, 
Chief of Patient Safety, Associate Director of Quality, Chief 
Pharmacist, and the Divisional Directors.

The Quality of Care Committee has a duty to ensure that the 
Trust’s governance systems, behaviours and processes relating 
to risk management, clinical and non-clinical governance, 
the impact of performance on quality and safety, and the 
achievement of organisational objectives are effective, and 
provide the Board with the assurance on these duties to 
enable the Board to govern effectively. The Committee works 
in association with the Audit and Risk Committee in matters of 
corporate governance.

People Committee

The Committee is chaired by Non-Executive Director, Dami 
Adedayo and membership includes two other Non-Executive 
Directors, the Chief Executive, Director of Workforce 
Transformation and Organisational Development, Chief Nurse, 
Medical Director, and Director of Strategy and Sustainability 
and Chief Operating Officer.

The Committee’s role is to provide assurance to the Board 
on workforce supply and demand, the development and 
delivery of the Trust’s workforce, leadership, organisational 
development, education and training, equality and diversity 
and employee wellbeing strategies and a detailed review and 
challenge of the workforce and organisational development 
aspects of the Board Assurance Framework.
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Details of Directors’ membership of Board sub 
committees and number of meetings attended are 
(including formal Council of Governors meetings):

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nominations 
Committee

Quality of Care 
Committee

People  
Committee

Modern 
Healthcare 
Committee

Integrated  
Digital Committee

Strategic  
Change 
Committee

Charitable  
Funds  
Committee

Council of 
Governors  
(in attendance)

Dami Adedayo n/a n/a n/a 3 of 3 4 of 4 n/a n/a 1 of 2 n/a 1 of 1

Jane Dale n/a n/a n/a 6 of 6 5 of 6 n/a n/a 3 of 3 n/a 2 of 4

Fran Davies n/a n/a n/a 3 of 3 # n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Andy Field n/a 3 of 3 3 of 3 n/a n/a 1 of 1 ## 4 of 4 3 of 3 3 of 3 4 of 4 ##

David Fluck n/a 1 of 1* 1 of 1* 5 of 6 4 of 6 7 of 9 4 of 4 3 of 3 n/a 4 of 4 

Neil Hayward n/a n/a n/a n/a 1 of 1 1 of 2 n/a 1 of 1 n/a 0 of 1

Shashi Irukulla n/a n/a n/a 1 of 1 ### 0 of 1 1 of 1### n/a n/a n/a 0 of 1

Chris Kane n/a n/a n/a n/a 1 of 4 5 of 6 n/a 2 of 2 n/a 2 of 3

Chris Ketley n/a n/a n/a 5 of 6 n/a n/a 4 of 4 3 of 3 n/a 1 of 4

Andrea Lewis n/a n/a n/a 5 of 6 2 of 2 n/a 3 of 4 2 of 3 n/a 3 of 4

John Machin n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 1 of 1 #####

Keith Malcouronne 1 of 1 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 1 of 1 0 of 1 n/a 0 of 1

Simon Marshall n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 9 of 9 3 of 4 3 of 3 3 of 3 4 of 4

Louise McKenzie n/a 3 of 3** 3 of 3** n/a 6 of 6 n/a 3 of 4 3 of 3 n/a 4 of 4

Suzanne Rankin n/a 2 of 2** n/a 5 of 5 5 of 5 n/a n/a 3 of 3 n/a 1 of 3

Tom Smerdon n/a n/a n/a n/a 3 of 6 9 of 9 2 of 4 3 of 3 3 of 3 3 of 4

Arun Thiyagarajan n/a n/a n/a n/a 1 of 1 #### n/a 4 of 4 2 of 3 n/a 1 of 4

James A Thomas n/a n/a n/a 6 of 6 3 of 6 9 of 9 2 of 4 3 of 3 n/a 2 of 4

Meyrick Vevers 5 of 5 3 of 3 3 of 3 n/a n/a 9 of 9 n/a 3 of 3 3 of 3 2 of 4

Marcine Waterman 5 of 5 3 of 3 3 of 3 1 of 1 3 of 3 7 of 9 n/a 3 of 3 3 of 3 3 of 4

Notes

1.  # Covered Dami Adedayo’s maternity leave

2.   ## Andy Field is Chair of the Council of Governors/
Attended as NED delegate

3.  ###  Attended as interim medical director

4.  #### Chaired the Committee to cover maternity leave

5.  ##### John Machin was appointed in March 2022

6.  * Attended as interim CEO

7.  ** In attendance
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Council of Governors

How the Board of Directors and the Council 
of Governors operate

The Board recognises the value and importance of engaging 
with Governors in order that the Governors may properly 
fulfil their role as a conduit between the Board and 
Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s 
stakeholders.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the effective 
running of the organisation, whilst the Council of Governors 
holds the Non-Executive Directors to account for the 
performance of the Board of Directors. The Council does 
not delegate any of its statutory decision making to its 
committees or individual Governors, since the Constitution 
provides for committees to undertake advisory work only, 
with all decisions requiring ratification in a general Council 
meeting.

In addition to the role of listening to, and reflecting back, the 
views of the membership to the Board and vice versa, the 
Council of Governors exercises statutory duties enshrined in 
law. These include the appointment of, and, if necessary, the 
removal of Non-Executive Directors and determining their 
remuneration. The Council also appoints an External Auditor 
and ratifies the appointment of the Chief Executive. The 
Council approves any changes to the Trust Constitution and 
any significant transactions the Trust may wish to enter into 
as defined within the Constitution. The Council has the right 
to be presented with the Annual Report and Accounts and 
to be consulted on forward plans being made by the Board. 
These roles provide a clear context for the Board to run the 
Trust, the execution of which is achieved through the Chief 
Executive and the Executive Team.

Understanding the views of the Council and 
Members

Engagement by the Board with Governors takes many 
forms. In 2021/22 the constructive working relationship has 
continued with discussion on a number of matters both in 
and out of Council meetings. As well as the quarterly Council 
meetings the Board and Governors also meet twice a year 
to discuss strategic issues and input into the Trust business 
plan. The Governors also have four dedicated meetings with 
the Non-Executive Directors to discuss Trust business and 
anything they would like further input on.

 

There are regular seminars and informal meetings open to 
all Governors and hosted by the Executive Team, Chairman 
and Chief Executive. All Governors have the support of the 
Membership and Engagement Manager to help them fulfil 
their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to attend the Council of 
Governors’ formal meetings. Governors have continued to 
take up the opportunity to attend the open Board meetings.

Composition of the Council

There are 24 seats on the Council of Governors including:

• 14 public governors covering five of the six constituencies;

• five staff governors covering five staff constituencies; and

• five appointed governors from partnership organisations.

The Chairman of the Board is also the Chairman of the Council 
of Governors. The Council of Governors appointed Shirley 
Holmes (Public Governor for Woking and Guildford) as the 
Lead Governor in January 2022.

The Council meets formally four times each year. Details of the 
membership of the Council and the attendance of Governors 
are included in the table ‘Register of Governors’. Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors are also invited to attend the Council 
meetings.

Council of Governor elections were held in October/
November 2021 with all vacancies being filled apart from the 
Rest of England position.  Successful candidates were elected 
for a three year term of office from 1 December 2021 to 30 
November 2024.  By-elections were also held at the same 
time in the constituencies of Elmbridge and Spelthorne and 
candidates were elected for a one year term from  
1 December 2021 to 30 November 2022.

We would like to acknowledge the contribution made by 
those Governors that came to the end of their maximum 
three terms or stood down in 2021: 

•  Chris Marks, Public Governor for Runnymede, Surrey 
Heath, Windsor and Maidenhead

•  Danny Sparkes, Public Governor for Runnymede, Surrey 
Heath, Windsor and Maidenhead

•  Neal Adolphus, Public Governor for Spelthorne

•  Rose Chandler, Appointed Governor for Spelthorne 
Borough Council

•  Sinead Mooney, Appointed Governor for Surrey County 
Council

•  Julian Ruse, Staff Governor for Administrative and Clerical, 
Managerial and Ancillary 

•  Óscar Garcia-Casas, Staff Governor for Medical and Dental

Access to the Register of Interests

All Governors are required to comply with the Trust’s code 
of conduct and declare any interests that may result in a 
potential conflict of interest in their role as Governor of the 
Trust. Members of the public can gain access to the Register 
of Governors’ Interests which is available on the Trust’s 
website at: http://www.ashfordstpeters.nhs.uk/what-is-an-ft 
or by making a request via the Membership and Engagement 
Manager at St Peter’s Hospital, Guildford Road, Chertsey, 
KT16 0PZ, or via email asp-tr.foundationtrust@nhs.net or by 
telephone on 01932 722063.

Contacting a Governor

Members who wish to contact their Governor(s) can do this 
via the Membership Office at St Peter’s Hospital, Guildford 
Road, Chertsey, KT16 0PZ or calling 01932 722063. In addition, 
a special e-based communication form is available via www.
ashfordstpeters.nhs.uk.

Statutory Council of Governors’

Committees

The Council of Governors has two Committees carrying out 
specific statutory duties. Details are provided below.

Nomination and Appointments Committee

The Nominations and Appointments Committee provides 
the Council of Governors with independent and objective 
recommendations in respect of the names of those individuals 
they consider suitable for appointment as Non-Executive 
Director to the Board of Directors.

Membership and attendance is given below:

The Committee met seven times during 2021/22 
recommending to the Council:

•  Recommended Deputy Chairman’s reappointment for a 
further three year term;

•  Considered NED appointment process;

•  Recommended NED appointment and Associate NED to 
full NED role;

•  Considered the proposed process and secondment to 
cover NED maternity leave;

•  Considered appointment process/timeline for NED 
Designate to replace Meyrick Vevers (term of office ends 
30 June 2022);

•  NED shortlist/longlist meeting;

•  Recommended NED Designate appointment.

Nominations and Appointments 
Committee

Meetings 
attended

Neal Adolphus (Public Governor  
for Spelthorne)

2 0f 2

David Carpenter  
(Public Governor for Elmbridge)

6 of 7 

Andy Field  
(Trust and Committee Chairman) 

7 of 7 

Hina Malik (Public Governor for Hounslow, 
Kingston-upon-Thames and Richmond-
upon-Thames)* 

7 of 7 

Chris Howorth  
(Appointed Governor for the Royal 
Holloway, University of London)

7 of 7

Julian Ruse  
(Staff Governor for Administrative and 
Clerical, Managerial and Ancillary staff)

5 of 5

Michael Smith  
(Public Governor for Woking and Guildford)

7 of 7

*Joined Committee August 2021

**New staff governor to be appointed from Jan 2022
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Membership numbers  
as of 31 March 2022 

Public 61% 
7,096

Staff 37% 
4678

Volunteers 2% 
200

11,974
Total

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee makes 
recommendations to the Council of Governors concerning 
the remuneration and terms of appointment of any Non-
Executive Director and endorses their appraisals.

The Committee met four times during 2021/22 
recommending to the Council:

•  Considered the Non-Executive Directors’ level of 
remuneration for 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022

•  Considered the Chairman’s level of remuneration for  
1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022 

•  Considered the full year appraisal for the relevant Non-
Executive Directors and

•  Considered the full year appraisal for the Chairman.

Membership and attendance is given below:

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee Meetings 
attended

Lilly Evans  
(Public Governor for Runnymede, Surrey 
Heath, Windsor and Maidenhead)

4 of 4

Shirley Holmes  
(Public Governor for Woking and Guildford)

3 of 4

Deborah Hughes  
(Appointed Governor from Woking 
Borough Council

4 of 4

Danny Sparkes  
(Lead Governor and Public Governor for 
Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor and 
Maidenhead)

4 of 4

Matt Stevenson  
(Staff Governor for Allied Health 
Professionals, Healthcare Scientists and 
Healthcare Assistants)

4 of 4

Foundation Trust membership

Members fall into two constituencies:

Public Constituency; anyone living in the boroughs 
of Elmbridge, Guildford, Hounslow, Kingston-upon-
Thames, Richmond-upon-Thames, Runnymede, 
Spelthorne, Surrey Heath, Windsor and Maidenhead 
and Woking; as well as any borough in Surrey not 
already mentioned above, can become a member. 
In October 2020 the Council of Governors agreed 
to have a Rest of England constituency which would 
incorporate the previous Rest of Surrey constituency 
and allow for members that resided in areas outside 
the Trust’s immediate catchment area.

Staff Constituency; any permanent member of staff, 
including registered volunteers, can be a staff member. 
There are five classes which each elect one Governor:

1. Nursing and midwifery

2. Medical and dental

3. Ancillary, administrative, clerical and managerial

4.  Allied health professionals, healthcare scientists 
and healthcare assistants

5. Volunteers

Staff are automatically members unless they decide to 
opt out.
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Developing our membership

The Membership and Community Engagement Group of the Council of Governors 
was set up in March 2011 and leads on developing and implementing the 
Membership Strategy together with improving communications between Governors 
and members. The strategy was reviewed in June 2018 and contains targets for 
membership with a particular focus on areas where we know the Trust needs to 
develop a more representative membership:-

•  To increase membership in the marginally underrepresented areas of Hounslow, 
Kingston-upon-Thames and Richmond-upon-Thames

• To increase membership in the 14-16 and 30-39 age groups

In addressing these priorities, the Trust continues to be mindful of hard to reach 
groups. Before COVID and the lockdown, it was possible to attend a careers’ fair 
at Ashford Hospital and many students and job seekers wishing to pursue a career 
in the NHS were encouraged to become a member. The Group has been keen to 
encourage membership engagement activities and also considers ways of facilitating 
two way communications with members. Surveys have been utilised in the past and 
will continue to feature.

Feedback is encouraged through the Governor Contact form on the Trust’s 
website and via personal communications either written or spoken. The Trust 
holds a number of Members’ Health Events throughout the year which provide a 
presentation and question and answer session on a number of health-related topics. 
Events were curtailed during 2021/22 due to the ongoing COVID pandemic but the 
Annual Members’ Meeting went ahead and took place virtually. Health events are 
extremely popular with members and the Trust receives positive feedback on the 
content and the opportunity it provides for members to converse with Governors.  
It is hoped that these will resume in the near future.

Feedback is also welcomed and discussed by Governors who are members of the 
Patient Experience Group. The Group meets five times a year and the Head of 
Patient Experience and Involvement/Associate Director of Quality is invited to attend 
to report on patient experience and also to enable issues and concerns to be raised 
and appropriate actions taken.

Since the pandemic, meetings have continued virtually. The Group usually visits 
departments and wards and meets senior clinical and nurse managers in order to 
be more effective in sharing the improvement of the patient experience. The Group 
was fortunate to be able to undertake a guided tour of the new Infusion Suite at 
Ashford Hospital before the lockdown. Since the pandemic department heads have 
been invited to attend virtual meetings to share the work they are undertaking.

Name (Constituency / Organisation) Date elected or appointed Term of office Meetings 
attended

Mark Adams (Appointed Governor – Runnymede Borough Council) 27th Jul 2021 9 months to 30/04/22 2 of 2

Edwin Addis (Public Governor – Hounslow, Kingston-upon-Thames and 
Richmond-upon-Thames)

1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 4 of 4

Neal Adolphus (Public Governor – Spelthorne) 1st Dec 2019 2 years, 9 months  
to 26/08/21

1 of 1

Miranda Alcock (Public Governor – Woking and Guildford) 1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 0 of 4

Frances Ansell (Public Governor – Elmbridge) 1st Dec 2021 1 year to 20/11/22 2 of 2

Derek Barnes (Public Governor – Spelthorne) 1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 4 of 4

Sue Bell (Public Governor – Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor and 
Maidenhead)

1st Dec 2021 3 years to 20/11/24 2 of 2

Tracey Bradshaw (Staff Governor – Nursing and Midwifery) 1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 4 of 4

Andy Brown (Staff Governor – Volunteers) 1st Dec 2021 3 years to 20/11/24 2 of 2

David Carpenter (Public Governor – Elmbridge) 1st Dec 2019 (2nd term) 3 years to 30/11/22 3 of 4

Rose Chandler (Appointed Governor – Spelthorne Borough Council) 14th July 2020 1 year to 30/06/21 1 of 1

Melaine Coward (Appointed Governor – University of Surrey) 1st Mar 2017 N/A 3 of 4

Lilly Evans (Public Governor – Runnymede, Surrey Heath and Windsor  
and Maidenhead)

1st Dec 2021  
(3rd term)

3 years to 30/11/21 1 of 4

Oscar Garcia-Casas (Staff Governor – Medical and Dental) 1st Dec 2018 3 years to 30/11/21 1 of 2

Emma Gilmore (Public Governor – Spelthorne) 1st Dec 2021 1 year to 30/11/22 0 of 2

Shirley Holmes (Public Governor – Woking and Guildford) 1st Dec 2021 (2nd term) 3 years to 30/11/24 4 of 4

Colin Hood (Public Governor – Spelthorne) 1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 4 of 4

Chris Howorth (Appointed Governor – Royal Holloway, University of 
London)

1st Dec 2010 N/A 4 of 4

Deborah Hughes (Appointed Governor – Woking Borough Council) N/A 4 of 4

Mohamed Imam (Staff Governor – Medical and Dental) 1st Dec 2021 3 years to 20/11/24 1 of 2

Hina Malik (Public Governor – Hounslow, Kingston-upon-Thames and 
Richmond-upon-Thames)

1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 3 of 4

Chris Marks (Public Governor – Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor and 
Maidenhead)

1st Dec 2018 3 years to 30/11/21 2 of 2

Sinead Mooney (Appointed Governor – Surrey County Council) 1st Aug 2018 3 years 1 month to 1/09/21 2 of 2

Aidan Parsons (Staff Governor – Ancillary, Admin, Clerical and Managerial) 1st Dec 2021 3 years to 20/11/24 1 of 2

Helen Pernelet (Public Governor – Elmbridge) 1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 2 of 4

Julian Ruse (Staff Governor – Administrative and Clerical, Managerial and 
Ancillary)

1st Dec 2018 3 years to 30/11/21 2 of 2

Denise Saliagopoulos (Appointed Governor – Spelthorne Borough 
Council)

15th Jul 2021 N/A 1 of 3

Michael Smith (Public Governor – Woking and Guildford) 1st Dec 2019 3 years to 30/11/22 4 of 4

Danny Sparkes (Public Governor – Runnymede, Surrey Heath and 
Windsor and Maidenhead)

1st Dec 2018 
(3rd term)

3 years to 30/11/21 2 of 2

Matthew Stevenson (Staff Governor – Allied Health Professionals, 
Healthcare Scientists)

1st Dec 2019 
(2nd term)

3 years to 30/11/22 3 of 4

Sylvia Whyte (Public Governor - Runnymede, Surrey Heath, Windsor and 
Maidenhead)

1st Dec 2021 3 years to 20/11/24 2 of 2

Register of Council of Governors - 2021
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NHS Oversight Framework 
NHS England and Improvement is the official regulator of 
Foundation Trusts.

NHS England and Improvement’s NHS Oversight Framework provides the framework 
for overseeing providers and identifying potential support needs.

The framework looks at five themes:

• Quality of care

• Finance and use of resources

• Operational performance

• Strategic change

• Leadership and improvement capability (well-led)

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, 
where ‘4’ reflects providers receiving the most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers 
with maximum autonomy. A Foundation Trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where 
it has been found to be in breach or suspected breach of its licence.

Segmentation

The Trust has a segmentation rating of ‘2’.

This segmentation information is the Trust’s position at 6 May 2022. Current 
segmentation information for NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts is published on the 
NHS Improvement website.
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EMISSIONS SAVED 
PER VIRTUAL 
APPOINTMENT

600g

Sustainability Report

“The choices we make individually and as a society to prevent climate 
change will also improve our health with the potential to reduce the 
pressure on our overburdened health services – both now and for 
future generations”. (Professor Sir Andy Haines, 2021)

Climate change is recognised as an international emergency with a direct link to ill health 
that promotes health inequalities in our population. The combustion of fossil fuels is the 
primary contributor to ill-health from air pollution; over one-third of new asthma cases 
might be avoided with reductions in carbon emissions (NHSE 2021). Heat related deaths 
are projected to rise to 7,000 a year by the 2050s. Flooding events harm physical and 
mental health. Warmer temperatures risk new vector-borne diseases emerging. As seen 
with COVID, the effects of climate change will not be felt equally and will likely be shaped by 
pre-existing inequalities (Health Foundation 2021). This clearly shows why ASPH must take 
responsibility for minimising our carbon footprint.

The NHS is responsible for approximately 4% of England’s carbon emissions and in October 
2020 the NHS declared an ambition to make the NHS carbon net-zero by 2045. As with all 
NHS providers, ASPH have developed a Green Plan setting out how we will work towards 
carbon net-zero in areas like transport, energy usage and loss in our buildings, using 
renewable energy, waste and recycling, greener outside spaces and much more. Our first 
Green Plan for 2021 – 2024 contains measurable goals to drive our organisation towards 
carbon net zero by 2045.

Delivery of our Green Plan is overseen and driven by a Trust Green Group, with project and 
task groups to deliver specific actions that have an impact on our carbon footprint. The 
following highlights areas of key impact in the past year:

Transport

Emissions from diesel and petrol vehicles is one of the largest contributor to our carbon 
footprint, covering not only trust vehicles and business mileage, but also staff journeys 
to work and patient journeys to attend the hospital. ASPH vehicles have met the EURO 6 
engine standards for 2 years now, resulting in an estimated 10 tonne reduction in carbon 
emissions per year compared to 2019. In the past year the Trust’s car fleet has been 
converted to electric, and there are plans to convert the Trust’s fleet of vans to electric by 
the end of 2022, which will then save a further 10 tonnes of carbon emissions per year. 
Free staff travel continues on the White Bus from Woking to St Peter’s enabling staff to 
leave their cars at home and maintain the reduced emissions this achieved in previous 
years. The Trust’s Bicycle User Group (BUG) was established last year and acts to encourage 
staff to use their bikes to travel to work, with improved storage and security for bicycles on 
site and working with the council on improving cycle routes around St Peter’s Hospital in 
2022. A renewed focus upon car sharing for staff commutes is also planned this year.

The catering team have reduced the number of weekly deliveries from suppliers by 20% 
to reduce large vehicle miles and are now sourcing their food from nearby suppliers, also 
impacting significantly on vehicle miles.

During the pandemic telephone and video outpatient appointments became widely used, 
saving patients car journeys to attend hospital. In 2021-22 ASPH conducted 464,893 

outpatient appointments, with 146,609 (32%) of these 
being virtual meaning 146,609 journeys to our hospital 
were avoided for patients. Previous studies confirmed an 
average of 600g of emissions saved per OPD attendance 
avoided, meaning a total of 87.7 tonnes of vehicle emissions 
were saved across the year. This is despite the large rise 
in Outpatient activity as we seek to reduce waiting times 
following the pandemic.

Medicines

Our pharmacy team has made significant cost savings by 
reusing and recycling unused medicines saving £20,000 per 
month whilst reducing waste. Anaesthetic gases have been 
shown to contribute greatly to NHS carbon emissions, so this 
past year, the theatres teams have taken action to reduce 
the amount of Desflurane anaesthetic gas from an average of 
11.4 cylinders per month in 20/21 to 3 cylinders per month 
in 21/22. A pioneering new project is starting this year to 
reduce the usage of aerosol inhalers where clinically safe and 
find sustainable ways to recycle used inhalers.

Waste and recycling

ASPH now buys only recycled paper, and in the coming year 
we expect to reduce overall paper usage significantly with the 
new Surrey Safe Care electronic patient record system going 
live in May 2022.

Our Waste Action Group (WAG) is delivering a range of 
projects to reduce waste and increase recycling, which has 
an impact on the volume of waste collections required, 
thereby reducing miles from large diesel vehicles too. A new 
project to reduce the amount of single use plastic gloves 
is beginning, as reducing single use plastics is a priority for 
us going forward. Our catering team is also working hard 
to reduce the quantity of disposable cups and cutlery by 
encouraging staff to use crockery and their own mugs and 
utensils instead.

10
TONNES
REDUCTION IN CARBON 
EMISSIONS PER YEAR 
COMPARED TO 2019.

Green spaces

We have planted 38 tree saplings at St Peter’s, looking to 
create a woodland grove for staff and visitors to enjoy the 
outdoors during their breaks and whilst walking to the bus- 
stop. Large wooden planters kindly made by a local charity 
employment skills project have been installed by the St Peter’s 
main entrance and in the staff garden with shrubs and plants 
kindly donated by local businesses. The outdoor space at 
Ashford Hospital was also redeveloped with the help of a local 
charity group of volunteers.

Anchor work in communities

ASPH continues to make many new partnerships with local 
community groups and the voluntary sector, which confirms 
our ongoing commitment to Anchor principles – recognising 
the positive and negative impacts a large organisation like 
ASPH can have on our local communities and citizens. We 
are a key partner within the North West Surrey Alliance of 
statutory and non-statutory organisations, working closely 
with councils, charity sector, faith and community groups, 
education and business, as we all strive through partnership 
working to support communities in North West Surrey to live 
happier healthier lives whilst reducing inequalities.

Future ambitions

In the coming year we plan to deliver our Green Plan and 
this starts with a comprehensive baselining exercise of our 
current carbon footprint using the new national NHS tools 
for this purpose. We will consult with Trust staff this summer 
to determine where their passions lie too, and this will also 
inform our priority actions designed to deliver maximum 
impact on reducing our carbon footprint towards a net zero 
NHS by 2045.

Sue Wales 
Head of Strategic Transformation
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The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the 
Accounting Officer of the NHS Foundation Trust. The relevant 
responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their 
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public 
finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping 
of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS 
Improvement.

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred 
on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has given Accounts 
Directions which require Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required 
by those Directions. The accounts are prepared on an accruals 
basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and 
of its income and expenditure, other items of comprehensive 
income and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts and overseeing the use of public 
funds, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care’s 
Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS 
Improvement, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting 
policies on a consistent basis

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
(and the Department of Health and Social Care’s Group 
Accounting Manual) have been followed, and disclose and 
explain any material departures in the financial statements

• Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the 
relevant legislation, delegated authorities and guidance 

• Confirm that the annual report and accounts , taken 
as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and 
provides the information necessary for patients, regulators 
and stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust’s 
performance, business model and strategy

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis 
and disclose any material uncertainties over going concern. 

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the NHS Foundation 
Trust and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply 
with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act. 
The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information 
of which the foundation trust’s auditors are unaware, and 
I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that 
information. This included a comprehensive handover of 
governance arrangements with Dr David Fluck who undertook 
the role as Acting Chief Executive and Accounting Officer 
between January 2022 and my commencement in post at the 
beginning of May 2022.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly 
discharged the responsibilities set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Julie Smith 
Chief Executive

29 September 2022
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Scope of responsibility

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining 
a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims 
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and 
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am 
also responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is 
administered prudently and economically and that resources 
are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge 
my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to 
a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure 
to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on 
an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives 
of Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 
to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and 
the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal 
control has been in place in Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2022 and 
up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk

Risk Management is a corporate responsibility and the Trust 
Board has ultimate responsibility for ensuring that effective 
processes are in place. The Trust Board is committed to the 
continuous development of a framework to manage risks in a 
structured and focused way in order to protect patients, staff 
and the public from harm and to protect the Trust from losses 
or damage to its reputation.

The risk and control framework

This section outlines the key ways risk management is 
embedded in the activity of the Trust, the main elements of 
the Trust’s quality governance arrangements, performance 
information assessment and assurance regarding CQC 
compliance monitoring. Also outlined is how the Trust assures 
the validity of its Corporate Governance Statement. Specific 
disclosures on the pension scheme, equality and diversity, and 
climate change follow.

Risk management

The Trust’s approach to risk for the year 2021/22 is detailed 
in the Risk Management Strategy and sets out our systematic 
approach to achieving effective risk management strategically, 
operationally and culturally. We aim for all our staff to 
understand and act proactively so that we maximise our 
success going forward and minimise things going wrong for 
our patients, staff and stakeholders. Senior managers and 
Directors are trained in risk management on joining the 
organisation and subsequently in accordance with the Trust’s 
Mandatory Training Policy. This strategy aligns with the Trust 
Strategy.

The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy outlines the building 
blocks for managing risk and the way in which our risk 
profile will be incorporated in the Corporate Risk Register. 
Oversight of the Corporate Risk Register is undertaken by 
the Trust Executive Committee which is chaired by the Chief 
Executive and submitted to Trust Board via the Audit and Risk 
Committee for scrutiny and assurance purposes.

As part of the Trust’s approach to risk management each 
sub-board committee has agreed their risk appetite to be 
exercised in relation to the strategic objective for which it 
has oversight and is documented within the Board Assurance 
Framework (BAF) and is a standing item on Committee 
agendas. The Board Assurance Framework provides the 
means of assuring that the Trust will achieve its strategic 
vision and mission and has oversight by the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

The Board Assurance Framework is reviewed at each meeting 
of the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Trust has sought to learn and share good practice through 
rigorous assessment of the Corporate Risk Register and to 
cascade this information both to and from relevant Divisional 
teams through constructive challenge, training and support. 
Divisional risk management is through Divisional Boards and 
Governance Meetings with exception reporting to the Risk 
Scrutiny Committee.

All Divisions monitor their quality and financial risks regularly 
within each divisional governance framework and are 
reviewed on a bi-monthly basis at Risk Scrutiny Committee 
and high scoring risks are recorded on the Corporate Risk 
Register which is reviewed at the Trust Executive Committee 
each month.

A risk assessment matrix is used to ensure a consistent 
approach is taken to assessing and responding to risks 
identified. The Trust’s strategic framework is based on five 

key strategic objectives: quality of care, people, modern 
healthcare, digital, and collaborate. Each sub-board 
committee decide, taking into account the grading of each 
risk, whether it is appropriate to tolerate, transfer, terminate 
or treat the risk. The rating for each risk will be matched to a 
certain level of management within the organisation.

 Key issues and risks

During 2021/22 each sub-committee has undertaken a 
continuous process of re-assessing and redefining the key 
risks associated with the strategic objective for which the 
committee has responsibility to deliver. The Board Assurance 
Framework takes into account both external and internal 
factors and uncertainties, as part of our risk management 
process, and as such we have identified the following key risks 
to our strategic objectives which are summarised below:

Strategic objective: Quality of care

1.1   Inability to deliver against key Quality Improvement Priorities and thereby reduce the incidence 
of repeated and/or avoidable harm to patients from medication errors, episodes of poor care, 
and avoidable mortality, due to insufficient capacity and capability.

1.1a   Inability to achieve the North Star Objective to end health and care acquired infections (and 
associated harm) for the team, patients, and the community, due to insufficient capacity and 
capability.

1.2   Inability to improve and achieve outstanding patient experience, through an inability to harness 
and optimise learning from patient and family feedback, due to insufficient capacity and 
capability.

Strategic objective: Modern healthcare 

2.1  Inability to live within the new financial framework envelopes (when announced) due to the 
likely requirements to run elective work during winter, undertake or outsource additional catch-
up activity, whilst reconfiguring / expanding bed, diagnostic and outpatient capacity, and given 
existing staffing constraints.

2.2  A failure to maintain the Trust’s physical environment and clinical infrastructure, may lead to 
clinical pathway difficulties, deteriorating patient and staff experience, patient safety, and health 
and safety risks.

2.3   A failure to deliver constitutional and operational targets leading to increased patient delay, 
poor patient experience, increased patient safety risks, increased outsourcing or activity and 
corresponding loss in productivity / efficiency.

2.4  The myriad of changes to operational arrangements, supply/demand, social distancing 
requirements and increased staff absence from COVID may have substantial impacts on our 
previous productivity / efficiency and financial standing.

2.5  Potential external impacts from the Surrey Heartlands ICS overall financial, activity level, and 
waiting list positions as well as requirements for mutual aid.  
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Trust obtains assurance regarding its Corporate 
Governance Statement via internal audit, review by the Audit 
and Risk Committee and via an external audit opinion.

Our core quality assurance committees are Quality of Care 
Committee (QCC) which reports to Board, the Safety and 
Quality Committee (SQC), and the Clinical Effectiveness and 
National Audit Review Group. Divisional and Specialty Boards 
report into this structure.

Performance monitoring

Compliance with, and delivery of, the quality indicators within 
Trust contracts is actively monitored at Board and through 
QCC, SQC, and supporting Divisional and Specialty Boards. 
Operational performance is overseen at monthly Performance 
Committee, Specialty Boards, and in Divisional Governance 
Forums. 

Data quality and information security updated

The Data Security and Protection Toolkit18 (DSPT) enables 
NHS organisations to self-assess against the National Data 
Guardian’s 10 data security standards to provide assurance 
that they are implementing good data security, and that 
personal information is handled correctly. The Trust’s 
assessment for 2021/22 will be submitted by 30 June 2022.

CQC compliance

The Quality of Care Committee (QCC) monitors the Trust’s 
assurance activities in respect of its registration with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) and receives information from 
divisional governance reports. CQC compliance is assessed 
using a variety of mechanisms including self-assessment 
against the Regulations through the Ward Accreditation 
Programme, Mock CQC Inspection, internal audit and 
divisional governance monitoring.

The Trusts overall CQC rating is unchanged and remains ‘good’.

The rating combines Trust level quality ratings of safe, 
effective, caring, responsive and well-led with the NHSI 
assessment of the Use of Resources. Each registered site 
receives its own overall rating and both Ashford Hospital and 
St Peter’s Hospital were rated as ‘‘requires improvement’.  The 
latest Trust and site report was published 27 January 2022.

The Trust received a requirement notice against Regulation 
12, Safe care, and treatment, of the Health and Social Care Act 
(RA) Regulations 2014. The Trust acted upon the requirements 
by introducing work programmes for the necessary theatre 
maintenance and servicing of medical devices.

Other improvement areas continue to be regularly monitored 
to ensure ongoing compliance with CQC standards.

The foundation trust is fully compliant with the registration 
requirements of the Care Quality Commission.

Strategic objective: Collaborate 

5.1  Internal strategic risk: There is a risk that the benefits of the Trust strategy are not delivered. 
This is caused by a lack of capacity and/or oversight and would result in the desired effect 
and intended benefits of the strategy not being achieved or that sustainability of patient care 
becomes significantly challenged.

5.2  External strategic risk: There is a risk to delivery of the Trust current strategy. This is caused 
by ineffective or insufficient focus on stakeholder management or by external factors such as 
decisions taken by national, ICS, ICP which may not correspond or may adversely impact delivery 
our objectives or undermine our service sustainability.

Strategic objective: People

4.1  Inability to accurately model workforce requirements, may result in failure to align workforce 
supply, to meet current and future acuity and demand, resulting in a misalignment with both the 
service requirement and/or the financial plan

4.2 Unable to staff to current and future demand resulting in a negative staff and patient experience.

4.3  Individuals and teams do not feel listened to, empowered and valued resulting in a negative 
impact on staff and patient experience

4.4  Individuals and teams are emotionally and physically affected as a result of the pandemic which 
may result in inability to deliver operational demand and impact on patient care and patient 
experience

Strategic objective: Digital

3.1  There is a risk that the anticipated outcomes to improve quality and safety integral to the Trust 
strategy may be compromised if the Surrey Safe Care programme is subject to undue delay or if 
the initial go-live scope is significantly reduced.

3.1a  There is a risk that the Surrey Safe Care programme may be subject to further implementation 
issues which would impact the agreed deployment timeline and accompanying financials

3.3  Critical Systems Maintenance and Replacement: Failure of key IT systems could lead to issues of 
patient safety, experience or quality risks, or process delays.

3.4  Known cyber security and data protection breaches could threaten the provision of IT systems, 
leading to issues of patient safety, experience or quality risks, or process delays.

3.5  Unknown cyber security and data protection breaches could threaten the provision of IT systems, 
leading to issues of patient safety, experience or quality risks, or process delays.

3. ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT



113112 ANNUAL REPORT and ACCOUNTS | 1 April 2021 to 31 March 20223. ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT



115114 ANNUAL REPORT and ACCOUNTS | 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022

Register of interests

The Trust has published on its website an up to date register 
of interests for Trust Board members as required by the 
Managing Conflicts of Interest in the NHS guidance.

NHS Pension Scheme

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS 
Pension Scheme, control measures are in place to ensure all 
employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations 
are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the 
Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that 
member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.

Equality, diversity and human rights legislation

Control measures are in place to ensure that of all the 
organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human 
rights legislation are complied with.

Climate change

The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and has 
plans in place which take account of the ‘Delivering a Net Zero 
Health Service’ report under the Greener NHS programme. 
The Trust ensures that its obligations under the Climate 
Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources

The resources of the Trust are managed through various 
measures, including an established and tested budgetary 
control system, the consistent application of internal financial 
controls and effective procurement and tendering procedures.

The Modern Healthcare Committee is a sub-committee of the 
Trust Board and meets nine times per year, chaired by a Non-
Executive Director. It has overall responsibility for monitoring 
operational performance, and also reviews workforce and 
finance reports as well as specific update reports against 
the Service Level Reporting, Cost Improvement Programme, 
Getting it Right First Time, Model Hospital and Capital 
Investment agendas. The Trust Board obtains assurance from 
the Modern Healthcare Committee in respect of all aspects 
of economy, efficiency and effectiveness, of financial and 
budgetary management and the use of Trust resources.

Each Division has a Divisional Director, who is a clinician and 
is actively involved in the business and devolved financial 
management of clinical services. Divisional scorecards are 
used to assess each Divisions performance at a specialty and 
ward level.  Bi-monthly Executive-Divisional review meetings 
are held with each division, a forum in which all aspects of 
performance are reviewed.

The Trust has continued to produce Service Line Reporting 
(SLR) and Patient Level Costing data during the year although 
the use of this by divisional teams was impacted upon by 
the COVID pandemic. All COVID additional expenditure 
was reviewed in real time by the Director of Finance 
and Information and retrospectively by the Modern 
Healthcare Committee to ensure it was in line with national 
requirements.

Business cases and the financial evaluation of new 
investments are reviewed on a monthly basis, with 
subsequent approval by the Commercial Group, Trust 
Executive Committee, Modern Healthcare Committee or Trust 
Board according to the Scheme of Delegation. Service line 
information is used in support of clinical business cases.

Our Internal Auditors include value for money considerations 
in their audit scope and action points.

Information Governance 

Information Governance Assessment

The Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) enables 
NHS organisations to self-assess against the National Data 
Guardian’s 10 data security standards to provide assurance 
that they are implementing good data security, and that 
personal information is handled correctly.

Data Security and Protection Toolkit Self-Assessment 
Outcome

The submission date for 2021/22 was 30 June 2022. The Trust 
has now completed its annual internal audit of the Toolkit, the 
final report will be available by the end of June 2022.

Information governance personal data breaches 
(including data losses)

All Trust staff have a duty to report incidents such as breaches 
of confidentiality, however minor, so that lessons can be 
identified and used to inform future practice. All information- 
related incidents reported in 2021/22 were assessed in 
accordance with NHS Digital’s guidance:

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) as 
implemented by the UK Data Protection Act 2018; places a 
duty on all organisations to report certain types of personal 
data breach to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 
within 72 hours. This applies to breaches where it is “likely 
to result in a high risk of adversely affecting individuals’ 
rights and freedoms”. In addition, there is a legal obligation 
to communicate these breaches to those affected without 
undue delay.

 Grading the personal data breach

All incidents are graded according to the significance of the 
breach and the likelihood of those serious consequences 
occurring. The DSP Toolkit reporting tool is used for significant 
incidents and any above a certain grade are reportable to 
the Information Commissioner’s office and the Department 
of Health and Social Care, with the most significant requiring 
notification within 24 hours.

Reported breaches

Breaches from 2021/22 are reported below:

Breaches reported on to DATIX 91

Breaches reported on to the DSP Toolkit 
(since 1st April 2020)

15

Breaches reported to the ICO 0
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Data quality and governance

The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the 
National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 
(as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial 
year.

As with the previous year (2020/21), in order to enable 
providers to focus on areas directly relevant to the ongoing 
COVID response, NHSE and NHSI removed the requirement 
for Trusts to provide a quality report and external limited 
assurance report.

The regular quality report to Trust Board provides assurance 
on the progress of key quality priorities relating to patient 
safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness. Key 
stakeholders including, commissioners, governors and patient 
representatives also review and scrutinise our quality account 
priority progress during the year via interactive assurance and 
workshop sessions.

A range of other reports and dashboards enable the 
Trust Board to monitor performance and outcomes. The 
Board Assurance Framework KPI dashboard provides high 
level summary on key targets aligned to the five strategic 
objectives, quality of care, people, and modern healthcare, 
digital and collaborate. CHKS healthcare intelligence2 services 
also enable clinicians to access key quality and performance 
data for their speciality.

As Chief Executive I am confident in the quality of services 
we provide across our services and that for the majority 
of our quality and performance targets we meet the 
standards expected by and acceptable to our regulator and 
commissioners.
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Review of effectiveness

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit 
and the executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS 
Foundation Trust who have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have 
drawn on performance information available to me. My 
review is also informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have 
been advised on the implications of the result of my review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the 
Board, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Quality of Care 
Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is in place.

The following information highlights some of the key methods 
that the Trust Board uses to be assured its system of internal 
control is effective.

The Trust Board ensures the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control through clear accountability and reporting 
arrangements.

The Trust Board has reviewed the strategic risks at each 
meeting and in addition has received regular reports on 
incidents, claims, complaint trends and Health and Safety.

The Trust Board has established the Audit and Risk Committee 
and Quality of Care Committee with specific focus on risk 
management; the Chairs of these Committees report to the 
Trust Board at the first available Trust Board meeting after 
each committee meeting. Urgent matters are escalated by the 
Committee chair to the Trust Board as deemed appropriate.

The Audit and Risk Committee is a formal sub-committee 
of the Trust Board and is accountable to the Trust Board for 
reviewing the establishment and maintenance of an effective 
system of internal control and risk management.

The Committee meets at least four times per year. The Audit 
Committee approves the Annual Audit plans for internal and 
external audit activities and ensures that recommendations 
to improve weaknesses in control arising from audits are 
actioned by executive management. The Annual Internal 
Audit Plan enables the Trust Board to be reassured that key 
internal financial controls and other matters relating to risk 
are regularly reviewed. During the year, the Committee has 
reviewed internal and external audit reports, Local Counter 
Fraud Specialist reports and policies and reviewed progress on 
meeting the requirements of the Assurance Framework.

The Quality of Care Committee (QCC) has a duty to 
ensure that the Trust’s governance systems, behaviours and 
processes relating to risk management, clinical and non-
clinical governance, and the achievement of organisational 
objectives are effective, and provide the Trust Board with the 
assurance required to govern effectively.

The Committee met six times in the year and has been 
reviewing key areas of quality risk to ensure the Trust Board 
can have sufficient assurance. The Committee is supported by 
a range of groups including the Quality  Safety Committee and 
Patient Experience Monitoring Group.

The Modern Healthcare Committee’s remit is to review the 
financial and operational performance, position, risks and 
decision-making of the Trust. It gives assurance to the Board 
that this process of review is satisfactory and draws matters of 
importance to their attention.

The People Committee’s role is to provide assurance to the 
Board on workforce supply and demand ensuring staffing 
systems are in place which assure the Board that staffing 
processes are safe, sustainable and effective.

The Committee ensures compliance with ‘Developing 
Workforce Safeguards’ recommendations and in addition, 
oversees the development and delivery of the Trust’s 
short, medium and long-term workforce, organisational 
development, education and training and employee wellbeing 
strategies. The Committee undertakes a detailed review of 
the workforce related risks and challenges the workforce and 
organisational development aspects of the Board Assurance 
Framework.

Executive Directors have clear responsibilities for internal 
control and risk management within their area of control. 
They also have corporate responsibility as Trust Board 
members.

Internal Audit: BDO LLP are the Trust’s providers of internal 
audit services since June 2017. The contract specifies that the 
delivery of the internal audit function will continue to be in 
compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

The annual opinion given by the Head of Internal Audit for 
2021/22 provided moderate assurance that there is a sound 
system of internal control, designed to meet the Trust’s 
objectives and that controls are being applied consistently.

External agencies: High level overview of external agency 
assessments and the associated action plans is overseen by 
the Quality of Care Committee.

NHS Improvement’s (NHSI) NHS Oversight Framework: 
is a framework designed to help NHS providers attain and 
maintain Care Quality Commission ratings of ‘Good’ or 
‘Outstanding.’ Under this framework NHSI segment trusts 
according to the level of support each trust needs across the 
five themes of quality of care, finance and use of resources, 
operational performance, strategic change and leadership and 
improvement capability. The Trust has a segmentation rating of 
‘2’ which means NHSI will offer targeted support where there 
are concerns in relation to one or more of the themes.

A&E: The impact of the COVID pandemic during 2021/22 
created fluctuating attendances and considerable pressure on 
our emergency care pathways. Challenges regarding inpatient 
flow continued to dominate and exacerbate our emergency 
department with exit block (when patients are unable to be 
moved from A&E).

The Trust secured substantial capital investment during 
2021/22 increasing Emergency Department (ED) capacity, 
through creating a Combined Assessment Unit (CAU), the 
provision of a dedicated assessment capacity and short stay 
facilities. However, surges in attendances, the requirement 
to run separate areas for infection protection control and 
the challenges maintaining hospital inpatient flow (like most 
providers) created an increase in Ambulance transfer delays 
over the winter months. Despite these challenges the Trust’s 
overall annual performance at 81.4% (NHSI) remained above 
the average England performance of 76.7% for the year.

Referral to Treatment (RTT): During 2021/22, NHS England 
also set recovery ambitions requiring providers to reduce 
longest waiting patients and especially those waiting over 104, 
78 and 52 weeks for treatment. 

The impact of COVID and the risk of contagion created 
significant disruption for elective surgery and routine 
outpatients throughout the year.  However, the Trust made 
significant headway in reducing the number of RTT long 
waiting patients by halving the number of patients waiting 
over 52 weeks and resolving nearly all patients waiting over 
78 weeks. Of those waiting over these timeframes, almost half 
required surgery (the majority with a date for this confirmed), 
whilst others required their booked diagnostic and/or an 
outpatient appointment to occur to conclude their treatment.

The Trust’s annual RTT position was recorded at an average 
79.9%. This level of performance, whilst falling lower than the 
national target of 92%, remains favourable against the average 
England performance of 65.7% for the year.

The Trust has plans to improve RTT performance during 
2022/23 ensuring patients are treated in clinical priority and 
chronological order.

Cancer: The Trust received over 21,000 urgent cancer 
referrals during the year and provided full referral, diagnostic 
and treatment facilities for clinically urgent, risk assessed 
procedures for cancer patients during the COVID pandemic. 
The Trust missed the annual compliance target for cancer 
patients referred urgently by General Practitioners with annual 
performance recorded at 81.4%. 

An improved level of performance was recorded for patients 
referred by NHS screening services at 86.1% compared to the 
previous year. The Trust’s performance compares well against 
the England national average performance for treatment 
within 62 days although we continue to introduce ways to 
improve further. Furthermore, despite a considerable increase 
in cancer referrals throughout the year, the Trust was able 
to record annual compliance for the new Faster Diagnosis 
Standard at 76.8% (compared to the England national average 
of 72.9%) and reduce the number of patients waiting longer 
than 62 days on the cancer waiting list from a high of 281 in 
October to 104 in March. 

Diagnostics: Our performance missed the national target due 
to a number of differing reasons during the year. This has been 
due to high levels of COVID within the local community causing 
patient and staff sickness, both causing a loss of productivity. 
Surges in referral demand outstripping capacity also featured 
across a number of modalities during the year (Endoscopy, 
MRI, Ultrasound, and Dexa), whilst considerable resourcing 
issues in CT also caused a temporary loss of capacity during 
quarter 4.

The Trust created additional capacity to meet the demand and 
recovery of the DM01 position including additional weekend 
and evening lists, additional radiologist sessions and both 
internal and outsourcing solutions. This provided improvement 
in resolving the backlogs recorded over the winter months and 
will create greater resilience. The Trust’s annual DM01 position 
was recorded at an average 90.9% which remained above the 
average England performance of 74.7% for the year.  

Conclusion

I am reporting three significant control issues within the 
Foundation Trust, being failure to meet the four hour waiting 
time target and non-compliance with RTT and Cancer targets 
in 2021/22.

Julie Smith 
Chief Executive

29 September 2022
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4. Annual Accounts
1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022

Foreword to the Accounts

These Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been prepared in accordance with                 
paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act 2006 and are presented 
to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7, paragraph 25 (4)(a) of the National Health Service Act 
2006.

Julie Smith 
Accounting Officer 
Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

29 September 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Council of Governors 
of Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Ashford and 
St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (“the Trust”) for 
the year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the Trust 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Trust Statement of 
Financial Position, Trust Statement of Changes in Taxpayers 
Equity and Trust Statement of Cash Flows, and the related 
notes, including the accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust’s affairs as 
at 31 March 2022 and of its income and expenditure for 
the year then ended; and

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Accounts Direction issued under paragraphs 24 and 25 
of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006 
and the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2021/22.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law.  
Our responsibilities are described below.  We have fulfilled 
our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of, the 
Trust in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including 
the FRC Ethical Standard.  We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our 
opinion.

Going concern 

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the 
going concern basis as they have not been informed by the 
relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the Trust 
without the transfer of its services to another public sector 
entity.  They have also concluded that there are no material 
uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its 
ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from 
the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going 
concern period”).

In our evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions, we considered 
the inherent risks to the Trust’s business model and analysed 
how those risks might affect the Trust’s financial resources or 
ability to continue operations over the going concern period. 

Our conclusions based on this work:

•  we consider that the Directors’ use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate;

•  we have not identified and concur with the Directors’ 
assessment that there is not a material uncertainty related 
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions 
and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that 
are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at 
the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a 
guarantee that the Trust will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – 
ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud 
risks”) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate 
an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an 
opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures 
included:

•  Enquiring of management, the Audit and Risk Committee 
and internal audit as to whether they have knowledge of 
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

•  Assessing the incentives for management to manipulate 
reported financial performance because of the need 
to achieve control totals delegated to the Trust by NHS 
Improvement

• Reading Board and Audit and Risk Committee minutes.

•  Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or 
unexpected relationships.

• Reviewing the Trust’s accounting policies.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the 
audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud 
throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account 
possible pressures to meet delegated targets, we performed 



123122 ANNUAL REPORT and ACCOUNTS | 1 April 2021 to 31 March 20224. ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

procedures to address the risk of management override of 
controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in 
particular the risk that income outside of the Trust’s block 
contract funding is accounted for in the incorrect financial 
period and the risk that Trust management may be in a 
position to make inappropriate accounting entries.

In line with the guidance set out in Practice Note 10 Audit 
of Financial Statements of Public Sector Bodies in the 
United Kingdom we also recognised a fraud risk related to 
expenditure recognition, particularly in relation to year-end 
accruals.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks. 

We performed procedures including:
•  Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria 

and comparing the identified entries to supporting 
documentation. These included those posted to unusual 
accounts combinations, seldom used accounts and the 
final journals posted at year end.

•  Agreeing a sample of year end accruals to relevant 
supporting evidence.

•  Agreeing a sample of year end accrued income to relevant 
supporting documents, including contracts and other 
relevant communications.

• Assessing significant estimates for bias.

•  Assessing the completeness of disclosed related party 
transactions and verifying they had been accurately 
recorded within the financial statements. 

•  Verify the cause of differences emerging from the intra-
NHS agreement of balances exercise to assess whether 
revenue with other Department of Health and Social Care 
entities had been recorded within the correct period.

Identifying and responding to risks of material 
misstatement related to non-compliance with 
laws and regulations
We identified areas of laws and regulations that could 
reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements from our general sector experience and 
through discussion with the directors and other management 
(as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of 
the Trust’s regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed 
with the directors and other management the policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.  

As the Trust is regulated, our assessment of risks involved 
gaining an understanding of the control environment including 
the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory 
requirements. 

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout 
our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the 
financial statements varies considerably.

The Trust is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect 
the financial statements, including the National Health Service 
Act 2006 and financial reporting legislation. We assessed the 
extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part 
of our procedures on the related financial statement items.  

Whilst the Trust is subject to many other laws and regulations, 
we did not identify any others where the consequences 
of non-compliance alone could have a material effect on 
amounts or disclosures in the financial statements.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect 
fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even 
though we have properly planned and performed our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the 
further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures 
required by auditing standards would identify it.  

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk 
of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are 
designed to detect material misstatement. We are not 
responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and 
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws 
and regulations.

Other information in the Annual Report 

The Directors are responsible for the other information 
presented in the Annual Report together with the financial 
statements.  Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements 
audit work, the information therein is materially misstated 
or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit 
knowledge.  Based solely on that work:

•  we have not identified material misstatements in the 
other information.

•  in our opinion the other information included in the 
Annual Report for the financial year is consistent with the 
financial statements.

•  in our opinion that report has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2021/22.  

Annual Governance Statement 

We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance 
Statement has not been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2021/22.  We have nothing to report in this respect.

Remuneration and Staff Reports 
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff 
Reports subject to audit have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual 2021/22.

Accounting Officer’s responsibilities 
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 106, 
the Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of 
financial statements that give a true and fair view. They are 
also responsible for: such internal control as they determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern; and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant 
national body of the intention to dissolve the Trust without 
the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.  Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the 
FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

Report on other legal and regulatory matters

Report on the Trust’s arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report 
if we identify any significant weaknesses in the arrangements 
that have been made by the Trust to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Statutory reporting matters 
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice 
to report to you if:

•  any reports to the Regulator have been made under 
paragraph 6 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006.

•  any matters have been reported in the public interest 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 10 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 in the course of, or at the end of the 
audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom 
we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of 
the Trust, as a body, in accordance with Schedule 10 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 and the terms of 
our engagement by the Trust. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Council of Governors 
of the Trust, as a body, those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report, and the further matters we are 
required to state to them in accordance with the terms agreed 
with the Trust, and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Council of Governors of the Trust, as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions 
we have formed.

Certificate of Completion of the Audit 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts 
of Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the 
requirements of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

Joanne Lees
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London E14 5GL
30 September 2022
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Note 2021/22
£’000

2020/21
£’000

Income
Income from patient care activities 3 394,879 336,552

Other operating income 4 30,136 50,720

Operating expenses 5 (411,732) (385,095)

Operating surplus 13,283 2,177

Finance costs
Finance income 11 75 -

Finance expense 12 (242) (265)

Public dividend capital dividends payable (6,407) (5,568)

Other gains/(losses) 13 85 (2)

Retained surplus /(deficit) for the year 6,794 (3,658)

Other Comprehensive Income:
Impairments – net reversal on property, plant and equipment 1,239 (7,717)

Revaluations 3,045 10

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 11,078 (11,365)

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 
March 2022

The notes on pages 130 to 176 form part of these accounts.

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2022

Note 31/03/22
£’000

31/03/21
£’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 226,282 204,729

Intangible assets 15 4,334 5,160

Other investments 18 - 60

Receivables 20 1,125 936

Total non-current assets 231,741 210,885

Current assets
Inventories 19 4,420 4,109

Receivables 20 18,542 19,079

Cash and cash equivalents 21 84,097 76,580

Total current assets 107,059 99,768

Total assets 338,800 310,653

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 (54,006) (49,744)

Other liabilities 22 (1,068) (1,457)

Borrowings 23 (2,027) (1,921)

Provisions 25 (3,594) (2,090)

Total current liabilities (60,695) (55,212)

Total assets less current liabilities 278,105 255,441

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 23 (2,792) (3,758)

Provisions 25 (907) (871)

Total assets employed 274,406 250,812

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
Public dividend capital 122,586 110,070

Income and expenditure reserve 90,043 83,249

Revaluation reserve 61,777 57,493

_______

Total taxpayers’ equity 274,406 250,812

The financial statements on pages 126 to 176 were approved by the Board on 29 September 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

Julie Smith
Accounting Officer  
Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

29 September 2022
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the year 
ended 31 March 2022

Public Dividend 
Capital (PDC) 

£’000

Retained 
Earnings  

£’000

Revaluation 
Reserve  

£’000 
Total  

£’000

Changes in taxpayers equity for the year ended 31 March 2022
Balance at 1 April 2021 110,070 83,249 57,493 250,812

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year - 6,794 - 6,794

Public Dividend Capital received 12,516 - - 12,516

Net impairment reversals - - 1,239 1,239

Net gain in revaluation of property,  
plant and equipment

- - 3,045 3,045

Balance at 31 March 2022 122,586 90,043 61,777 274,406

Changes in taxpayers equity for the year ended 31 March 2021
Balance at 1 April 2020 93,131 86,907 65,200 245,238

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the year - (3,658) - (3,658)

Public Dividend Capital received 16,939 - - 16,939

Net impairments - - (7,717) (7,717)

Net gain in revaluation of property,  
plant and equipment

- - 10 10

Balance at 31 March 2021 110,070 83,249 57,493 250,812

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended  
31 March 2022

Note 2021/22
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus 13,283 2,177
Depreciation and amortisation 10,583 9,651
Impairments – net reversal 1,282 5,337
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (311) (336)
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (6,965) 9,273
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 5,569 8,239
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities (389) 1,164
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 25 1,540 1,099
Other movements in operating cash flows (547) (1,738)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 24,045 34,866

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 36 11
Proceeds from sale of investment 145 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (28,593) (33,356)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 6,940 12,626

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (21,472) (20,719)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing 2,573 14,147

Cash flows from financing activities
Public Dividend Capital received 12,516 16,939
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (1,600) (1,993)
Interest element of finance lease (242) (265)
Dividends paid (5,730) (5,718)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 4,944  8,963
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,517 23,110
Cash (and) cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 76,580 53,470

______ ______
Cash (and) cash equivalents at 31 March 21 84,097 76,580
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Notes to the Accounts 31 March 2022

1. Accounting policies 

1.1  Accounting policies

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions 
conferred on Monitor, has directed that the financial 
statements of the Trust shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with 
HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the GAM 2021/22 
issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The 
accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM 
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory 
Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, 
the accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate 
to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of 
giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular 
policies adopted are described below. These have been 
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material 
in relation to the accounts.

1.2  Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories 
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3  Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
The financial reporting framework applicable to NHS bodies, 
derived from the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual, 
defines that the anticipated continued provision of the entity’s 
services in the public sector is normally sufficient evidence of 
going concern. The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that this will continue to be the case.

1.4  Critical accounting judgements and key  
sources of estimation uncertainty  

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to 
be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates 
and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

There were no areas of critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (see below) that management has made 
in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and 
that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Income from patient care activities: where agreement has 
not already been reached on final contract outturns, invoicing 
deadlines for NHS income prevent actual activity data from 
being used for all work performed in March. Income for 
March that is not covered by block contract arrangements is 
estimated using year to date activity trend data, and adjusting 
this value for the number of working days in March and other 
known factors.

Incomplete inpatient episodes as at 31 March: where a 
patient occupies a bed at the financial year end an estimated 
value for the partially completed spell is calculated using 
a bed day rate multiplied by the number of days that bed 
has been occupied. In 2021/22 the NHS had block contract 
arrangements in place and as such there were no incomplete 
patient episodes with commissioners at 31 March 2022 
(2020/21: £nil).

Untaken annual leave: Employee Benefits includes an estimate 
for the value of annual leave earned but not taken at the end 
of each financial year, and is calculated using an average of the 
number of days per employee per staff group. The Trust has 
based the average number of days per staff group on records 
of annual leave remaining for a sample of 31.1% of staff. The 
number of days has been decreased from 5.81 in 2020/21 to 
5.55 in 2021/22; this reflects the fact that a number of staff 
continued to cancel planned leave to help the Trust during the 
COVID pandemic waves. In 2021/22 this equated to £4,760,000 

(2020/21: £4,637,000) – the decrease in the average number 
of days was exceeded by the increase in staff and their average 
daily rate. The year on year increase is accounted for as a salary 
cost/benefit and reported within note 7.

Provisions: values for provisions are based upon data received 
from NHS Pensions Agency, NHS Resolution, expert opinion 
from within the Trust and external professional advisors 
regarding when settlement will be made. More information is 
set out in note 25.

There are no other key assumptions concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end 
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

1.5  Revenue

1.5.1  Revenue

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is 
accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the definition 
of a contract to include legislation and regulations which 
enables an entity to receive cash or another financial asset 
that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics 
(ONS). 

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised 
when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by 
transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is 
measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated 
to those performance obligations. At the year end, the 
Trust accrues income relating to performance obligations 
satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to 
consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a 
contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to 
consideration is conditional on a further factor other than the 
passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where 
consideration received or receivable relates to a performance 
obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income 
is deferred and recognised as a contract liability.

The Trust’s income predominantly derives from the delivery of 
healthcare activity.  

Revenue from NHS contracts 

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts 
with commissioners for health care services. In 2021/22 
and 2020/21, the majority of the Trust’s income from 
NHS commissioners was in the form of block contract 
arrangements. The Trust receives block funding from its 

commissioners, where funding envelopes are set at an 
Integrated Care System or NHS England level. For the first half 
of the 2020/21 comparative year these blocks were set for 
individual NHS providers directly, but the revenue recognition 
principles are the same. The related performance obligation 
is the delivery of healthcare and related services during the 
period, with the Trust’s entitlement to consideration not 
varying based on the levels of activity performed. 

The Trust also receives additional income outside of the 
block payments to reimburse specific costs incurred and, in 
2020/21, other income top-ups to support the delivery of 
services. Reimbursement and top-up income is accounted for 
as variable consideration.

In 2021/22, the Elective Recovery Fund enabled systems 
to earn income linked to the achievement of elective 
activity targets including funding any increased use of 
independent sector capacity. Income earned by the system 
is distributed between individual entities by local agreement. 
Income earned from the fund is accounted for as variable 
consideration.

In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients 
offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as 
follows;

•  As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the Trust does not 
disclose information regarding performance obligations 
when part of a contract that has an original expected 
duration of one year or less;

•  The GAM does not require the Trust to disclose 
information where revenue is recognised in line with 
the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the 
Standard where the right to consideration corresponds 
directly with value of the performance completed to date; 
and

•  The GAM has mandated the exercise of the practical 
expedient offered in C7A of the Standard that requires 
the Trust to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts 
modified before the date of initial application.

Revenue from research contracts

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is 
recognised as and when performance obligations are satisfied. 
For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project 
constitutes one performance obligation over the course of 
the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the 
Trust’s interim performance does not create an asset with 
alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable 
right to payment for the performance completed to date.  
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It is therefore considered that the performance obligation is 
satisfied over time, and the Trust recognises revenue each 
year over the course of the contract.

NHS injury cost recovery scheme 

The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery 
Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured 
individuals to whom personal injury compensation has 
subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The Trust 
recognises the income when it receives notification from the 
Department of Work and Pension’s Compensation Recovery 
Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are 
no discrepancies with the treatment. The income is measured 
at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured 
individual, less an allowance for unsuccessful compensation 
claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9 requirements 
of measuring expected credit losses over the lifetime of the 
asset.

1.5.2  Revenue grants and other contributions 
to expenditure

Government grants are grants from government bodies other 
than income from commissioners or trusts for the provision of 
services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it 
is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match 
that expenditure. 

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from 
the Government’s apprenticeship service is recognised as 
income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where 
these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider 
from the Trust’s Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account 
held by the Department for Education, the corresponding 
notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition 
for the benefit.

1.5.3  Other income

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only 
when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is 
measured as the sums due under the sale contract. 

1.6  Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including 
payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised 
in the period in which the service is received from employees. 
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the 
end of the period is recognised in the financial statements 

to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward 
leave into the following period.

Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of 
the NHS Pensions Schemes.  These schemes are unfunded, 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General 
Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of 
the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes 
are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets 
and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as 
though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost 
to the Trust of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to 
the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting 
period.  

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the 
additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. 
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to operating expenses at the time the Trust commits 
itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four 
years and an accounting valuation every year.

The National Employment Savings Scheme (NEST) is a defined 
contribution pension scheme that was created as part of the 
government’s workplace pensions reforms under the Pensions 
Act 2008. Contributions to this scheme started in 2013/14 
for applicable employees who are not members of the NHS 
Pensions Schemes.

1.7  Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on other goods and services is recognised 
when, and to the extent that, they have been received and 
is measured at the fair value of those goods and services.  
Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except 
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as 
property, plant and equipment.

1.8  Property, plant and equipment

Recognition

 Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

•  it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative 
purposes;

•  it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or 
service potential will be supplied to, the Trust;

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and

 •• the item has cost of at least £5,000; or

 ••  Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least 
£5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, 
where the assets are functionally interdependent, 
they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and 
are under single managerial control; or

 ••  Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up 
cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of 
their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a 
number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

Valuation

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at 
cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring 
or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. All assets other than land 
and buildings are measured subsequently at valuation.

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services, or for 
administrative purposes, are stated in the Statement of 
Financial Position at their revalued amounts, being the 
fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from 
those that would be determined at the end of the reporting 
period.  Fair values are determined as follows:

•  Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for 
existing use

• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated 
replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent 
assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of 
the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.

Properties in the course of construction for service or 
administration purposes are carried at cost, less any 
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where 
capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs.  Assets 
are revalued and depreciation commences when they are 
brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, 
and plant and machinery that are held for operational use 
are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets 
have short useful lives or low values or both, as this is not 
considered to be materially different from current value in 
existing use.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the Revaluation 
Reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same 
asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case 
it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does 
not result from a loss of economic value or service potential 
is recognised as an impairment charged to the Revaluation 
Reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve 
for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment 
losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic 
benefit should be taken to expenditure. Gains and losses 
recognised in the Revaluation Reserve are reported as other 
comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  

The Trust charges depreciation on revalued assets based 
on their revalued amount and not their cost. IAS 16 is not 
prescriptive on the accounting policy to be adopted by 
reporting entities in respect of this adjustment, and as the 
Trust does not have complete records of the historical cost 
of its assets, it now transfers such balances only on ultimate 
disposal. 

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying 
amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future 
economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost 
incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to 
the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined 
reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost 
of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for 
recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced 
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is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate 
additional future economic benefits or service potential, such 
as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

1.9  Intangible assets

Recognition

 Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical 
substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest 
of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or 
other legal rights. 

They are recognised only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Trust; where the cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably, and where the cost is at least £5,000.  

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised 
at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of 
hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as 
part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. 
Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for 
example application software, is capitalised as an intangible 
asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is 
recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it 
is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and 
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset 
so that it will be available for use;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;

• the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;

•  how the intangible asset will generate probable future 
economic benefits or service potential;

•  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other 
resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use 
it; and

•  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable 
to the intangible asset during its development. 

Measurement

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated 
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from 
the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the 
expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried 
at valuation by reference to an active market, or, where no 
active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern 
equivalent assets basis), indexed for relevant price increases, 
as a proxy for fair value. Internally-developed software is held 
at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in 
development costs and technological advances.  

1.10  Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairments

 Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held 
for sale are not depreciated.

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged 
to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any 
residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service 
potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is 
the period over which the Trust expects to obtain economic 
benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to 
the Trust and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset 
itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised 
on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives. 

At each reporting period end, the Trust checks whether there 
is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-
current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is 
indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been 
a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment annually.  

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of 
economic value or service potential is recognised as an 
impairment charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent 
that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, 
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from 
a clear consumption of economic benefit should be taken 
to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the 
amount that would have been determined had there been 
no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment 
loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged there and thereafter to the Revaluation 
Reserve.

1.11  Donated and grant funded assets

 Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment 
assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The 
donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless 
the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic 
benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a 
manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/
grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to 
future financial years to the extent that the condition has not 
yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently 
accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, 
plant and equipment.

This includes assets donated to the Trust by the Department 
of Health and Social Care as part of the response to the 
coronavirus pandemic. As defined in the GAM, the Trust 
applies the principle of donated asset accounting to assets 
that the trust controls and is obtaining economic benefits 
from at the year end.

1.12  Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their 
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition 
is regarded as met when the sale is highly probable, the asset 
is available for immediate sale in its present condition and 
management is committed to the sale, which is expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification. Non-current assets held for 
sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is open 
market value including alternative uses.

The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the 
difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying 
amount and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. On disposal, the balance for the asset on the 
Revaluation Reserve is transferred to Retained Earnings. For 
donated and government-granted assets, a transfer is made 
to or from the relevant reserve to the profit/loss on disposal 
account so that no profit or loss is recognised in income or 
expenses. The remaining surplus or deficit in the Donated 
Asset is then transferred to Retained Earnings. 

Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or 
demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale.  
Instead, it is retained as an operational asset and its economic 
life is adjusted.  The asset is de-recognised when it is scrapped 
or demolished.

 1.13  Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Trust as lessee

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases 
are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair 
value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to 
the lessor.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 
a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the 
Trust’s surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a 
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building 
components are separated and individually assessed as to 
whether they are operating or finance leases. 

1.14  Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value using the weighted average cost formula. This is 
considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due 
to the high turnover of stocks.  

In 2020/21 and 2020/22, the Trust received inventories 
including personal protective equipment from the 
Department of Health and Social Care at nil cost. In line with 
the GAM and applying the principles of the IFRS Conceptual 
Framework, the Trust has accounted for the receipt of these 
inventories at a deemed cost, reflecting the best available 
approximation of an imputed market value for the transaction 
based on the cost of acquisition by the Department.
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1.15  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution 
repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 
24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature 
in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.  

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents 
are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash 
management.  Cash, bank and overdraft balances are 
recorded at current values. 

1.16  Climate Change Levy 

Expenditure on the climate change levy is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred, based on 
the prevailing chargeable rates for energy consumption.

1.17  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Trust will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is 
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties.  

Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the 
estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the 
discount rates published and mandated by HM Treasury for 
the financial year, except for early retirement provisions and 
injury benefit provisions which both use the HM Treasury’s 
pension discount rate of negative 1.30% in real terms 
(2020/21- negative 0.95%).  These rates are as follows: 

•  Short-term (up to 5 years): 0.47% (2020/21 – negative 
0.02%)

•  Medium-term (after 5 years up to 10 years): 0.70% 
(2020/21 – 0.18%)

•  Long-term (after 10 years up to 40 years): 0.95% (2020/21 
– 1.99%)

•  Very long-term (exceeding 40 years): 0.66% (2020/21 – 
1.99%)

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general provisions on 
a nominal rate basis. Expected future cash flows are therefore 
adjusted for the impact of inflation before discounting using 
nominal rates. The following inflation rates are set by HM 
Treasury, effective 31 March 2022:

• Year 1: 4.00% (2020/21 – 1.20%)

• Year 2: 2.60% (2020/21 – 1.60%)

• Into perpetuity: 2.00% (2020/21 – 2.00%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle 
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are 
recognised and measured as a provision.  An onerous contract 
is considered to exist where the Trust has a contract under 
which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under 
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be 
received under it.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has 
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and 
has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will 
carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan 
or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The 
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the 
direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which 
are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the 
restructuring and not associated with ongoing activities of the 
entity.

1.18  Clinical negligence costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which 
the Trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution which 
in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution 
is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is 
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases 
the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of 
clinical negligence provisions carried by NHS Resolution on 
behalf of the Trust is disclosed at note 25. 

1.19  Non-clinical risk pooling

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and 
the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.  Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution 
to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the 

costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, 
and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses as and when they become 
due.

1.20  Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 
Trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised because 
it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle 
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed 
unless the possibility of a payment is remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Trust. A 
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.  

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are 
disclosed at their present value.

1.21  Financial assets and financial liabilities

1.21.1  Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is 
party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument, 
and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation 
to pay cash or another financial instrument. The GAM 
expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and 
regulations which give rise to arrangements that in all other 
respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise 
to transactions classified as a tax by ONS.

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such 
as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance 
with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements 
and are recognised when, and to the extent which, 
performance occurs, i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods 
or services is made.

1.21.2  Classification and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured 
at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction 
costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair 

value through income and expenditure. Fair value is taken as 
the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference 
to quoted market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets 
acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised 
and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for 
leases (note 1.13).

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, fair value through income and expenditure or 
fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through income and expenditure. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 
amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are 
those held with the objective of collecting contractual cash 
flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest. This includes cash equivalents, contract and 
other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and 
obligations under lease arrangements and loans receivable 
and payable. 

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised 
cost of a financial liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
a financing income or expense. In the case of loans held 
from the Department of Health and Social Care, the effective 
interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the 
loan.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income where business model objectives 
are met by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest. Movements in the fair value of 
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financial assets in this category are recognised as gains or 
losses in other comprehensive income except for impairment 
losses. On derecognition, cumulative gains and losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, except 
where the Trust elected to measure an equity instrument in 
this category on initial recognition.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through income and expenditure 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive income. This 
category also includes financial assets and liabilities acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term (held 
for trading) and derivatives. Derivatives which are embedded 
in other contracts, but which are separable from the host 
contract are measured within this category. Movements 
in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in this 
category are recognised as gains or losses in the Statement of 
Comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets 

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including 
lease receivables, contract receivables and contract assets or 
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, the Trust recognises an allowance for expected credit 
losses.

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment, in 
accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for 
trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables at an 
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other 
financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the 
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition (stage 2), and otherwise at an amount equal to 
12-month expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may 
not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other 
government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank 
of England, Exchequer Funds, and Exchequer Funds’ assets 
where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The Trust 
therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or 
stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally, the 
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee 
of last resort against the debts of its arm’s length bodies and 
NHS bodies (excluding NHS charities), and the Trust does not 
recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments 
against these bodies.

The Trust assesses each class of financial asset to determine 
the historic rate of credit loss applying to that class. That rate 
is then applied to the value of the financial asset held.

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since 
initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the 
reporting date are measured as the difference between 
the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is recognised 
in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.21.3  Derecognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights 
to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the 
Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

1.22  Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of 
VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax 
on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged 
to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is 
charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated 
net of VAT.

1.23  Foreign exchange

The functional and presentational currencies of the Trust are 
sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is 
translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange 
rate on the date of the transaction.

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a 
foreign currency at the Statement of Financial Position date:

•  monetary items (other than financial instruments 
measured at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’) 
are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March;

•  non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical 
cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction; and

•  non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date the 
fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on 
settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the 
Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income 
or expense in the period in which they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other gains 
and losses on these items.

1.24  Corporation Tax

The Trust has reviewed its operating activities and determined 
that as other trading activities are ancillary to the Trust’s core 
activities then the Trust has no liability for corporation tax.

1.25  Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on 
behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since 
the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. Details of third 
party assets are given in Note 30 to the accounts.

1.26  Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC 
dividend

Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity 
finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the 
time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust and 
represents the Department of Health’s investment in the 
Trust. HM Treasury has determined that, being issued under 
statutory authority rather than under contract, PDC is not a 
financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.

At any time, the Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and 
require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is recorded at 
the value received.

An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by 
the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as Public 
Dividend Capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate 
set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant 
net assets of the Trust during the financial year. Relevant net 
assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of 
all liabilities, with certain additions and deductions as defined 
in the PDC dividend policy issued by the Department of Health 
and Social Care. This policy is available at https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-
nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts. 

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the 
Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend 
for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net 

assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of the annual 
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should 
any adjustment to net assets occur as a result of the audit of 
the annual accounts.

1.27  Losses and special payments

 Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would 
not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health 
service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items 
that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to 
special control procedures compared with the generality of 
payments. They are divided into different categories, which 
govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant 
functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, 
including losses which would have been made good through 
insurance cover had the Trusts not been bearing its own risks 
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal 
revenue expenditure).

However the losses and special payments note is compiled 
directly from the losses and compensations register which 
reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions 
for future losses. 

1.28  Subsidiaries

Subsidiary entities are those over which the Trust is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. 

The income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves 
of subsidiaries are consolidated in full into the appropriate 
financial statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable 
to minority interests are included as a separate item in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

The amounts consolidated are drawn from the published 
financial statements of the subsidiaries for the year except 
where a subsidiary’s financial year end is before 1 January or 
after 1 July in which case the actual amounts for each month 
of the Trust’s financial year are obtained from the subsidiary 
and consolidated.

Where subsidiaries’ accounting policies are not aligned with 
those of the Trust (including where they report under UK 
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102) then amounts are 
adjusted during consolidation where the differences are 
material. Inter-entity balances, transactions and gains/losses 
are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
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Subsidiaries which are classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount and ‘fair value less costs 
to sell’.

The Trust is the Corporate Trustee of the linked NHS Charity, 
The Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals Charitable Fund.  The 
Trust has assessed its relationship to the charitable fund 
and determined it to be a subsidiary because the Trust 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns and other 
benefits for itself, patients and staff from its involvement 
with the charitable fund and has the ability to affect those 
returns and other benefits through its power over the fund.  
The charitable fund’s statutory accounts are prepared to 31 
March in accordance with the UK Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) which is based on UK FRS 102. 
However the transactions are immaterial in the context of the 
group and transactions have not been consolidated.  Details of 
the transactions with the charity are disclosed as related party 
transactions in note 29. 

1.29  Joint ventures

Joint ventures are arrangements in which the Trust has joint 
control with one or more other parties, and where it has the 
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint ventures are 
accounted for using the equity method.

1.30  Joint operations

Joint operations are arrangements in which the Trust has joint 
control with one or more other parties and has the rights to 
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the 
arrangement. 

The Trust runs Berkshire and Surrey Pathology Services along 
with Frimley Health NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Surrey 
County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Berkshire NHS 
Foundation Trust and Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust. 
This meets the definition of a joint operation under IFRS 11. 
Under the contractual arrangement pathology services at the 
four Trusts are provided jointly. 

The Trust accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure arising from the activities of 
Berkshire and Surrey Pathology Services, identified in 
accordance with the Pathology Services Collaboration 
agreement.  Accordingly Frimley Health NHS Foundation 
Trust, Royal Surrey NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Berkshire NHS 
Foundation Trust and Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 
also account for their share of the assets, liabilities, income 
and expenditure in their financial statements.

1.31  Accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
or adopted

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining 
whether an arrangement contains a lease and other 
interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for 
periods beginning 1 April 2022. The standard provides a 
single accounting model for lessees, recognising a right 
of use asset and obligation in the statement of financial 
position for most leases: some leases are exempt through 
application of practical expedients explained below. For 
those recognised in the statement of financial position the 
standard also requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities 
in specific circumstances after the commencement of the 
lease term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and 
finance leases will remain and the accounting will be largely 
unchanged. 

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 
and IFRIC 4. The Trust will apply this definition to new leases 
only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old 
standards of whether existing contracts contain a lease.

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the Trust will apply 
the standard retrospectively without restatement and 
with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard 
recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that 
date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease 
term of more than 12 months and an underlying asset value 
of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal 
to the value of remaining lease payments discounted on 
transition at the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The 
Trust’s incremental borrowing rate will be a rate defined by 
HM Treasury. For 2022, this rate is 0.95%. The related right of 
use asset will be measured equal to the lease liability adjusted 
for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. For existing 
peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a right of 
use asset will be measured at current value in existing use or 
fair value. The difference between the asset value and the 
calculated lease liability will be recognised in the income and 
expenditure reserve on transition.  No adjustments will be 
made on 1 April 2022 for existing finance leases.

For leases commencing in 2022/23, the Trust will not 
recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for short term 
leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low 
value assets (less than £5,000). Right of use assets will be 
subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned 
assets and depreciated over the length of the lease term. 

£’000
Estimated impact on 1 April 2022 statement of financial position

Additional right of use assets recognised for existing operating leases 7,523
Additional lease obligations recognised for existing operating leases (7,523)
Changes to other statement of financial position line items (excluding reserves) -

Net impact on net assets on 1 April 2022 -

Estimated in-year impact in 2022/23
Additional depreciation on right of use assets (854)
Additional finance costs on lease liabilities (71)
Lease rentals no longer charged to operating expenditure 895
Other impact on income / expenditure  -

Estimated impact on surplus / deficit in 2022/23 (30)

 Estimated increase in capital additions for new leases commencing in 2022/23 691

The Trust has estimated the impact of applying IFRS 16 in 
2022/23 on the opening statement of financial position 
and the in-year impact on the statement of comprehensive 
income and capital additions as follows:

Where no formal leases are in place, for example where other 
NHS property is occupied by the Trust, an estimate has been 
made regarding the lengths of those leases.

Other standards, amendments and interpretations

The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards 
and Interpretations to be applied in 2021/22. These Standards 
are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption.

•  IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, 
but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not 
therefore permitted.



 2021/22  2020/21
Clinical 

Divisions 
£’000 

Other 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Clinical 
Divisions 

£’000 
Other 
£’000

Total 
£’000 

Income 17,471 407,544 425,015 15,572 371,700 387,272 

Expenditure (309,330) (108,891) (418,221) (275,139) (115,791) (390,930)

Contribution (291,859) 298,653 6,794 (259,567) 255,909 (3,658)

2. Operating segments

The Trust Board receives financial information for the Trust as a whole, making decisions based on this. The Trust Executive 
Committee meets once a month and consists of the Trust Executive Directors and Divisional Directors for the Trust’s Clinical 
Divisions. Segmental analysis is provided below for the total of these Clinical Divisions and Other, which includes the Corporate 
areas. The key data for these operating segments is: 
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2021/22 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Activity by source
Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England 391,600 333,878
NHS Foundation Trusts 13 -
Department of Health and Social Care 20 20
Local Authorities 161 173
Non-NHS - Private patients 1,995 1,577

- Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 331 251
- Injury cost recovery 620 597
- Other 139 56

Total 394,879 336,552

Injury cost recovery income is subject to a provision for impairment of receivables of 23.76% (2020/21 – 22.43%) to reflect 
expected rates of collection.

Under the terms of its provider licence, the Trust is required to analyse the level of income from activities that has arisen from 
commissioner requested and non-commissioner requested services. Commissioner requested services are defined in the 
provider license and are services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the event of provider failure. Income 
from Commissioner Requested Services in 2021/22 was £345,932,000 (2020/21 - £309,377,000).

3. Income from patient care activities

3.1  Income from activities

2021/22
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Analysis by activity
Block contract / system envelope income 342,108 305,650
High cost drugs income 17,355 15,304
Elective recovery fund 22,456 -
Additional pension contribution central funding 9,681 8,870
Private Patient income 1,995 1,577
Other non-protected clinical income 1,284 5,151

Total 394,879 336,552

Accounting policy note 1.5 provides information on revenue from contracts and how these have changed compared to 2020/21.  

The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration charge) from 1 April 
2019. Since 2019/20 the Trust continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid 
over by NHS England on the Trust’s behalf. The full cost and related funding are recognised in these accounts.

Other non-protected clinical income includes £nil (2020/21: £3,969,000) of funding towards the increased cost of the Trust’s 
annual leave accrual (see note 1.4).

3.2  Income from overseas patients

2021/22 
£’000

 2020/21 
£’000

Income recognised this year 331 251
Cash payments received in year 171 180
Amounts added to the provision for impairment of receivables 76 229
Amounts written off in year 31 125

2021/22
£’000 

2020/21
£’000

Other operating income from contracts with customers
Research and development 1,749 1,647
Education and training 13,296 11,428
Non-patient care services to other bodies 1,382 1,014
Reimbursement and top up funding 1,475 18,292
Other income:
Car parking 996 608
Catering 1,058 413
Estates recharges 303 310
Pharmacy sales 1,426 1,347
Nursery 1,019 877
Other 5,001 5,959
Other non-contract operating income
Education and training – notional income from apprenticeship fund 622 504
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 313 424
Donated equipment from DHSC for COVID response 234 1,314
Contributions to expenditure - receipt of equipment donated from DHSC for COVID 
response below capitalisation threshold 

82 153

Contributions to expenditure - consumables (inventory) donated from DHSC group 
bodies for COVID response

1,180 6,430

Total 30,136 50,720

4. Other operating income

As a result of the financial framework in place during 2020/21, particularly during the first half of the financial year, the Trust 
received £18,292,000 of reimbursement and top-up funding. In the second half of 2020/21 and for the whole of 2021/22 such 
funding is shown within block contract/system envelope income (note 3.1).

HM Treasury requires disclosure of fees and charges income. The following disclosure is of income from charges to service users 
where income from that service exceeds £1 million and is presented as the aggregate of such income. The cost associated with 
the service that generated the income is also disclosed. In 2021/22 this included retail catering and nursery charges, however 
due to COVID the income from both of these services fell below £1m during 2020/21.
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5. Operating expenses

2021/22 
£’000 

2020/21
£’000

£’000 £’000
Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 1,501 3,479

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 22,180 16,598

Employee benefits – Non-Executive Directors 156 161

Employee benefits – staff and Executive Directors 261,074 240,741

Drugs costs 24,521 20,870

Supplies and services – clinical (excluding drugs) 35,534 30,292

Supplies and services – clinical – consumables donated by DHSC group bodies for 
COVID response

1,333 6,187

Supplies and services – general 5,180 5,391

Establishment 4,028 2,890

Transport 1,404 905

Premises 16,723 17,831

Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 173 393

Depreciation and amortisation 10,583 9,651

Impairments of property, plant and equipment net of (reversals) 1,282 5,337

Auditors remuneration 144 90

Internal audit 56 55

NHS clinical negligence scheme 15,625 14,409

Legal fees 234 477

Consultancy costs 1,825 1,402

Training, courses and conferences 3,037 1,707

Rentals under operating leases 679 659

Insurance 368 345

Losses, ex gratia and special payments 151 162

Other 3,941 5,063

411,732 385,095

This note includes irrecoverable VAT.

Auditors’ remuneration

2021/22 
£’000

 2020/21
£’000

Audit services – statutory audit 115 56
Audit services – audit related regulatory reporting - 12

115 68

This note excludes irrecoverable VAT and the fee to audit 
the Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals Charitable Fund, both of 
which are included within the operating expenses charge.

Audit Liability Cap

The Trust appointed KPMG during the financial year as 
its external auditors. Currently the liability of KPMG, its 
members, partners and staff (whether in contract, negligence 
or otherwise) in respect of services provided in connection 
with or arising out of the audit is £1,000,000.

2021/22 
£’000 

2020/21 
£’000

Income 2,077 -
Full Cost (2,989) -

Surplus/(deficit) (912) -
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8. Pension costs

8.1  NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of 
the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable 
and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP 
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and 
Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would 
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 
cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken 
as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the 
accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised 
in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by 
a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with 
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of 
these follows:

a)  Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by 
the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This 
utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting 
period in conjunction with updated membership and financial 
data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as 
providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 
March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2021, 
updated to 31 March 2022 with summary global member and 
accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, 
the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM 
Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is 
contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms 
part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and 
are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The 
Stationery Office.

b)  Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability 
in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into 
account recent demographic experience), and to recommend 
contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension 
Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of 
this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from 
April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. 

The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme 
relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 
2012 valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control 
element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty 
around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling 
relating to the McCloud case. 

HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 
(see Amending Directions 2021) that set out the technical 
detail of how the costs of remedy are included in the 2016 
valuation process.  Following these directions, the scheme 
actuary has completed the cost control element of the 2016 
valuation for the NHS Pension Scheme, which concludes no 
changes to benefits or member contributions are required.  
The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website at https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-
accounts-and-valuation-reports.

8.2  National Employment Savings Scheme 
(NEST)

Employees who are not members of the NHS Pensions 
Scheme may join the National Employment Savings Scheme 
which is a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the 
Trust of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting 
period.

9.  Retirements due to ill-health

During the year ended 31 March 2022 there were two early 
retirements (2020/21 - three) from the Trust agreed on the 
grounds of ill-health with a value of £203,000 (2020/21 - 
£113,000). 

6. Operating leases

As lessee:

7. Employee benefits

2021/22 2020/21
Payments recognised as an expense: £’000 £’000
Minimum lease payments 679 659

Total 679 659

31/03/22 
£’000

31/03/21 
£’000

Total future minimum lease payments: 
Not later than one year 537 602
Between one and five years 476 869
Later than five years - - 

Total 1,013 1,471

2021/22
£’000 

2020/21
£’000

Salaries and wages 201,184 187,415
Social security costs 20,210 18,511
Employer’s contribution to NHS pensions 22,208 20,411
Pension cost - employer contributions paid by NHS England on the Trust's behalf 
(6.3%)

9,681 8,870

Apprenticeship levy 976 891
Pension cost – other 36 32
Temporary staff (including agency) 17,182 13,266

Total gross staff costs 271,477 249,396
Recoveries in respect of seconded staff (10,403) (8,655)

Total staff costs 261,074 240,741
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets 516 697

The Apprenticeship Levy was introduced by the UK Government on 6 April 2017, requiring all employers operating in the UK, 
with a pay bill over £3 million each year, to invest in apprenticeships. The amount of the levy is 0.5% of the applicable pay bill, 
less an allowance of £15,000.
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10. Better Payment Practice Code

Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance

2021/22 2020/21
Number £’000 Number £’000 

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 88,271 155,503 82,947 142,779
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 65,980 123,818 73,323 129,333
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 74.75% 79.62% 88.40% 90.58%

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 1,387 10,709 1,447 12,991
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 804 7,294 993 9,216
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 57.97% 68.11% 68.62% 70.93%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to 
pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30 days 
of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

12. Finance expense

2021/22 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Interest costs
Interest on obligations under finance leases 242 265

13. Other gains and losses

2021/22
£’000

2019/20 
£’000

Gain on disposal of investment 85 -
Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (2)

Total 85 (2)

11. Finance income

2021/22 
£’000

2020/21 
£’000

Interest revenue
Bank accounts 75 -
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2021/22
Land 

£’000 

Buildings  
excluding 
dwellings 

£’000 

Assets under 
construction and 

payments on 
account

 £’000
 Plant and machinery 

£’000

 Transport and 
equipment 

£’000 

Information 
technology 

£’000 

Furniture and  
fittings 

£’000
Total 

£’000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2021 27,100 143,275 16,140 49,168 135 16,187 5,508 257,513
Additions purchased - 2,165 19,236 2,703 - 2,348 139 26,591
Additions leased - - 740 - - - - 740
Additions donated - 17 - 204 11 - 81 313
Additions donated from DHSC for COVID response 
(non-cash)

- - - 234 - - - 234

Reclassifications - 18,556 (21,098) 960 - 1,492 50 (40)
Impairments charged to operating expenses - (2,207) - - - - - (2,207)
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve - (2,276) - - - - - (2,276)
Reversal of impairments credited to operating 
expenses

- 925 - - - - - 925

Reversal of impairments credited to revaluation 
reserve

- 3,515 - - - - - 3,515

Revaluations 1,470 (2,653) - - - - - (1,183)
Disposals/derecognition - - (483) - (152) - (635)

Total at 31 March 2022 28,570 161,317 15,018 52,786 146 19,875 5,778 283,490

Depreciation at 1 April 2021            -            - - 34,736 75 13,466 4,507 52,784
Charged during the year - 4,228 - 3,351 14 1,390 304 9,287
Revaluations - (4,228) - - - - - (4,228)
Disposals/derecognition - - - (483) - (152) - (635)

Depreciation at 31 March 2022 - - - 37,604 89 14,704 4,811 57,208

Net book value at 31 March 2022 28,570 161,317 15,018 15,182 57 5,171 967 226,282

Net book value 
Purchased 28,570 158,855 15,018 8,269 57 5,171 967 216,907
Finance leased - 1,565 - 4,760 - - - 6,325
Donated - 897 - 891 - - - 1,788
Donated from DHSC for COVID response - - - 1,262 - - - 1,262

Total at 31 March 2022 28,570 161,317 15,018 15,182 57 5,171 967 226,282

14. Property, plant and equipment
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2020/21
Land 

£’000 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

£’000 

Assets under 
construction and 

payments on 
account

 £’000
 Plant and machinery 

£’000

 Transport and 
equipment 

£’000 

Information 
technology 

£’000 

Furniture and 
fittings 

£’000
Total 

£’000
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2020 24,470 135,086 11,170 42,996 132 16,179 5,086 235,119
Additions purchased - 5,489 29,341 2,298 19 725 337 38,209
Additions leased - - - 959 - - - 959
Additions donated - - - 257 - 82 85 424
Additions donated from DHSC for COVID response 
(non-cash)

- - - 1,314 - - - 1,314

Reclassifications - 22,527 (24,371) 1,355 - 123 199 (167)
Impairments charged to operating expenses - (5,337) - - - - - (5,337)
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve - (10,337) - - - - - (10,337)
Reversal of impairments credited to revaluation 
reserve

2,620 - - - - - - 2,620

Revaluations 10 (4,153) - - - - - (4,143)
Disposals/derecognition - - - (11) (16) (922) (199) (1,148)

At 31 March 2021 27,100 143,275 16,140 49,168 135 16,187 5,508 257,513

Depreciation at 1 April 2020 - - - 31,781 71 13,306 4,490 49,648
Charged during the year - 4,153 - 2,966 11 1,082 216 8,428
Revaluations - (4,153) - - - - - (4,153)
Disposals/derecognition - - - (11) (7) (922) (199) (1,139)

Depreciation at 31 March 2021            -            - - 34,736 75 13,466 4,507 52,784

Net book value at 31 March 2021 27,100 143,275 16,140 14,432 60 2,721 1,001 204,729

Net book value
Purchased 27,100 140,571 16,140 7,172 60 2,643 897 194,583
Finance leased - 1,796 - 5,393 - - - 7,189

Donated - 908 - 638 - 78 104 1,728
Donated from DHSC for COVID response - - - 1,229 - - - 1,229

Total at 31 March 2021 27,100 143,275 16,140 14,432 60 2,721 1,001 204,729
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The Trust had a desktop valuation of its land and buildings carried out as at 31 March 2021 and an interim valuation as at 31 
March 2022 by Cushman and Wakefield. These resulted in impairments and revaluations for 2020/21 and 2021/22 as set out in 
the tables above. The effects on income and expenditure and revaluation reserve for those financial years are shown in note 16.

The economic lives of property, plant and equipment are:

Minimum life 
(years) 

Maximum life 
(years)

Buildings excluding dwellings 1 79
Plant and Machinery 4 15
Transport Equipment 5 10
Information Technology 3 10
Furniture and Fittings 5 10

15. Intangible fixed assets

2021/22 

Software 
Licences 

£’000
 Total 
£’000

Gross cost at 1 April 2021 13,490 13,490
Reclassifications 40 40
Additions purchased 430 430

Gross cost at 31 March 2022 13,960 13,960

Amortisation at 1 April 2021 8,330 8,330
Charged during the year 1,296 1,296

Amortisation at 31 March 2022 9,626 9,626

Net book value
 - Purchased 4,334 4,334
 - Donated - -

Total at 31 March 2022 4,334 4,334

2020/21 

Software 
Licences 

£’000 
Total 

£’000

Gross cost at 1 April 2020 12,569 12,569
Reclassifications 167 167
Additions purchased 754 754

Gross cost at 31 March 2021 13,490 13,490

Amortisation at 1 April 2020 7,107 7,107
Charged during the year 1,223 1,223

Amortisation at 31 March 2021 8,330 8,330

Net book value
 - Purchased 5,160 5,160
 - Donated - -

Total at 31 March 2021 5,160 5,160

The Revaluation Reserve balance for intangible assets is £nil (2020/21 - £nil). 
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Minimum life 
(years) 

Maximum life 
(years)

Software licences 3 10

The economic lives of intangible assets are:

16. Impairments

Impairments of property, plant and equipment during the year are summarised below:

2021/22 2020/21
Income and 
Expenditure

£’000 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

£’000

Income and 
Expenditure

£’000 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

£’000
Revaluation of Estate
 - Revaluation of land and buildings - 3,045 - 10
 - Impairment of land and buildings 2,207 (2,276) 5,337 (10,337)
 -  Reversal of prior year impairments  

of buildings
(925) 3,515 - 2,620

Total net 1,282 4,284 5,337 (7,707)

17. Capital commitments

Contracted capital commitments were as follows:

31/03/22 
£’000

31/03/21 
£’000

Property, plant and equipment 2,233 7,806
Intangibles - -

Total 2,233 7,806

As set out in Note 24, in 2013/14 the Trust entered into a Managed Equipment Service contract for Imaging equipment and 
£1,661,000 (2020/21 - £2,374,000) is included in the above total in respect of this contract.

18. Other investments

31/03/22 
£’000 

31/03/21
£’000

Carrying value at 1 April 60 60
Disposal (60) -

Carrying value at 31 March - 60

The Trust held 900 Class C shares in Beautiful Information Limited which were purchased for £120,000 in October 2016. 
Following a fair value review of this investment the carrying value was reduced by £60,000 in 2018/19. The shares were sold on 
27th January 2022.
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31/03/22 
£’000 

31/03/21
£’000

Drugs 1,438 1,039
Consumables 2,955 3,047
Energy 27 23

Total 4,420 4,109

20. Trade and other receivables

20.1 Trade and other receivables

Current Non-current
31/03/22 

£’000
31/03/21

£’000
31/03/22 

£’000
31/03/21 

£’000
Contract receivables 14,119 8,774 724 640
Capital receivables 282 7,222 - -
Allowance for impaired contract  
receivables/assets

(1,200) (1,125) - -

Prepayments 2,658 2,321 - -
VAT 1,917 1,022 - -
PDC dividend receivable - 412 - -
Interest receivable 39 - - -
Other receivables 719 453 - -
Clinician pension tax provision reimbursement 
funding from NHS England

8 - 401 296

 

Total 18,542 19,079 1,125 936

Capital receivables include £nil (2020/21: £7,217,000) due from Cala Homes following the sale of the West Site,  
St Peter’s Hospital in 2018/19. 

In response to the COVID pandemic, the Department of Health and Social Care centrally procured personal protective 
equipment and passed these to NHS providers free of charge. During 2021/22 the Trust received £1,180k (2020/21 £6,430K) of 
items purchased by DHSC.  These inventories were recognised as additions to inventory at deemed cost with the corresponding 
benefit recognised in income. The utilisation of these items is included in operating expenses.

19. Inventories 20.2 Allowances for credit losses

21. Cash and cash equivalents

31/03/22
 £’000

31/03/21 
£’000

Cash with Government Banking Service 84,092 76,562
Commercial banks and cash in hand 5 18

Balance at 31 March 84,097 76,580

31/03/2031/03/21   

Contract 
receivables and 
contract assets 

£’000

All other 
receivables 

£’000

Contract 
receivables 

and contract 
assets 
£’000

All other 
receivables 

£’000
Allowances at 1 April - brought forward 1,125 - 759 -
New allowances arising 421 - 477 -
Changes in existing allowances 21 - 106 -
Reversals of allowances (269) - (190) -
Utilisation of allowances (write offs) (98) - (27) -

Allowances at 31 March 1,200 - 1,125 -

31/03/2131/03/22
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22. Trade and other payables

  Current   Non-current

31/03/22 
£’000

31/03/21 
£’000

31/03/22
£’000

31/03/21 
£’000

Trade payables 9,341 8,245 - -

Capital payables 12,349 13,921 - -
Accruals 22,579 18,398 - -
Other payables 9,737 9,180 - -

Trade and other payables 54,006 49,744 - -

Deferred income: contract liabilities 1,068 1,457 - -

Other liabilities 1,068 1,457 - -

23. Borrowings

24. Finance lease obligations

Amounts payable under finance leases: Minimum lease payments
31/03/22 

£’000
31/03/21

£’000
Within one year 2,262 2,179
Between one and five years 2,579 3,452
Later than five years 437 654
Less future finance charges (459) (606)

Net lease liabilities 4,819 5,679

In 2013/14 the Trust entered into a ten year Managed 
Equipment Scheme for imaging equipment and also entered 
into a ten year agreement for a Cardiac Catheterisation 
service. The property, plant and equipment under both 
of these schemes have been treated as finance lease 
arrangements.   

In 2018/19 the Trust entered into a ten year agreement for 
the provision of an MRI service. The property, plant and 
equipment under this agreement has been treated as a 
finance lease arrangement.

25. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Pensions 
– early 

departure 
costs
£’000

Pensions - 
injury 

benefits 
£’000

Legal 
claims 
£’000

Clinician  
pension tax 

reinbursement 
£’000

Other 
£’000

Total 
£’000

At 1 April 2021 409 230 24 296 2,002 2,961
Arising during the year - - 65 113 2,330 2,508
Used during the year (41) (28) (21) - (555) (645)
Reversed unused - - - - (323) (323)

At 31 March 2022 368 202 68 409 3,454 4,501

Expected timing of cashflows:

Not later than one year 41 23 68 8 3,454 3,594
Later than one year and not 
later than five years

165 92 - 14 - 271

Later than five years 162 87 - 387 - 636

As at 31 March 2022
Current 41 23 68 8 3,454 3,594
Non-Current 327 179 - 401 - 907

As at 31 March 2021
Current 41 23 24 - 2,002 2,090
Non-Current 368 207 - 296 - 871

Clinical negligence provisions

Included in the provisions of NHS Resolution at 31 March 
2022 is £320,624,000 (2020/21 - £178,125,000) in respect of 
clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust.

Legal claim provisions

The majority of these provisions relate to claims under the 
Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme and Property Expenses 
Scheme, and are calculated based on information provided by 
NHS Resolution. The amounts involved and the timing of the 
payments represents their best estimate of the outcome of 
each claim against the Trust.

In addition to these provisions, contingent liabilities in respect 
of the claims are given in note 26.

Clinician pension tax reimbursement

Clinicians who are members of the NHS Pension Scheme 
and who, as a result of work undertaken in the 2019/20 tax 
year, faced a tax charge in respect of the growth of their 
NHS pension benefits above their pension savings annual 
allowance threshold, were able to have this charge paid by the 
NHS Pension Scheme (by completing and returning a ‘Scheme 
Pays’ form before 31 July 2021).

The Trust will make a contractually binding commitment to 
pay them a corresponding amount on retirement, ensuring 
that they are fully compensated in retirement for the effect 
of the 2019/20 Scheme Pays deduction on their income from 
the NHS Pension Scheme in retirement.

        
31/03/22

£’000 
31/03/21 

£’000 
31/03/22 

£’000
 31/03/21 

£’000
Finance lease liabilities 2,027 1,921 2,792 3,758

Non-currentCurrent
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In 2019/20 the Trust created a provision 
broadly equal to the tax charge owed by 
clinicians who wanted to take advantage of the 
2019/20 Commitment. This will be offset by 
the commitment from NHS England and the 
Government to fund the payments to clinicians as 
and when they arise. The provision and offsetting 
asset will initially increase year on year in line with 
the pension scheme growth, and be released as 
commitments are met, i.e. as eligible members 
retire under the rules of the NHS Pension Scheme. 

In 2020/21 the movement in provision reflects 
a change in the average discounted value per 
nomination and updated information on the 
number of claimants. 

26. Contingent assets/(liabilities)

Other

Other Contingent Liabilities for non-clinical negligence 
incidents total £26,000 (2020/21 - £8,000).

 
27. Financial instruments

27.1  Carrying value of financial assets

27.2  Carrying value of financial liabilities

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020:

31/03/22 31/03/21
Held at 

amortised 
cost 

£’000

Held 
at fair value 
through I&E 

£’000

Total book 
value 
£’000

Held at 
amortised 

cost 
£’000

Held at 
fair value 

through I&E 
£’000

Total book 
value 
£’000

Trade and other receivables
excluding non financial 
assets

15,092 - 15,092 16,259 - 16,259

Other investments - - - - 60 60

Cash and cash equivalents  
at bank and in hand

84,097 - 84,097 76,580 - 76,580

Total at 31 March 99,189 - 99,189 92,839 60 92,899

31/03/22 31/03/21
Held at  

amortised cost 
£’000

Total book value 
£’000

Held at  
amortised cost 

£’000
Total book value 

£’000
Trade and other payables 
excluding non-financial liabilities

47,952 47,952 44,244 44,244

Obligations under finance leases 4,819 4,819 5,679 5,679

Total at 31 March 52,771 52,771 49,923 49,923

27.3  Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying value of financial assets and liabilities is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

27.4  Maturity of financial liabilities

31/03/22
£’000

31/03/21 
£’000

In one year or less 50,217 46,423
In more than one year but not more than five years 2,579 3,452
In more than five years 437 654

Total at 31 March 53,233 50,529

This disclosure has previously been prepared using discounted cash flows. The comparatives have therefore been restated on an 
undiscounted basis.

Other provisions

 Other provisions at 31 March 2022 include: -

•  £1,311,000 (2020/21: £20,000) in respect of clinical excellence awards;

•  £201,000 (2020/21: £157,000) in respect of employment tribunal 
claims;

• £311,000 (2020/21: £85,000) in respect of consultants pay appeals;

•  £586,000 (2020/21: £1,051,000) in respect of cost provisions 
associated with land sales completed in March 2019 – predominantly 
S106 requirements from the local council; and

•  £1,045,000 (2020/21: £689,000 ) in respect of VAT provisions relating 
to service contracts.
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27.5 Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the 
role that financial instruments have had during the period 
in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking 
its activities. Because of the continuing service provider 
relationship that the Trust has with the Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and the way those Clinical Commissioning Groups are 
financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial 
risk faced by business entities to which the financial reporting 
standards mainly apply. The Trust has limited powers to 
borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities 
rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in 
undertaking its activities.

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried 
out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within the Trust’s Standing Financial Instructions 
and policies agreed by the Board of Directors. Trust treasury 
activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors. 

Currency Risk

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great 
majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK 
and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The 
Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Interest Rate Risk

The Trust can borrow from Government for capital 
expenditure, subject to affordability. The borrowings are for 
1-25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and 
interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for 
the life of the loan. Interest charged on finance leased assets 
are at fixed rates of interest. The Trust therefore has low 
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Credit Risk

Because of the majority of the Trust’s income comes from 
contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has 
low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as 
at 31 March 2022 are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the Trade and other receivables note.  The Trust 
recognises that the public sector funding environment, with 
the continued pressure of demand and its consequences for 
allocations for Clinical Commissioning Groups, leads to an 
increase in credit risk for the Trust.

Liquidity risk

The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contract with 
Clinical Commissioning Groups which are financed from 
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds 
its capital expenditure from internally generated funds 
and finance leases/borrowings. The Trust is not, therefore, 
exposed to significant liquidity risks.

28. Events after the reporting period

There were no events after the reporting period requiring 
disclosure.

29. Related party transactions

During the year none of the Department of Health and Social 
Care Ministers, Trust Board members or members of the 
key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has 
undertaken any material transactions with Ashford and St 
Peter’s Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

The Chairman of the Trust, Andy Field, is also Chairman of 
Central Surrey Health Limited. In addition, Fran Davies, a 
Non-Executive Director at Central Surrey Health Limited, was 
seconded as a Non-Executive Director to the Trust between 
October 2021 and March 2022 as maternity leave cover, 
and John Machin, another Non-Executive Director at Central 
Surrey Health Limited, joined the Trust as Non-Executive 
Director Designate in March 2022. Central Surrey Health 
Limited is a not-for-profit community services provider helping 
people live the healthiest lives they can in their communities. 
Central Surrey Health is one of the 11 health and social care 
providers who are known as the Surrey Heartlands Health and 
Care Partnership. The Trust’s accounts include the following 
transactions with Central Surrey Health Limited.

As set out in note 18 the Trust purchased shares in Beautiful 
Information Limited in October 2016. As a result of that 
investment the Trust was able to appoint one Director to 
the Board of Beautiful Information Limited which was the 
Trust’s Director of Finance and Information. There was no 
remuneration or other form of personal benefit for this role. 
During 2021/22 the Trust procured £147,000 of services  
from Beautiful Information Limited (2020/21: £167,000).  
This investment was disposed of on 27th January 2022.

The Department of Health and Social Care is the Trust’s 
parent department and is therefore regarded as a related 
party.  During the period Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material 
transactions with the Department, and with other entities for 
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department 
the main ones being: 

• NHS England

• Health Education England

• NHS Surrey Heartlands CCG

• NHS Frimley CCG

• NHS South West London CCG

• NHS North West London CCG

• NHS Kent and Medway CCG

• Frimley Health NHS Foundation Trust

• St George’s University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

• Royal Surrey NHS Foundation Trust

• Surrey and Borders Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

• NHS Blood and Transplant

• NHS Resolution

• NHS Pensions Scheme

• NHS Property Services

• NHS Business Services Authority

• NHS Supply Chain

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material 
transactions with other Government Departments and 
other central and local Government bodies. Most of these 
transactions have been with HM Revenue and Customs, 
Surrey County Council, Runnymede Borough Council and 
Spelthorne Borough Council. 

4. ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments 
from the Ashford and St Peter’s Hospitals Charitable Fund.  
The Board members of the Trust are also Trustees of this 
charity. The audited annual report and accounts of the Charity 
are available to the public on request.

30. Third party assets

The Trust held £9,000 cash at bank and in hand at 31 March 
2022 (2020/21 - £9,000) which relates to monies held by the 
Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the 
cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.

31. Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are transactions that Parliament 
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the 
health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they 
are items that ideally should not arise.  Payments are made 
in accordance with the HM Treasury publication “Managing 
Public Money”.

There were 119 cases (2020/21 – 269) of losses and special 
payments totalling £106,000 paid in 2021/22 (2020/21 
- £269,000). There were no cases where the net payment 
exceeded £100,000. Total costs included in this note are on an 
accruals basis excluding provisions for future losses.

Income Expenditure Receivables Payables

£’000 £’000 £’000  £’000

Central Surrey  
Health Limited

1,212 487 166 14
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31/03/22 31/03/21
No. of Cases 

£’000 
Total 

£’000
No. of Cases 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Losses of cash 2 - 31 23
Bad debts and claims abandoned 77 45 26 128
Ex gratia payments 40 61 32 31

Total at 31 March 119 106 89 182

32. Event after the reporting date

The UK Government has issued a mandate to NHS England and NHS Improvement for the continued provision of 
services in England in 2022/23, and CCG allocations have been set for the remainder of 2022/23. While these allocations 
may be subject to minor revision as a result of the financial framework in the second half of the 2021/22 financial year, 
the guidance has been clarified to inform CCGs that they will be provided with sufficient funding for the year.

Providers can therefore expect NHS funding to flow at similar levels to that previously provided, where services are 
reasonably still expected to be commissioned. Whilst mechanisms for contracting and payment are not definitively  
in place for the second half of the year, it is clear that government financial support is available. For the  
period April 2022 to September 2022, the Trust is receiving income via an interim, nationally set, block contract and  
top-up arrangement.




